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PART I
As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless the context suggests otherwise, the terms “Golden,” “we,” “our” and “us” refer to Golden Entertainment,
Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, contains forwardlooking statements regarding future events and our future results that are subject to the safe harbors created under the Securities Act of 1933 and the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act. Forward-looking statements can generally be identified by the use of words such as “anticipate,”
“believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “forecast,” “intend,” “plan,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “think,” “will,” “would” and similar
expressions. In addition, forward-looking statements include statements regarding our strategies, objectives, business opportunities and plans for future
expansion, developments or acquisitions, anticipated future growth and trends in our business or key markets, projections of future financial condition,
operating results, income, capital expenditures, costs or other financial items, anticipated regulatory and legislative changes, our ability to utilize our net
operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) to offset future taxable income, as well as other statements that are not statements of historical fact. Forward-looking
statements are based on our current expectations and assumptions regarding our business, the economy and other future conditions. These forward-looking
statements are subject to assumptions, risks and uncertainties that may change at any time, and readers are therefore cautioned that actual results could differ
materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ include: our ability to realize the
anticipated cost savings, synergies and other benefits of the Merger (as defined below) with Sartini Gaming Inc. (“Sartini Gaming”) and the acquisitions of
distributed gaming assets in Montana, and integration risks relating to such transactions, changes in national, regional and local economic and market
conditions, legislative and regulatory matters (including the cost of compliance or failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations), increases in
gaming taxes and fees in the jurisdictions in which we operate, litigation, increased competition, our ability to renew our distributed gaming contracts,
reliance on key personnel (including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Strategy and Financial Officer), the level of our
indebtedness and our ability to comply with covenants in our debt instruments, terrorist incidents, natural disasters, severe weather conditions (including
weather or road conditions that limit access to our properties), the effects of environmental and structural building conditions, the effects of disruptions to our
information technology and other systems and infrastructure, the occurrence of an “ownership change” as defined in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code (the “Code”), factors affecting the gaming, entertainment and hospitality industries generally, and other factors identified under the heading “Risk
Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this report, elsewhere in this report and in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Readers are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the filing date of this report. We undertake no obligation to
revise or update any forward-looking statements for any reason.
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ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

Corporate Information
We were incorporated in Minnesota in 1998 under the name of GCI Lakes, Inc., which name was subsequently changed to Lakes Gaming, Inc. in August
1998, to Lakes Entertainment, Inc. in June 2002 and to Golden Entertainment, Inc. in July 2015. Our shares began trading publicly in January 1999. The
mailing address of our headquarters is 6595 S Jones Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada 89118, and our telephone number at that location is (702) 893-7777.
Business Overview
We are a diversified group of gaming companies that focus on distributed gaming (including tavern gaming) and casino and resort operations.
On July 31, 2015, we acquired Sartini Gaming through the merger of a wholly owned subsidiary of Golden with and into Sartini Gaming, with Sartini Gaming
surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of Golden (the “Merger”). The results of operations of Sartini Gaming and its subsidiaries have been included in our
results subsequent to that date. Our common stock continues to be traded on the NASDAQ Global Market, and our ticker symbol was changed from “LACO”
to “GDEN” effective August 4, 2015.
During the third quarter of 2015, we redefined our reportable segments to reflect the change in our business following the Merger. As a result of the Merger,
we now conduct our business through two reportable operating segments: Distributed Gaming and Casinos. Prior to the Merger, we conducted our business
through the following two segments: Rocky Gap and Other. Prior period information has been recast to reflect the new segment structure and present
comparative year-over-year results. See Note 17, Segment Information, in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for financial information
regarding our segments.
Distributed Gaming
Our Distributed Gaming segment involves the installation, maintenance and operation of gaming and amusement devices in certain strategic, high-traffic,
non-casino locations (such as grocery stores, convenience stores, restaurants, bars, taverns, saloons and liquor stores) in Nevada and Montana, and the
operation of traditional, branded taverns targeting local patrons, primarily in the greater Las Vegas, Nevada metropolitan area. As of December 31, 2016, our
distributed gaming operations comprised approximately 10,400 gaming devices in approximately 960 locations. In January 2016, we completed the
acquisition of approximately 1,100 gaming devices from a distributed gaming operator in Montana, as well as certain other non-gaming assets and the right
to operate within certain locations (the “Initial Montana Acquisition”). Additionally, in April 2016, we completed the acquisition of approximately 1,800
gaming devices from a second distributed gaming operator in Montana, as well as amusement devices and other non-gaming assets and the right to operate
within certain locations (the “Second Montana Acquisition” and, together with the Initial Montana Acquisition, the “Montana Acquisitions”); see Note 3,
Merger and Acquisitions, in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information regarding the Montana Acquisitions.
Nevada law limits distributed gaming operations (more commonly known as “restricted gaming” operations) to certain types of non-casino locations,
including grocery stores, drug stores, convenience stores, restaurants, bars, taverns, saloons and liquor stores, where gaming is incidental to the primary
business being conducted at the location and games are limited to 15 or fewer gaming devices and no other forms of gaming activity. The gaming area in
these business locations is typically small, and in many instances, segregated from the primary business area, including the use of alcoves in grocery stores
and drug stores and installation of gaming devices into the physical bar (more commonly known as “bar top” gaming devices) in bars, taverns and saloons.
Such segregation provides greater oversight and supervision of the gaming devices. Under Montana law, distributed gaming operations are limited to
business locations licensed to sell alcoholic beverages for on-premises consumption only, with such locations restricted to offering a maximum of 20 gaming
devices.
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Gaming and amusement devices are placed in locations where we believe they will receive maximum customer traffic, generally near a store’s entrance. In
Nevada, we generally enter into three types of gaming device placement contracts as part of our distributed gaming business: space lease, revenue share and
participation agreements. Under space lease agreements, we pay a fixed monthly rental fee for the right to install, maintain and operate our gaming devices at
a business location. Under revenue share agreements, we pay the business location a percentage of the gaming revenue generated from our gaming devices
placed at the location, rather than a fixed monthly rental fee. With regard to both space lease and revenue share agreements, we hold the applicable gaming
license to conduct gaming at the location (although revenue share locations are required to obtain separate regulatory approval to receive a percentage of the
gaming revenue). Under participation agreements, the business location holds the applicable gaming license and retains a percentage of the gaming revenue
that it generates from our gaming devices. In Montana, our gaming and amusement device placement contracts are all revenue share agreements. We also
opened our first brewery in Las Vegas, PT’s Brewing Company, du ring the first quarter of 2016 to produce craft beer for our taverns, as well as other
establishments licensed to sell liquor for on-premises consumption.
Our branded taverns offer a casually upscale environment catering to local patrons offering superior food, beer and other alcoholic beverages and typically
include 15 onsite gaming devices. As of December 31, 2016, we operated 53 taverns, which offered approximately 850 onsite gaming devices. Most of our
taverns are located in the greater Las Vegas, Nevada, metropolitan area and cater to locals seeking to avoid the congestion of the Las Vegas Strip. Our tavern
brands include PT’s Pub, PT’s Gold, PT’s Place, PT’s Brewing Company, Sierra Gold, SG Bar and Sean Patrick’s. Our taverns also serve as an incubator for
new games and technology that can then be rolled out to our third party distributed gaming customers within the segment and to our Casinos segment.
Casinos
We own and operate the Rocky Gap Casino Resort in Flintstone, Maryland (“Rocky Gap”) and three casinos in Pahrump, Nevada: Pahrump Nugget Hotel
Casino (“Pahrump Nugget”), Gold Town Casino and Lakeside Casino & RV Park. Pahrump is located approximately 60 miles from Las Vegas and is a
gateway to Death Valley National Park. All of our casinos emphasize gaming device play.
Rocky Gap is situated on approximately 270 acres in the Rocky Gap State Park, which are leased from the Maryland Department of Natural Resources (the
“Maryland DNR”) under a 40-year operating ground lease expiring in 2052 (plus a 20-year option renewal). As of December 31, 2016, Rocky Gap offered
662 gaming devices, 17 table games, two casino bars, three restaurants, a spa and the only Jack Nicklaus signature golf course in Maryland. Rocky Gap is a
AAA Four Diamond Award® winning resort with approximately 200 hotel rooms, as well as an event and conference center.
Our Pahrump Nugget casino is located on approximately 40 acres and, as of December 31, 2016, offered 453 gaming devices, as well as 11 table games
(which include three live poker tables), a race and sports book, a 208-seat bingo facility and a bowling center. Pahrump Nugget is our largest property in the
Nevada market with approximately 70 hotel rooms.
Our Gold Town Casino is located on four leased parcels of land, comprising approximately nine acres in the aggregate also in Pahrump, Nevada, and, as of
December 31, 2016, offered 238 gaming devices and a 125-seat bingo facility. The leases for the parcels of land have various expiration dates beginning in
2026 (for the parcel on which our main casino building is located, which we lease from a competitor).
Our Lakeside Casino & RV Park is located on approximately 35 acres also in Pahrump, Nevada, and, as of December 31, 2016, offered 190 gaming devices
and a recreational vehicle park surrounding a lake with approximately 160 RV hook-up sites.
Sales and Marketing
Distributed Gaming
We conduct our operations in our Distributed Gaming segment in Nevada and Montana. Our Distributed Gaming customer base is comprised of the third
party distributed gaming customers with whom we enter into gaming and
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amusement device placement contracts for the installation, maintenance and operation of gaming and amusement devices at non-casino locations, the
primarily local patrons that use our gaming and amusement devices in such locations and the primarily local patrons of our traditional, branded taverns. We
seek to place our gaming and amusement devices in strategic, high-traffic areas, including in our branded taverns, and the majority of our marketing efforts
are focused on maximizing profitability from a high-frequency, convenience-driven customer base in the counties in which we operate.
Our marketing efforts also seek to capitalize on repeat visitation through the use of loyalty programs, such as our Golden Rewards promotional program for
our taverns. Members of our Golden Rewards programs earn points based on play, which points are redeemable for complimentary slot play, food and
beverages and other items. Our rewards technology is designed to track customer behavior indicators such as visitation, customer spend and customer
engagement. Brand equity is also leveraged in our taverns through the number of our branded tavern locations located throughout the greater Las Vegas,
Nevada metropolitan area. Our advertising initiatives include both traditional and non-traditional channels such as direct mail, email, radio, print, television,
social media, search engine optimization and static/dynamic billboards.
Casinos
Rocky Gap is located in western Maryland in close proximity to the affluent and heavily populated metropolitan areas of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania,
Baltimore, Maryland and Washington, D.C., as well as two major interstate freeways. Rocky Gap serves as a premier destination for both local and out-ofmarket patrons. Our marketing efforts for Rocky Gap are primarily focused on attracting patrons through local and regional campaigns promoting both the
amenities of Rocky Gap and the vast array of outdoor activities available in the Rocky Gap State Park. A portion of Rocky Gap business is also arranged
through group sales and bus coach wholesalers.
Our Nevada casinos are located in Pahrump, Nevada, which serves as a gateway to Death Valley National Park. Accordingly, we market our Nevada casino
properties to both the locals market and tourist traffic, targeting the value-driven customer. We seek to attract local residents to our Nevada casinos through
promotions geared towards enhancing local play, including dining offerings at our casino restaurants and promotions of our bowling and bingo amenities.
Promotional programs for out-of-market patrons focus primarily on our newly remodeled hotel rooms at Pahrump Nugget and our award-winning recreational
vehicle park surrounding a lake at the Lakeside Casino & RV Park.
Our casino sales and marketing efforts also include rewards programs designed to encourage repeat business. We offer our Rewards Club promotional
program at Rocky Gap and our Gold Mine Rewards promotional program at our Nevada casinos. The close proximity of our three Nevada casino properties
allows us to leverage the convenience of a one-card player rewards system, where reward points and other benefits can be earned and redeemed across all
three of our Nevada casinos via a single card. Members of our rewards programs earn points based on gaming activity and amounts spent on rooms, food,
beverage and resort activities, which points may be redeemable (depending on the program) for complimentary slot play, food, beverages and hotel rooms,
among other items.
Intellectual Property
Our policy is to pursue registration of our important trademarks and service marks in the states where we do business and with the United States Patent and
Trademark Office. We have registered and/or have pending, among other trademarks and service marks, “Golden Entertainment,” “Golden Gaming,” “Golden
Rewards,” “P.T.’s,” “Sierra Gold,” “PT’s Brewing Company” and “Pahrump Nugget Hotel Casino,” as trademarks with the United States Patent and
Trademark Office. In addition, we have also registered or applied to register numerous other trademarks in various jurisdictions in the United States in
connection with our properties, facilities and development projects. We also hold a patent in the United States related to player tracking systems.
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Sale of Jamul Tribe Promissory Note
On December 9, 2015, we sold our $60.0 million subordinated promissory note (the “Jamul Note”) from the Jamul Indian Village (the “Jamul Tribe”) to a
subsidiary of Penn National Gaming, Inc. (“Penn National”) for $24.0 million in cash. We determined the fair value of the Jamul Note to be zero as of
December 28, 2014. Under the terms of the January 2015 merger agreement with Sartini Gaming (the “Merger Agreement”) and subject to applicable law, we
agreed that the proceeds received from the sale of the Jamul Note, net of related costs, would be distributed in a special cash dividend to our shareholders
holding shares as of the record date for such dividend (other than shareholders that had waived their right to receive such dividend). On June 17, 2016, our
Board of Directors approved and declared the special dividend to the eligible shareholders of record on the close of business on June 30, 2016 (the “Record
Date”) of cash in the aggregate amount of approximately $23.5 million (the “Special Dividend”), which was paid on July 14, 2016. The $1.71 per share
amount of the Special Dividend was calculated by dividing the aggregate amount of the Special Dividend by 13,759,374 outstanding shares of common
stock held by eligible shareholders on the Record Date (rounded down to the nearest whole cent per share).
In connection with the special dividend and in accordance with our equity incentive plans approved by our shareholders, equitable anti-dilutive adjustments
were made to the exercise prices of outstanding stock options to purchase shares of our common stock in order to preserve the value of such stock options
following the special dividend. Accordingly, effective as of the close of business on the dividend payment date of July 14, 2016, the exercise price of each
stock option under our equity incentive plans outstanding on the Record Date was reduced by $1.71 per share. See Note 10, Share-Based Compensation, in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information on our anti-dilutive adjustments to the outstanding stock options.
Competition
The distributed gaming and casino resort industries are highly competitive. We face direct competition for our space lease, revenue share and participation
locations from others involved in the distributed gaming business, as well as substantial competition for customers from other operators of casinos, hotels,
taverns and other entertainment venues. With respect to our casinos, we compete for local gaming customers with other locals-oriented casino-hotels, as well
as with other casinos and restricted gaming locations in the vicinity of our properties. We compete for customers primarily on the basis of location, customer
service, range and pricing of amenities (including food and entertainment), gaming device payout rates, convenience and overall atmosphere. Many of our
regional and national competitors have greater brand recognition and significantly greater resources than we have. Their greater resources may also provide
them with the ability to expand operations in the future.
In addition, we also face ever-increasing competition from online gaming, including mobile gaming applications for smart phones and tablet computers,
state-sponsored lotteries, card clubs, and other forms of legalized gaming. In addition, various forms of internet gaming have been approved in Nevada, and
legislation permitting internet gaming has been proposed by the federal government and other states. The expansion of internet gaming in Nevada and other
jurisdictions could result in significant additional competition. Furthermore, several states are currently considering legalizing casino gaming in designated
areas, and Native American tribes may develop or expand gaming properties in markets located more closely to our customer base. Legalized casino gaming
in neighboring states and on Native American land could result in strong competition that could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects, particularly to the extent that such gaming is conducted in areas close to our gaming operations.
Regulation
Gaming Regulation
As the owner and operator of gaming facilities, we are subject to extensive federal, state, and local regulation. State and local government authorities in the
jurisdictions in which we operate require us to obtain gaming licenses and require our officers, key employees and business entity affiliates to demonstrate
suitability to be involved in gaming operations. These are privileged licenses or approvals which are not guaranteed by statute or regulation. State and local
government authorities may limit, condition, suspend or revoke a license, impose substantial fines, and take other actions, any of which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain and maintain the
gaming licenses and
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related approvals necessary to conduct our gaming operations. Any failure to maintain or renew our existing licenses, registrations, permits or approvals
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Furthermore, if additional gaming laws or
regulations are adopted, these regulations could impose additional restrictions or costs that could have a significant adverse effect on us and our business.
Gaming authorities may, in their sole and absolute discretion, require the holder of any securities issued by us to file applications, be investigated, and be
found suitable to own our securities if they have reason to believe that the security ownership would be inconsistent with the declared policies of their
respective states. Further, the costs of any investigation conducted by any gaming authority under these circumstances is typically required to be paid by the
applicant, and refusal or failure to pay these charges may constitute grounds for a finding that the applicant is unsuitable to own the securities. If any gaming
authority determines that a person is unsuitable to own our securities, then, under the applicable gaming laws and regulations, we can be sanctioned,
including the loss of our privileged licenses or approvals, if, without the prior approval of the applicable gaming authority, we conduct certain business with
the unsuitable person.
Our officers, directors, and key employees are also subject to a variety of regulatory requirements and various privileged licensing and related approval
procedures in the various jurisdictions in which we operate gaming facilities. If any gaming authority with jurisdiction over our business were to find an
officer, director or key employee of ours unsuitable for licensing or unsuitable to continue having a relationship with us, we would have to sever all
relationships with that person. Furthermore, such gaming authorities may require us to terminate the employment of any person who refuses to file
appropriate applications. Either result could have a material adverse effect on our business, operations and prospects.
Applicable gaming laws and regulations also restrict our ability to issue securities, incur debt, and undertake other financing activities. Such transactions
would generally require approval of gaming authorities, and our financing counterparties, including lenders, might be subject to various licensing and
related approval procedures in the various jurisdictions in which we operate gaming facilities. If state regulatory authorities were to find any person
unsuitable with regard to his, her or its relationship to us or any of our subsidiaries, we would be required to sever our relationship with that person, which
could materially adversely affect our business.
The gaming industry also represents a significant source of tax revenues to regulators. From time to time, various federal and state legislators and officials
have proposed changes in tax laws, or in the administration of such laws, affecting the gaming industry. It is not possible to determine the likelihood of
possible changes in tax laws or in the administration or interpretation of such laws. Such changes, if adopted, could have a material adverse effect on our
future financial position, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.
From time to time, local and state lawmakers, as well as special interest groups, have proposed legislation that would expand, restrict or prevent gaming
operations in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Any such change to the regulatory environment or the adoption of new federal, state or local government
legislation could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Alcoholic Beverage and Food Service Regulation
Our brewery operations at PT’s Brewing Company in Las Vegas, Nevada require federal, state, and local licenses, permits and approvals. Our restaurant and
on-site brewery at PT’s Brewing Company operate pursuant to exceptions to the “tied house” laws, which in Nevada generally prohibit a manufacturer or
supplier of brewery products from engaging in the business of wholesaling and prevent a wholesaler from engaging, directly or indirectly, in retail sales.
The manufacture and sale of alcoholic beverages is a highly regulated and taxed business. Our brewery operations are subject to more restrictive regulations
and increased taxation by federal, state and local governmental entities than are those of non-alcohol related beverage businesses. Federal, state and local
laws and regulations govern the production and distribution of beer, including permitting, licensing, trade practices, labeling, advertising, marketing,
distributor relationships and related matters. Federal, state and local governmental entities also levy various taxes, license fees, and other similar charges and
may require bonds to ensure compliance with applicable laws and
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regulations. Failure to comply with applicable federal, state or local laws and regulations could result in higher taxes, penalties, fees, and suspension or
revocation of permits, licenses or approvals and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
From time to time, local and state lawmakers, as well as special interest groups, have proposed legislation that would increase the federal and/or state excise
tax on alcoholic beverages or certain types of alcoholic beverages. If adopted, such measures could affect some or all of our proprietary craft beer production.
If federal or state excise taxes are increased, we may have to raise prices to maintain our current profit margins. Higher taxes may reduce overall demand for
beer, thus negatively impacting sales of our beer. Further federal or state regulation may be forthcoming that could further restrict the distribution and sale of
alcohol products. Any material increase in taxes or fees, or the adoption of additional taxes or fees or regulations, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
In addition, each restaurant we operate must obtain a food service license from local authorities. Failure to comply with such regulations could cause our
licenses to be revoked or our related restaurant business or businesses to be forced to cease operations. Moreover, state liquor laws may prevent the expansion
of restaurant operations into certain markets.
Other Regulation
We are also subject to extensive federal, state and local safety and health laws, regulations and ordinances that apply to non-gaming businesses generally,
such as the Clean Air Act, Clean Water Act, Occupational Safety and Health Act, Resource Conservation Recovery Act and the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act. We believe that we are currently in material compliance with such regulations. The coverage and
attendant compliance costs associated with such laws, regulations and ordinances may result in future additional cost to our operations.
We are also subject to a variety of other rules and regulations, including minimum wage, zoning, environmental, construction and land-use laws, regulations
and permits. Any changes to these laws could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Seasonality
We believe that our Distributed Gaming and Casinos segments are affected by seasonal factors, including holidays, weather and travel conditions. Rocky Gap
typically experiences higher revenues during summer months and may be significantly adversely impacted by inclement weather during winter months. Our
casinos and distributed gaming business in Nevada have historically experienced lower revenues during the summer as a result of fewer tourists due to higher
temperatures, as well as increased vacation activity by local residents. Our Nevada distributed gaming operations typically experience higher revenues
during the fall which corresponds with several professional sports seasons. Our Montana distributed gaming operations typically experience higher revenues
during the fall due to the inclement weather in the state and less opportunity for outdoor activities, in addition to the impact from professional sports seasons.
While other factors like unemployment levels, market competition and the diversification of our business may either offset or magnify seasonal effects, some
seasonality is likely to continue, which could result in significant fluctuation in our quarterly operating results.
Employees
As of December 31, 2016, we had 2,802 total employees, of which approximately 10.3% were covered by a collective bargaining agreement. The collective
bargaining agreement, which relates to employees at Rocky Gap, became effective on November 1, 2013 and expires on November 1, 2019. We consider our
employee relations to be good.
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Executive Officers
Set forth below is information concerning our executive officers, and their ages as of December 31, 2016.
Name
Blake L. Sartini
Stephen A. Arcana
Charles H. Protell
Sean T. Higgins
Blake L. Sartini II
Gary A. Vecchiarelli

Age
57
52
42
52
31
39

Position
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
Executive Vice President, Chief Strategy and Financial Officer
Executive Vice President of Governmental Affairs and Business Development and Chief Legal Officer
Senior Vice President of Distributed Gaming
Senior Vice President of Finance and Accounting

Blake L. Sartini joined Golden as Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer in July 2015 in connection with the Merger. Prior to the
Merger, Mr. Sartini served as the president and chief executive officer of Sartini Gaming from its formation in January 2012, and as the founder and chief
executive officer of Golden Gaming, LLC (“Golden Gaming”), which he founded in 2001. Prior to establishing Golden Gaming, Mr. Sartini served in various
management and executive positions with Station Casinos, LLC, including executive vice president and chief operating officer. Mr. Sartini also served as a
director of Station Casinos, LLC from 1993 until 2001. Mr. Sartini is a member of the University of Nevada, Las Vegas Foundation’s Board of Trustees and
was appointed to the Nevada Gaming Policy Committee in March 2014 by the Governor of Nevada. Mr. Sartini received a bachelor of science degree in
business administration from the University of Nevada, Las Vegas.
Stephen A. Arcana joined Golden as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer in July 2015 in connection with the Merger. Prior to the Merger,
Mr. Arcana served as the chief operating officer for Golden Gaming from August 2003 until the closing of the Merger. From November 1995 to March 2003,
Mr. Arcana held several executive positions with Station Casinos, LLC. Prior to joining Station Casinos, LLC, Mr. Arcana held a variety of hotel operations
and food and beverage positions over a ten-year period with the Sands Hotel in Atlantic City, New Jersey. Mr. Arcana received a bachelor of science degree in
hotel and restaurant management from Widener University School of Hotel and Restaurant Management in Chester, Pennsylvania.
Charles H. Protell joined Golden as Executive Vice President, Chief Strategy Officer and Chief Financial Officer in November 2016. Prior to joining Golden,
Mr. Protell served as Managing Director at Macquarie Capital’s investment banking group since May 2011, and as Co-Founder and a Managing Director at
REGAL Capital Advisors from January 2009 until its acquisition by Macquarie Capital in May 2011. Prior to co-founding REGAL Capital Advisors, Mr.
Protell held various investment banking roles at Credit Suisse, Deutsche Bank and CIBC World Markets. Mr. Protell received a bachelor of science degree in
commerce from the University of Virginia.
Sean T. Higgins joined Golden as Senior Vice President of Government Affairs and Business Development in March 2016 and was promoted to Executive
Vice President of Governmental Affairs and Business Development and Chief Legal Officer in October 2016. Prior to joining Golden, Mr. Higgins served as
principal of STH Strategies, a firm he founded in early 2015. From August 2011 to January 2015, Mr. Higgins was managing principal of Porter Gordon Silver
Communications, a full-service government affairs and business strategic consulting firm. From July 2010 to January 2015, Mr. Higgins was a partner in the
law firm of Gordon Silver. Prior to that, Mr. Higgins spent 17 years as general counsel and head of government affairs for a multijurisdictional gaming
company. Mr. Higgins received his law degree from Santa Clara University School of Law and his undergraduate degree in business administration from
Southern Methodist University. He is licensed to practice law in the state of Nevada.
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Blake L. Sartini II joined Golden as Senior Vice President of Distributed Gaming in July 2015 in connection with the Merger. In his current position, he
oversees all distributed gaming operations in Nevada and Montana, as well as the Nevada tavern locations operating under the brand names PT’s, Sierra Gold,
SG Bar and Sean Patrick’s. From January 2010 until the Merger, Mr. Sartini II served in various roles with Sartini Gaming, including as V ice President of
Operations for Golden Route Operations, LLC (“GRO”), a subsidiary of Sartini Gaming, from September 2014 until the Merger, as Assistant Director for GRO
from January 2012 to September 2014, and as a Marketing Manager from January 2010 to January 2012. Prior to joining Sartini Gaming, Mr. Sartini II served
as Senior Business Associate with the Ultimate Fighting Championship for its international event operations and talent relations in the United Kingdom. Mr.
Sartini II received a bachelor of science degree in business administration from Chapman University in Orange, California.
Gary A. Vecchiarelli joined Golden as Senior Vice President of Finance and Accounting in January 2017. From May 2012 to December 2016, Mr.
Vecchiarelli served as Chief Financial Officer of Galaxy Gaming, Inc., a public company that develops, manufactures and distributes casino table games and
wagering platforms. Prior to that, Mr. Vecchiarelli spent most of his career working in public accounting including Audit Manager for BDO USA, LLP and
Audit Supervisor for McGladrey & Pullen, LLP. Mr. Vecchiarelli received a bachelor of science degree in business administration in accounting from
California State University at San Jose and is currently President of Financial Executives International, Las Vegas Chapter. Mr. Vecchiarelli is a member of
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and maintains active CPA licenses in California and Nevada.
Website and Available Information
Our website is located at www.goldenent.com. Through a link on the Investors section of our website, we make the following filings available free of charge
and as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed or furnished with the SEC: our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports
on Form 10-Q, our Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to such reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
and Exchange Act of 1934. Copies of these documents are also available to our shareholders upon written request to our Chief Financial Officer at 6595 S
Jones Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada 89118. Information on the website does not constitute part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
These filings are also available free of charge on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. In addition, any materials filed with the SEC may be read and copied at
the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference
Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.
ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

You should consider each of the following factors as well as the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in evaluating our business and
prospects. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we
currently consider immaterial may also materially adversely impact our business operations. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business,
financial condition, results of operations or prospects could be materially harmed and the trading price of our common stock could decline. You should also
refer to the other information set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes.
9

Any failure to successfully integrate our businesses and businesses we acquire, including Sartini Gaming’s legacy business and the Montana Acquisitions,
could materially adversely affect our business, and we may not realize the full benefits of the Merger or our other strategic acquisitions.
Our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of the Merger, the Montana Acquisitions or our other strategic acquisitions will depend, to a large extent, on our
ability to successfully integrate our businesses and businesses we acquire, including Sartini Gaming’s legacy business and the distributed gaming businesses
in Montana. Integrating and coordinating certain aspects of the operations and personnel of multiple businesses and managing the expansion in the scope of
our operations and financial systems involves complex operational, technological and personnel-related challenges. The potential difficulties, and resulting
costs and delays, relating to the integration of our business and Sartini Gaming’s legacy businesses, the Montana distributed gaming business or other
strategic acquisitions include:
•

the difficulty in integrating newly acquired businesses and operations in an efficient and effective manner;

•

the challenges in achieving strategic objectives, cost savings and other benefits expected from acquisitions;

•

the diversion of management’s attention from the day-to-day operations;

•

additional demands on management related to the increased size and scope of our company following the Merger, the Montana Acquisitions
or other acquisitions;

•

the assimilation of employees and the integration of different business cultures;

•

challenges in attracting and retaining key personnel;

•

the need to integrate information, accounting, finance, sales, billing, payroll and regulatory compliance systems;

•

challenges in keeping existing customers and obtaining new customers; and

•

challenges in combining product offerings and sales and marketing activities.

There is no assurance that we will successfully or cost-effectively integrate our businesses and businesses we acquire. The costs of achieving systems
integration may substantially exceed our current estimates. As non-public companies, neither Sartini Gaming nor the distributed gaming businesses acquired
in Montana had to comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for internal control over financial reporting and other procedures.
Bringing the legacy systems for these businesses into compliance with those requirements may cause us to incur substantial additional expense. Furthermore,
as discussed in “Part II, Item 9A, “Controls and Procedures,” our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that a material weakness
existed in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the registrant’s annual or interim financial
statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The material weakness identified was that account reconciliations were not consistently
prepared on a timely basis and subjected to proper review and written approval by a person not involved in their preparation. There can be no assurance that
we will be able to fully remediate this material weakness. If we fail to remediate this material weakness or otherwise maintain effective internal control over
financial reporting in the future, the existence of one or more internal control deficiencies could result in errors in our financial statements, and substantial
costs and resources may be required to rectify internal control deficiencies. If we cannot produce reliable financial reports, investors could lose confidence in
our reported financial information, the market price of our stock could decline significantly, we may be unable to obtain additional financing to operate and
expand our business, and our business and financial condition could be harmed.
In addition, the integration process may cause an interruption of, or loss of momentum in, the activities of our combined business. If management is not able
to effectively manage the integration process, or if any significant business activities are interrupted as a result of the integration process, our business could
suffer and our results of operations and financial condition may be harmed.
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Even if our businesses are successfully integrated, we may not realize the full benefits of the Merger, the Montana Acquisitions or our other strategic
acquisitions, including anticipated synergies, cost savings or growth opportunities, within the expected timeframes or at all. In addition, we have incurred,
and may incur additional, significant integration and restructuring expenses to realize synergies. However, many of the expenses that will be incurred are, by
their nature, difficult to estimate accurately. These expenses could, particularly in the near term, exceed the saving s that we expect to achieve from
elimination of duplicative expenses and the realization of economies of scale and cost savings. Although we expect that the realization of efficiencies related
to the integration of the businesses may offset incremental transaction, Merger-related and restructuring costs over time, we cannot give any assurance that
this net benefit will be achieved in the near term, or at all. Any of these matters could materially adversely affect our businesses or harm our financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.
Our business may be adversely affected by economic conditions, acts of terrorism, natural disasters, severe weather, contagious diseases and other factors
affecting discretionary consumer spending, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
The demand for gaming, entertainment and leisure activities is highly sensitive to downturns in the economy and the corresponding impact on discretionary
consumer spending. Any actual or perceived deterioration or weakness in general, regional or local economic conditions, unemployment levels, the job or
housing markets, consumer debt levels or consumer confidence, as well as any increase in gasoline prices, tax rates, interest rates, inflation rates or other
adverse economic or market conditions, may lead to our customers having less discretionary income to spend on gaming, entertainment and discretionary
travel, any of which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Acts of terrorism, natural disasters, severe weather conditions and actual or perceived outbreaks of public health threats and pandemics could also
significantly affect demand for gaming, entertainment and leisure activities and discretionary travel, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Furthermore, our properties are subject to the risk that operations could be halted for a
temporary or extended period of time, as a result of casualty, flooding, forces of nature, adverse weather conditions, mechanical failure, or extended or
extraordinary maintenance, among other causes. If there is a prolonged disruption at any of our casino properties due to natural disasters, terrorist attacks or
other catastrophic events, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially adversely affected. Additionally, if
extreme weather adversely impacts general economic or other conditions in the areas in which our properties are located or from which we draw our patrons or
prevents patrons from easily coming to our properties, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially adversely
affected.
We face substantial competition in both of our business segments, and may lose market share.
The distributed gaming and casino resort industries are highly competitive. We face direct competition for our space lease, revenue share and participation
locations from others involved in the distributed gaming business, as well as substantial competition for customers from other operators of casinos, hotels,
taverns and other entertainment venues. With respect to our casinos, we compete for local gaming customers with other locals-oriented casino-hotels, as well
as with other casinos and restricted gaming locations in the vicinity of our properties. We compete for customers primarily on the basis of location, customer
service, range and pricing of amenities (including food and entertainment), gaming device payout rates, convenience and overall atmosphere. Many of our
regional and national competitors have greater brand recognition and significantly greater resources than we have. Their greater resources may also provide
them with the ability to expand operations in the future.
In addition, we also face ever-increasing competition from online gaming, including mobile gaming applications for smart phones and tablet computers,
state-sponsored lotteries, card clubs, and other forms of legalized gaming. In addition, various forms of internet gaming have been approved in Nevada, and
legislation permitting internet gaming has been proposed by the federal government and other states. The expansion of internet gaming in Nevada and other
jurisdictions could result in significant additional competition. Furthermore, several states are currently considering legalizing casino gaming in designated
areas, and Native American tribes may develop or expand gaming properties in markets located more closely to our customer base. Legalized casino gaming
in neighboring states and on Native American land could result in strong competition that could materially
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adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, particularly to the extent that such gaming is conducted in areas close
to our gaming operations.
We are subject to extensive state and local regulation and licensing from gaming and other government authorities, and gaming authorities have
significant control over our operations.
As the owner and operator of gaming facilities, we are subject to extensive federal, state, and local regulation. State and local government authorities in the
jurisdictions in which we operate require us to obtain gaming licenses and require our officers, key employees and business entity affiliates to demonstrate
suitability to be involved in gaming operations. These are privileged licenses or approvals that are not guaranteed by statute or regulation. State and local
government authorities may limit, condition, suspend or revoke a license, impose substantial fines, and take other actions, any of which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain and maintain the
gaming licenses and related approvals necessary to conduct our gaming operations. Any failure to maintain or renew our existing licenses, registrations,
permits or approvals could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Furthermore, if additional
gaming laws or regulations are adopted, these regulations could impose additional restrictions or costs that could have a significant adverse effect on us and
our business.
Gaming authorities may, in their sole and absolute discretion, require the holder of any securities issued by us to file applications, be investigated, and be
found suitable to own our securities if they have reason to believe that the security ownership would be inconsistent with the declared policies of their
respective states. Further, the costs of any investigation conducted by any gaming authority under these circumstances is typically required to be paid by the
applicant, and refusal or failure to pay these charges may constitute grounds for a finding that the applicant is unsuitable to own the securities. If any gaming
authority determines that a person is unsuitable to own our securities, then, under the applicable gaming laws and regulations, we can be sanctioned,
including the loss of our privileged licenses or approvals, if, without the prior approval of the applicable gaming authority, we conduct certain business with
the unsuitable person.
Our officers, directors, and key employees are also subject to a variety of regulatory requirements and various privileged licensing and related approval
procedures in the various jurisdictions in which we operate gaming facilities. If any gaming authority with jurisdiction over our business were to find an
officer, director or key employee of ours unsuitable for licensing or unsuitable to continue having a relationship with us, we would have to sever all
relationships with that person. Furthermore, such gaming authorities may require us to terminate the employment of any person who refuses to file
appropriate applications. Either result could have a material adverse effect on our business, operations and prospects.
Applicable gaming laws and regulations also restrict our ability to issue securities, incur debt, and undertake other financing activities. Such transactions
would generally require approval of gaming authorities, and our financing counterparties, including lenders, might be subject to various licensing and
related approval procedures in the various jurisdictions in which we operate gaming facilities. If state regulatory authorities were to find any person
unsuitable with regard to his, her or its relationship to us or any of our subsidiaries, we would be required to sever our relationship with that person, which
could materially adversely affect our business.
From time to time, local and state lawmakers, as well as special interest groups, have proposed legislation that would expand, restrict or prevent gaming
operations in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Any such change to the regulatory environment or the adoption of new federal, state or local government
legislation could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Federal, state and local beer, liquor and food service regulations may have a significant adverse impact on our operations.
Our brewery operations at PT’s Brewing Company in Las Vegas, Nevada require federal, state, and local licenses, permits and approvals. Our restaurant and
on-site brewery at PT’s Brewing Company operate pursuant to exceptions to the “tied house” laws, which in Nevada generally prohibit a manufacturer or
supplier of brewery products from engaging in the business of wholesaling and prevent a wholesaler from engaging, directly or indirectly, in retail sales.
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The manufacture and sale of alcoholic beverages is a highly regulated and taxed business. Our brewery operations are subject to more restrictive regulations
and increased taxation by federal, state and local governmental entities than are those of non-alcohol related beverage businesses. Federal, state and local
laws and regulations govern the production and distribution of beer, including permitting, licensing, trade practices, labeling, advertising , marketing,
distributor relationships and related matters. Federal, state and local governmental entities also levy various taxes, license fees, and other similar charges and
may require bonds to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Failure to comply with applicable federal, state or local laws and regulations
could result in higher taxes, penalties, fees, and suspension or revocation of permits, licenses or approvals and could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
From time to time, local and state lawmakers, as well as special interest groups have proposed legislation that would increase the federal and/or state excise
tax on alcoholic beverages or certain types of alcoholic beverages. If adopted, such measures could affect some or all of our proprietary craft beer production.
If federal or state excise taxes are increased, we may have to raise prices to maintain our current profit margins. Higher taxes may reduce overall demand for
beer, thus negatively impacting sales of our beer. Further federal or state regulation may be forthcoming that could further restrict the distribution and sale of
alcohol products. Any material increase in taxes or fees, or the adoption of additional taxes or fees or regulations, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
In addition, each restaurant we operate must obtain a food service license from local authorities. Failure to comply with such regulations could cause our
licenses to be revoked or our related restaurant business or businesses to be forced to cease operations. Moreover, state liquor laws may prevent the expansion
of restaurant operations into certain markets.
Changes to state and federal minimum wage laws or other laws could have a material adverse effect on our operations and financial condition.
Our business segments operate in the larger hospitality and service industry. Many of our employees, especially those that interact with our customers,
receive a base salary or wage that is established by applicable state and federal laws that establish a minimum hourly wage that is, in turn, supplemented
through tips and gratuities from customers. In February 2017, a former employee filed a purported class action lawsuit on behalf of similarly situated
individuals employed by us in Nevada alleging that we violated certain Nevada labor laws, including payment of an hourly wage below the statutory
minimum wage without providing a qualified health insurance plan and an associated failure to pay proper overtime compensation. For additional
information, please see Part I, Item 3 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading “Legal Proceedings.” From time to time, state and federal
lawmakers have increased the minimum wage. It is difficult to predict when such increases may take place. Any such change to the minimum wage could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
We are subject to a variety of other rules and regulations, including zoning, environmental, construction and land-use laws, regulations and permits. Any
changes to these laws could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Changes to applicable tax laws could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.
Gaming companies are generally subject to significant revenue-based taxes and fees in addition to normal federal, state, and local income taxes, and such
taxes and fees are subject to increase at any time. We pay substantial taxes and fees with respect to our operations. From time to time, federal, state and local
legislators and other government officials have proposed and adopted changes in tax laws, or in the administration or interpretation of such laws, affecting
the gaming industry. In addition, any worsening of economic conditions and the large number of state and local governments with significant current or
projected budget deficits could intensify the efforts of state and local governments to raise revenues through increases in gaming taxes and/or property taxes.
It is not possible to determine with certainty the likelihood of changes in tax laws or in the administration or interpretation of such laws. Any material
increase, or the adoption of additional taxes or fees, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.
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Our business is geographically concentrated, which subjects us to greater risks from changes in local or regional conditions.
We currently conduct our distributed gaming (including tavern gaming) business solely in Nevada and Montana and operate casinos solely in Pahrump,
Nevada and Flintstone, Maryland. Due to this geographic concentration, our results of operations and financial condition are subject to greater risks from
changes in local and regional conditions, such as:
•

changes in local or regional economic conditions and unemployment rates;

•

adverse weather conditions and natural disasters (including weather or road conditions that limit access to our properties);

•

changes in local and state laws and regulations, including gaming laws and regulations;

•

a decline in the number of residents in or near, or visitors to, our properties; and

•

changes in the local or regional competitive environment.

As a result of the geographic concentration of our businesses, we face a greater risk of a negative impact on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects in the event that any of the geographic areas in which we operate is more severely impacted by any such adverse condition, as
compared to other areas in the United States.
The success of our distributed gaming business is dependent on our ability to renew our contracts.
We conduct the majority of our distributed gaming business under space lease, revenue share and participation contracts with third parties. Contracts with
chain store and street customers are renewable at the option of the owner of the applicable chain store or street account. As our distributed gaming contracts
expire, we are required to compete for renewals. If we are unable to renew a material portion of our space lease, revenue share and participation contracts, this
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. We cannot assure you that our existing space
lease, revenue share and participation contracts will be renewed on reasonable or comparable terms, or at all.
The casino, hotel and hospitality industry is capital intensive and we may not be able to finance expansion and renovation projects, which could put us at
a competitive disadvantage.
Our casino and tavern properties have an ongoing need for renovations and other capital improvements to remain competitive, including replacement, from
time to time, of furniture, fixtures and equipment. We may also need to make capital expenditures to comply with applicable laws and regulations.
Renovations and other capital improvements of casino properties in particular require significant capital expenditures. In addition, any such renovations and
capital improvements usually generate little or no cash flow until the projects are completed. We may not be able to fund such projects solely from cash
provided from operating activities. Consequently, we may have to rely upon the availability of debt or equity capital to fund renovations and capital
improvements, and our ability to carry them out will be limited if we cannot obtain satisfactory debt or equity financing, which will depend on, among other
things, market conditions. We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain additional equity or debt financing on favorable terms or at all. Our failure to
renovate and maintain our casino and tavern properties from time to time may put us at a competitive disadvantage to casinos or taverns offering more
modern and better maintained facilities, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
We incurred significant indebtedness in connection with the Merger and our significant indebtedness could adversely affect our financial health and
prevent us from fulfilling our obligations.
We incurred significant indebtedness in connection with the Merger and the associated refinancing of both Sartini Gaming’s senior secured indebtedness and
our former financing facility for Rocky Gap. As of December 31, 2016, our total indebtedness, excluding unamortized debt issuance costs, was $185.0
million and our debt service obligations, comprised of scheduled principal repayments and interest (excluding capital leases and equipment
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notes), during the next 12 months were approximately $12.0 million. As a result of the increases in our outstanding debt, demands on our cash resources have
increased. The increased level of debt could, among other things:
•

require us to dedicate a larger portion of our cash flow from operations to the servicing and repayment of our debt, thereby reducing funds
available for working capital, capital expenditures and acquisitions, and other general corporate requirements;

•

limit our ability to obtain additional financing to fund future working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate requirements;

•

limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industries in which we operate;

•

restrict our ability to make strategic acquisitions or dispositions or to exploit business opportunities;

•

increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions and increases in interest rates;

•

place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt; and

•

adversely affect our credit rating or the market price of our common stock.

Any of these risks could impact our ability to fund our operations or limit our ability to expand our business, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
We may incur additional indebtedness, which could further increase the risks associated with our leverage.
We may incur significant additional indebtedness in the future, which may include financing relating to capital expenditures, potential acquisitions or
business expansion, working capital or general corporate purposes. As of December 31, 2016, we had undrawn availability of $20.0 million under our senior
secured revolving facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) in our Credit Agreement with Capital One, National Association (as administrative agent) and the
lenders named therein (the “Credit Agreement”). In addition, the Credit Agreement permits us, subject to specific limitations, to incur additional
indebtedness. If new indebtedness is added to our current level of indebtedness, the related risks that we now face could intensify.
We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness and fund our working capital and capital expenditures, and may be forced
to take other actions to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be successful.
Our ability to make scheduled payments on or refinance our indebtedness will depend upon our future operating performance and our ability to generate cash
flow in the future, which are subject to general economic, financial, business, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our
control. We cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations, or that future borrowings, including borrowings under the
Credit Agreement, will be available to us in an amount sufficient to enable us to pay our indebtedness or fund our other liquidity needs. If our cash flows and
capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we could face substantial liquidity problems and could be forced to reduce or delay
investment and capital expenditures or to dispose of material assets or operations, seek additional debt or equity capital or restructure or refinance our
indebtedness. We may not be able to effect any such alternative measures, if necessary, on commercially reasonable terms or at all and, even if successful,
such alternative actions may not allow us to meet our scheduled debt service obligations. The Credit Agreement restricts our ability to dispose of assets and
use the proceeds from the disposition, and may also restrict our ability to raise debt or equity capital to repay or service our indebtedness. If we cannot make
scheduled payments on our debt, we will be in default and, as a result, our lenders could declare all outstanding amounts to be due and payable, terminate or
suspend their commitments to loan money and foreclose against the assets securing such debt, and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation, any of
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects and could result in you losing your
investment in our company.
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Covenants in our debt instruments restrict our business and could limit our ability to implement our business plan.
The Credit Agreement contains, and any future debt instruments likely will contain, covenants that may restrict our ability to implement our business plan,
finance future operations, respond to changing business and economic conditions, secure additional financing, and engage in opportunistic transactions,
such as strategic acquisitions. The Credit Agreement includes covenants restricting, among other things, our ability to do the following:
•

incur, assume or guarantee additional indebtedness;

•

issue redeemable stock and preferred stock;

•

grant or incur liens;

•

sell or otherwise dispose of assets, including capital stock of subsidiaries;

•

make loans and investments;

•

pay dividends, make distributions, or redeem or repurchase capital stock;

•

enter into transactions with affiliates; and

•

consolidate or merge with or into, or sell substantially all of our assets to, another person.

In addition, the Credit Agreement requires us to comply with certain financial covenants, including a maximum total leverage ratio and minimum interest
coverage ratio. The Credit Agreement is secured by first-priority liens on substantially all of our and the subsidiary guarantors’ present and future personal
and real property (subject to receipt of certain approvals).
If we default under the Credit Agreement because of a covenant breach or otherwise, all outstanding amounts thereunder could become immediately due and
payable. We cannot assure you that we will be able to comply with our financial or other covenants under the Credit Agreement or that any covenant
violations will be waived. Any violation that is not waived could result in an event of default and, as a result, our lenders could declare all outstanding
amounts to be due and payable, terminate or suspend their commitments to loan money and foreclose against the assets securing such debt, and we could be
forced into bankruptcy or liquidation, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects and could result in you losing your investment in our company.
Our ability to utilize our Net Operating Losses (“NOLs”) would be negatively impacted if an ownership change (as defined in Section 382 of the Code)
occurs.
As of December 31, 2016, we had approximately $75.7 million of NOLs, which begin to expire in 2032. While these NOLs have a potential to be used to
offset future ordinary taxable income and reduce future cash tax liabilities, our ability to utilize these NOLs would be negatively impacted if we were to
experience an “ownership change,” as defined in Section 382 of the Code. In general terms, an “ownership change” can occur whenever one or more “5%
stockholders” collectively change the ownership of a company by more than 50 percentage points within a three-year period. The occurrence of such a
change generally limits the amount of NOLs a company could utilize in a given year to the aggregate fair market value of the company’s common stock
immediately prior to the ownership change, multiplied by the long-term tax-exempt interest rate in effect for the month of the ownership change. The
issuance of shares of our common stock in connection with the Merger significantly increased the risk of such an ownership change occurring. To help
preserve our ability to utilize our NOLs to offset future taxable income following the Merger, we have amended our Rights Agreement to deter acquisitions of
shares of our common stock that would result in a shareholder owning 4.99% or more of our common stock. In addition, we have entered into a NOL
Preservation Agreement with the former shareholder of Sartini Gaming, Lyle A. Berman (a director and shareholder of the Company) and certain shareholders
affiliated with Mr. Berman or another director of Golden which restrict the ability of such shareholders to take specified actions which could cause such an
ownership change to occur. Although our Rights Agreement and the NOL Preservation Agreement are intended to reduce the likelihood of an adverse
ownership change under Section 382, they may not prevent such an ownership change from occurring. The determination of whether an ownership change
has occurred for purposes of Section 382 of the Code
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is complex and requires significant judgment. Moreover, the number of shares of our common stock outstanding at any particular time for purposes of Section
382 of the Code (and our Rights Agreement) may differ from the number of shares that we report as outstanding in our filings with the SEC. In the event that
the measures we have taken to help preserve our NOLs prove ineffective and an ownership change occurs, our ability to utilize our NOLs would be negatively
impacted, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
We may be unable to obtain gaming devices or related technology from our third party suppliers on a timely, cost-effective basis.
We currently primarily rely on a limited number of suppliers for our gaming devices and related technology. We cannot assure you that we can obtain gaming
devices or related technology on a cost-effective basis. As a result, we may be forced to incur significant unanticipated costs to secure alternative third party
suppliers or adjust our operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
We may experience seasonal fluctuations that could significantly impact our quarterly operating results.
We may experience seasonal fluctuations that could significantly impact our quarterly operating results. Rocky Gap typically experiences higher revenues
during summer months and may be significantly adversely impacted by inclement weather during winter months. Our casinos and distributed gaming
business in Nevada have historically experienced lower revenues during the summer as a result of fewer tourists due to higher temperatures, as well as
increased vacation activity by local residents. Our Nevada distributed gaming operations typically experience higher revenues during the fall which
corresponds with several professional sports seasons. Our Montana distributed gaming operations typically experience higher revenues during the fall due to
the inclement weather in the state and less opportunity for outdoor activities, in addition to the impact from professional sports seasons. While other factors
like unemployment levels, market competition and the diversification of our business may either offset or magnify seasonal effects, some seasonality is likely
to continue, which could result in significant fluctuation in our quarterly operating results.
Our reputation and business could be materially harmed as a result of data breaches, data theft, unauthorized access or hacking.
Our success depends, in part, on the secure and uninterrupted performance of our information technology and other systems and infrastructure. An increasing
number of companies have disclosed breaches of their security, some of which have involved sophisticated and highly targeted attacks on their computer
networks. Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems, change frequently and often are not
recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. If unauthorized
parties gain access to our information technology and other systems, they may be able to misappropriate assets or sensitive information (such as personally
identifiable information of our customers, business partners and employees), cause interruption in our operations, corruption of data or computers, or
otherwise damage our reputation and business. In such circumstances, we could be held liable to our customers or other parties, or be subject to regulatory or
other actions for breaching privacy rules. Any compromise of our security could result in a loss of confidence in our security measures, and subject us to
litigation, civil or criminal penalties, and negative publicity, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects. Further, if we are unable to comply with the security standards established by banks and the payment card industry, we may be
subject to fines, restrictions, and expulsion from card acceptance programs, which could materially adversely affect our operations.
Our insurance coverage may not be adequate to cover all possible losses that our properties could suffer. In addition, our insurance costs may increase and
we may not be able to obtain the same insurance coverage in the future.
We have comprehensive property and liability insurance policies for our properties in operation, with coverage features and insured limits that we believe are
customary in their breadth and scope. Market forces beyond our control may nonetheless limit the scope of the insurance coverage we can obtain or our
ability to obtain coverage at
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reasonable rates. Certain types of losses, generally of a catastrophic nature, such as earthquakes, hurricanes, floods or terrorist acts, or certain liabilities may
be uninsurable or too expensive to justify obtaining insurance. As a result, we may not be successful in obtaining insurance without increases in cost or
decreases in coverage levels. In addition, in the event of a substantial loss, the insurance coverage we carry may not be sufficient to pay the full market value
or replacement cost of our lost investment or in some cases could result in certain losses being totally uninsured. As a result, we could lose some or all of the
capital we have invested in a property, as well as the anticipated future revenue from the property, and we could remain obligated for d ebt or other financial
obligations related to the property, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
We may be subject to litigation which, if adversely determined, could expose us to significant liabilities, damage our reputation and result in substantial
losses.
From time to time, we are involved in a variety of lawsuits, claims, investigations and other legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business,
including proceedings concerning labor and employment matters, personal injury claims, breach of contract claims, commercial disputes, business practices,
intellectual property, tax and other matters. See Part I, Item 3 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading “Legal Proceedings” for additional
information. Certain litigation claims may not be covered entirely or at all by our insurance policies, or our insurance carriers may seek to deny coverage. In
addition, litigation claims can be expensive to defend and may divert our attention from the operations of our businesses. Further, litigation involving
visitors to our properties, even if without merit, can attract adverse media attention.
We evaluate all litigation claims and legal proceedings to assess the likelihood of unfavorable outcomes and to estimate, if possible, the amount of potential
losses. Based on these assessments and estimates, we establish reserves and/or disclose the relevant litigation claims or legal proceedings, as appropriate.
These assessments and estimates are based on the information available to management at the time and involve a significant amount of management
judgment. We caution you that actual outcomes or losses may differ materially from those envisioned by our current assessments and estimates. As a result,
litigation can have a significant adverse effect on our businesses and, because we cannot predict the outcome of any action, it is possible that adverse
judgments or settlements could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
We depend on a limited number of key employees who would be difficult to replace.
We depend on a limited number of key personnel to manage and operate our business, including our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Operating Officer and
our Chief Strategy and Financial Officer. We believe our success depends to a significant degree on our ability to attract and retain highly skilled personnel.
The competition for these types of personnel is intense and we compete with other potential employers for the services of our employees. As a result, we may
not succeed in hiring and retaining the executives and other employees that we need. An inability to hire quality employees or the loss of key employees
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Our executive officers and directors own or control a large percentage of our common stock, which permits them to exercise significant control over us.
As of December 31, 2016, our executive officers and directors and entities affiliated with them owned, in the aggregate, approximately 51% of the
outstanding shares of our common stock. Accordingly, these shareholders will be able to substantially influence all matters requiring approval by our
shareholders, including the approval of mergers or other business combination transactions and the composition of our Board of Directors. This concentration
of ownership may also delay, defer or even prevent a change in control of our company and would make some transactions more difficult or impossible
without their support. Circumstances may arise in which the interests of these shareholders could conflict with the interests of our other shareholders.
18

Our shareholders may be required to provide information that is requested by gaming authorities and we have the right, under certain circumstances, to
redeem a shareholder’s securities; we may be forced to use our cash or incur debt to fund redemption of our securities.
Our Articles of Incorporation require our shareholders to provide information that is requested by authorities that regulate our current or proposed gaming
operations. Our Articles of Incorporation also permit us to redeem the securities held by persons whose status as a security holder, in the opinion of our Board
of Directors, jeopardizes our existing gaming licenses or approvals. The price paid for these securities is, in general, the average closing price for the 30
trading days prior to giving notice of redemption.
In the event a shareholder’s background or status jeopardizes our current or proposed gaming licensure, we may be required to redeem such shareholder’s
securities in order to continue gaming operations or obtain a gaming license. This redemption may divert our cash resources from other productive uses and
require us to obtain additional financing which, if in the form of equity financing, would be dilutive to our shareholders. Further, any debt financing may
involve additional restrictive covenants and further leveraging of our fixed assets. The inability to obtain additional financing to redeem a disqualified
shareholder’s securities may result in the loss of a current or potential gaming license.
There is a limited public market for our common stock.
There is a limited public market for our common stock. The average daily trading volume in our common stock during the year ended December 31, 2016
was approximately 56,000 shares per day. We cannot provide assurances that a more active trading market will develop or be sustained. As a result of low
trading volume in our common stock, the purchase or sale of a relatively small number of shares of our common stock could result in significant price
fluctuations, and it may be difficult for holders to sell their shares without depressing the market price for our common stock.
We expect our stock price to be volatile, and you may lose some or all of your investment.
The market price of our common stock has been, and is likely to continue to be, volatile. The market price of our common stock may be significantly affected
by many factors, including:
•

changes in general or local economic or market conditions;

•

quarterly variations in operating results;

•

strategic developments by us or our competitors;

•

developments in our relationships with our customers, distributors and suppliers;

•

regulatory developments or any breach, revocation or loss of any gaming license;

•

changes in our revenues, expense levels or profitability;

•

changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts; and

•

failure to meet the expectations of securities analysts.

Any of these events may cause the market price of our common stock to fall. In addition, the stock market in general has experienced significant volatility,
which may adversely affect the market price of our common stock regardless of our operating performance.
Future sales of our common stock could lower our stock price and dilute existing shareholders.
In June 2016, we filed a universal shelf registration statement with the SEC for the future sale of up to $150 million in aggregate amount of common stock,
preferred stock, debt securities, warrants and units. The securities may be offered from time to time, separately or together, directly by us or through
underwriters, dealers or agents at amounts, prices, interest rates and other terms to be determined at the time of the offering.
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We may also issue additional shares of common stock to finance future acquisitions through the use of equity. For example, we issued a total of
approximately 8.5 million shares of our common stock in connection with the Merger. The holder of approximately 8.0 million of such shares has the right to
require us to register with the SEC resales of such shares from time to time. In January 2016, we issued a further 50,252 shares of our common stock in a
private placement in connection with the acquisition of gaming devices and other non-gaming assets, including the right to operate within certain locations,
from a distributed gaming operator in the state of Montana. In addition, a substantial number of shares of our common stock is reserved for issuance upon the
exercise of stock options and other equity awards pursuant to our employee benefit plans. We cannot predict the size of future issuances of our common stock
or the effect, if any, that future sales and issuances of shares of our common stock will have on the market price of our common stock. Sales of substantial
amounts of our common stock (including shares issued in connection with the Merger, upon the exercise of stock options and warrants or in connection with
acquisition financing), or the perception that such sales could occur, may adversely affect prevailing market prices for our common stock. In addi tion, these
sales may be dilutive to existing shareholders.
Provisions in our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, our Rights Plan or the Credit Agreement may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control or
prevent an acquisition of our business at a premium price.
Some of the provisions of our Articles of Incorporation and our Bylaws and Minnesota law could discourage, delay or prevent an acquisition of our business,
even if a change in control would be beneficial to the interests of our shareholders and was made at a premium price. These provisions:
•

permit our Board of Directors to increase its own size and fill the resulting vacancies;

•

authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our Board of Directors could issue to increase the number of outstanding shares
to discourage a takeover attempt; and

•

permit shareholder action by written consent only if the consent is signed by all shareholders entitled to notice of a meeting.

Although we have amended our Bylaws to provide that Section 302A.671 (Control Share Acquisitions) of the Minnesota Business Corporation Act does not
apply to or govern us, we remain subject to 302A.673 (Business Combinations) of the Minnesota Business Corporation Act, which generally prohibits us
from engaging in business combinations with any “interested” shareholder for a period of four years following the shareholder’s share acquisition date, which
may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our company.
On January 25, 2015, our Board of Directors amended and restated our Rights Agreement to help protect our ability to utilize the tax benefits of certain of our
NOLs. The rights under the Rights Agreement continue in effect until July 31, 2018 unless, prior to such time, our Board has determined that the NOLs are no
longer available to be utilized or are immaterial to our business. Under the Rights Agreement, rights to purchase common stock were issued to holders of
common stock as of December 12, 2013, the original date of adoption of the agreement, and to all shares of common stock issued subsequent to that date.
These rights become exercisable under certain circumstances in which someone acquires 5% or more, subject to certain exceptions, of our outstanding
common stock. As a result of the Rights Agreement, anyone wishing to take over the company may be forced under certain circumstances to negotiate a
transaction with our Board and management or comply with certain bid criteria in order not to trigger the exercise of rights. The need to negotiate with our
Board or management or to comply with certain bid criteria could add complexity to a proposed takeover. In addition, the Credit Agreement provides for an
event of default upon the occurrence of certain specified change of control events.
ITEM 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.
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ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

Company Headquarters
We lease a 41,000 square foot building in Las Vegas, Nevada, which houses our company headquarters and a portion of which we have sub-leased. The lease
for our office headquarters building is with a related party and expires on July 31, 2025. See Note 16, Related Party Transactions, in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements for information on our transactions with related parties.
Distributed Gaming
We lease our branded tavern locations under noncancelable operating leases. As of December 31, 2016, the terms of our tavern leases ranged from one to 14
years, with various renewal options from one to 15 years. Four of our tavern locations were leased from related parties as of December 31, 2016. See Note 16,
Related Party Transactions, in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information on our transactions with related parties.
Casinos
Rocky Gap
We lease the approximately 270 acres in the Rocky Gap State Park on which Rocky Gap is situated from the Maryland DNR pursuant to a 40-year operating
ground lease. The lease expires in 2052, with an option to renew for an additional 20 years. We own the 170,000 square foot Rocky Gap building. Our owned
and leased real property for Rocky Gap, along with substantially all of the assets of Rocky Gap, are subject to liens securing all of our obligations under our
Credit Agreement (subject to receipt of certain approvals).
Nevada Casino Properties
We own the approximately 40 acres of land on which Pahrump Nugget is located (of which approximately 20 acres are undeveloped and reserved for future
development) and the approximately 35 acres of land on which our Lakeside Casino & RV Park is located. Our Gold Town Casino is located on four leased
parcels of land, comprising approximately nine acres in the aggregate. The leases are with unrelated third parties and have various expiration dates beginning
in 2026 (for the parcel on which our main casino building is located, which we lease from a competitor), and we sublease approximately two of the acres to an
unrelated third party. Our owned and leased real property for our Nevada casino properties, along with substantially all of the assets of our Nevada casinos,
are subject to liens securing all of our obligations under our Credit Agreement.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are involved in a variety of lawsuits, claims, investigations and other legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business,
including proceedings concerning labor and employment matters, personal injury claims, breach of contract claims, commercial disputes, business practices,
intellectual property, tax and other matters. Although lawsuits, claims, investigations and other legal proceedings are inherently uncertain and their results
cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that the resolution of our currently pending matters will not have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. Regardless of the outcome, legal proceedings can have an adverse impact on us because of defense
costs, diversion of management resources and other factors. In addition, it is possible that an unfavorable resolution of one or more such proceedings could in
the future materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity in a particular period.
On February 2, 2017, a former employee filed a purported class action lawsuit against us in the District Court of Clark County, Nevada, on behalf of similarly
situated individuals employed by us in the State of Nevada. The lawsuit alleges we violated certain Nevada labor laws including payment of an hourly wage
below the statutory minimum wage without providing a qualified health insurance plan and an associated failure to pay proper overtime compensation. The
complaint seeks, on behalf of the plaintiff and members of the putative class, an unspecified amount of damages (including punitive damages), injunctive
and equitable relief, and an award of attorneys’ fees, interest and costs. This case is at an early stage in the proceedings, and we are therefore unable to make a
reasonable
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estimate of the probable loss or range of losses, if any, that might arise from this matter. Therefore, we have not recorded any amount for the claim as of the
date of this filing. While legal proceedings are inherently unpredictable and no assurance can be given as to the ultimate outcome of this matter, based on
management’s current understanding of the relevant facts and circumstances, we believe that these proceedings should not have a material adverse effect on
our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
ITEM 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the ticker symbol GDEN (and formerly under the ticker symbol LACO prior to the
Merger). The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock as reported by NASDAQ:
First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

2016
High
Low

$

9.44
8.55

$

11.69
9.16

$

13.87
11.50

$

12.94
10.23

2015
High
Low

$

7.73
5.77

$

7.95
7.31

$

8.36
7.54

$

9.29
7.81

As of March 15, 2017, there were approximately 236 shareholders of record of our common stock.
Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, the proceeds received from the sale of the Jamul Note, net of related costs, were distributed on July 14, 2016
in a special dividend of cash in the aggregate amount of approximately $23.5 million to shareholders that held shares as of the Record Date for such dividend
(other than shareholders that had waived their right to receive such dividend). See Note 9, Shareholders’ Equity, in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for additional information. Other than the special cash dividend for the net proceeds received from the sale of the Jamul Note, we have neither
declared nor paid any cash dividends with respect to our common stock and the current policy of the Board of Directors is to retain all future earnings, if any,
for use in the operation and development of our business. The payment of any other cash dividends in the future will be at the discretion of the Board of
Directors and will depend upon such factors as our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, our general business condition and any
other factors deemed relevant by the Board of Directors. In addition, the terms of our Credit Agreement restrict our ability to declare or pay dividends on our
common stock.
No repurchases of our common stock were made during the fourth quarter of 2016.
ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The Selected Financial Data presented below should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in Part II,
Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Selected consolidated statement of operations data and consolidated balance sheet data are derived from our consolidated financial statements.

December 31,
2016 (1)

For the Year Ended or As of:
December 28,
December 29,
2014 (3)
2013 (4)

December 31,
2015 (2)

December 30,
2012

(In millions, except per share amounts)

Results of Continuing Operations:
Net revenues
Income (loss) from operations
Net income (loss) per share —
basic
Net income (loss) per share —
diluted
Balance Sheet:
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Total long-term liabilities
Shareholders’ equity

$

403
13

$

177
18

$

55
(24 )

$

39
13

$

11
(7 )

$

0.74

$

1.45

$

(1.86 )

$

1.41

$

0.24

$

0.73

$

1.43

$

(1.86 )

$

1.40

$

0.24

$

47
419
172
209

$

69
379
143
210

$

35
122
9
108

$

38
147
10
132

$

32
120
3
112

(1)

Our results for the year ended December 31, 2016 included the operating results of the Montana Acquisitions from and after the closing dates of the
respective transactions. We recorded approximately $47.0 million in net revenues and $1.6 million in net income from the operations of the Montana
Acquisitions for the year ended December 31, 2016. Net income for the year ended December 31, 2016 included approximately $2.5 million in
preopening expenses related to the Montana Acquisitions and tavern expansion, and a gain on sale of land of $4.5 million was included in 2016
operations. Additionally, net income for the year ended December 31, 2016 included an income tax benefit of $4.3 million attributed primarily to a
partial reversal of the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets.

(2)

Our results for the year ended December 31, 2015 included the operating results of Sartini Gaming from and after August 1, 2015, following the
consummation of the Merger. We recorded approximately $117.6 million in net revenues and $10.4 million in income from the operations of Sartini
Gaming’s distributed gaming and casino businesses for the year ended December 31, 2015. Net income for the year ended December 31, 2015
included approximately $11.5 million in transaction-related expenses related to the Merger and income tax benefit of approximately $10.0 million
attributed primarily to the income tax benefit recorded from the reversal of a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets as a result of deferred tax
liabilities assumed in the Merger. Our results for the year ended December 31, 2015 also reflected a gain of $23.6 million related to the disposition of
the Jamul Note in December 2015.

(3)

Our results for the year ended December 28, 2014 reflected an impairment loss of $21.0 million related to the write-down of our then investment in
Rock Ohio Ventures, LLC (“Rock Ohio Ventures”), a cost method investee.

(4)

Our results for the year ended December 29, 2013 reflected a recovery of impairment on notes receivable of approximately $17.4 million resulting
from the satisfaction and discharge of amounts previously advanced to the Shingle Springs Tribe for the development of the Red Hawk Casino, and
included the operating results of Rocky Gap from May 22, 2013, the date that gaming operations at Rocky Gap commenced.
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ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto and other financial
information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to the historical information, certain statements in this discussion are forward-looking
statements based on current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results and the timing of certain events may differ significantly from
those projected in such forward-looking statements. See “Forward-Looking Statements” in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional
information regarding forward-looking statements.
Overview
We are a diversified group of gaming companies that focus on distributed gaming (including tavern gaming) and casino and resort operations.
On July 31, 2015, we acquired Sartini Gaming through the Merger of a wholly owned subsidiary of Golden with and into Sartini Gaming, with Sartini
Gaming surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of Golden. The results of operations of Sartini Gaming and its subsidiaries have been included in our results
subsequent to that date. In connection with the Merger, our name was changed to Golden Entertainment, Inc. Our common stock continues to be traded on
the NASDAQ Global Market, and our ticker symbol was changed from “LACO” to “GDEN” effective August 4, 2015.
During the third quarter of 2015, we redefined our reportable segments to reflect the change in our business following the Merger. As a result of the Merger,
we now conduct our business through two reportable operating segments: Distributed Gaming and Casinos. Prior to the Merger, we conducted our business
through the following two segments: Rocky Gap and Other. Prior period information has been recast to reflect the new segment structure and present
comparative year-over-year results. See Note 17, Segment Information, in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for financial information
regarding our segments.
Distributed Gaming
Our Distributed Gaming segment involves the installation, maintenance and operation of gaming and amusement devices in certain strategic, high-traffic,
non-casino locations (such as grocery stores, convenience stores, restaurants, bars, taverns, saloons and liquor stores) in Nevada and Montana, and the
operation of traditional, branded taverns targeting local patrons, primarily in the greater Las Vegas, Nevada metropolitan area. As of December 31, 2016, our
distributed gaming operations comprised approximately 10,400 gaming devices in approximately 960 locations. In January 2016, we completed the
acquisition of approximately 1,100 gaming devices from a distributed gaming operator in Montana, as well as certain other non-gaming assets and the right
to operate within certain locations, pursuant to the Initial Montana Acquisition. Additionally, in April 2016, we completed the acquisition of approximately
1,800 gaming devices from a second distributed gaming operator in Montana, as well as amusement devices and other non-gaming assets and the right to
operate within certain locations, pursuant to the Second Montana Acquisition; see Note 3, Merger and Acquisitions, in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements for information regarding the Montana Acquisitions.
Nevada law limits distributed gaming operations (more commonly known as “restricted gaming” operations) to certain types of non-casino locations,
including grocery stores, drug stores, convenience stores, restaurants, bars, taverns, saloons and liquor stores, where gaming is incidental to the primary
business being conducted at the location and games are limited to 15 or fewer gaming devices and no other forms of gaming activity. The gaming area in
these business locations is typically small, and in many instances, segregated from the primary business area, including the use of alcoves in grocery stores
and drug stores and installation of gaming devices into the physical bar (more commonly known as “bar top” gaming devices) in bars, taverns and saloons.
Such segregation provides greater oversight and supervision of the gaming devices. Under Montana law, distributed gaming operations are limited to
business locations licensed to sell alcoholic beverages for on-premises consumption only, with such locations restricted to offering a maximum of 20 gaming
devices.
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Gaming and amusement devices are placed in locations where we believe they will receive maximum customer traffic, generally near a store’s entrance. In
Nevada, we generally enter into three types of gaming device placement contracts as part of our distributed gaming business: space lease, revenue share and
participation agreements. Under space lease agreements, we pay a fixed monthly rental fee for the right to install, maintain and operate our gaming devices at
a business location. Under revenue share agreements, we pay the business location a percentage of the gaming revenue generated from our gaming devices
placed at the location, rather than a fixed monthly rental fee. With regard to both space lease and revenue share agreements, we hold the applicable gaming
license to conduct gaming at the location (although revenue share locations are required to obtain separate regulatory approval to receive a percentage of the
gaming revenue). Under participation agreements, the business location holds the applicable gaming license and retains a percentage of the gaming revenue
that it generates from our gaming devices. In Montana, our gaming and amusement device placement contracts are all revenue share agreements.
Our branded taverns offer a casually upscale environment catering to local patrons offering superior food, beer and other alcoholic beverages and typically
include 15 onsite gaming devices. As of December 31, 2016, we operated 53 taverns, which offered approximately 850 onsite gaming devices. Most of our
taverns are located in the greater Las Vegas, Nevada metropolitan area and cater to locals seeking to avoid the congestion of the Las Vegas Strip. Our tavern
brands include PT’s Pub, PT’s Gold, PT’s Place, PT’s Brewing Company, Sierra Gold, SG Bar and Sean Patrick’s. Our taverns also serve as an incubator for
new games and technology that can then be rolled out to our third party distributed gaming customers within the segment and to our Casinos segment. We
also opened our first brewery in Las Vegas, PT’s Brewing Company, during the first quarter of 2016 to produce craft beer for our taverns and casinos, as well
as other establishments licensed to sell liquor for on-premises consumption.
Casinos
We own and operate Rocky Gap in Flintstone, Maryland and, as a result of the Merger, three casinos in Pahrump, Nevada: Pahrump Nugget, Gold Town
Casino and Lakeside Casino & RV Park. Pahrump is located approximately 60 miles from Las Vegas and is a gateway to Death Valley National Park. All of
our casinos emphasize gaming device play.
We acquired Rocky Gap in August 2012, and converted the then-existing convention center into a gaming facility which opened to the public in May 2013.
Rocky Gap is situated on approximately 270 acres in the Rocky Gap State Park, which are leased from the Maryland DNR under a 40-year operating ground
lease expiring in 2052 (plus a 20-year option renewal). As of December 31, 2016, Rocky Gap offered 662 gaming devices, 17 table games, two casino bars,
three restaurants, a spa and the only Jack Nicklaus signature golf course in Maryland. Rocky Gap is a AAA Four Diamond Award® winning resort with
approximately 200 hotel rooms, as well as an event and conference center that opened in the fourth quarter of 2013.
As of December 31, 2016, our Pahrump Nugget casino offered 453 gaming devices, as well as 11 table games (which include three live poker tables), a race
and sports book, a 208-seat bingo facility and a bowling center. Pahrump Nugget is our largest property in the Nevada market with approximately 70 hotel
rooms. As of December 31, 2016, our Gold Town Casino offered 238 gaming devices and a 125-seat bingo facility. Our Lakeside Casino & RV Park offered
190 gaming devices and a recreational vehicle park surrounding a lake with approximately 160 RV hook-up sites as of December 31, 2016.
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Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Year Ended
December 31,
2015

December 31,
2016

December 28,
2014

(In thousands)

Net Revenues
Distributed Gaming
Casinos
Corporate and Other

$

Operating Expenses
Distributed Gaming
Casinos
Corporate and Other

305,792
97,132
280
403,204

$

238,788
51,533
11
290,332
68,155
614
—
54
—
—
—
2,471
1,037
27,506
390,169

Selling, general and administrative
Merger expenses
Gain on disposition of notes receivable
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment
Gain on sale of investment
Arbitration award costs
Impairments and other losses
Preopening expenses
Executive severance and sign-on bonuses
Depreciation and amortization
Total expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Total non-operating expense, net
Income tax benefit
Net income (loss)

$

13,035
(1,060 )
4,325
16,300

$

103,610
73,245
187
177,042

$

—
55,021
151
55,172

80,340
40,520
9
120,869
38,708
11,525
(23,590 )
16
(750 )
—
682
421
—
10,798
158,679

—
31,915
—
31,915
22,084
482
—
(7 )
(2,391 )
2,530
20,997
—
—
3,513
79,123

18,363
(3,812 )
9,969
24,520

(23,951 )
(894 )
—
(24,845 )

$

Year Ended December 31, 2016 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2015
Net Revenues
The increase in net revenues resulted primarily from the inclusion in 2016 of a full year of net revenues related to the distributed gaming and casino
businesses acquired on July 31, 2015 in the Merger (compared to five months of the prior year period), as well as the addition of the distributed gaming
businesses acquired during the first half of 2016 in the Montana Acquisitions.
The increase in net revenues related to our Distributed Gaming segment resulted primarily from the completion of the Merger on July 31, 2015, which
resulted in the inclusion of a full year of net revenues related to Sartini Gaming’s distributed gaming businesses for the year ended December 31, 2016 as well
as net revenues related to the distributed gaming businesses acquired in the Montana Acquisitions, which were consummated during the first half of 2016,
and five taverns opened in the Las Vegas Valley during the year. During the year ended December 31, 2016, we recorded $47.0 million of net revenues in our
Distributed Gaming segment from the operations of the distributed gaming businesses acquired in the Montana Acquisitions. The Montana Acquisitions
added approximately 2,900 gaming devices and over 1,000 amusement games across approximately 300 locations. The net
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revenues related to our Distributed Gaming segment during the prior year period related solely to Sartini Gaming’s distributed gaming business for the five
months subsequent to the completion of the Merger.
The increase in net revenues related to our Casinos segment resulted primarily from the completion of the Merger on July 31, 2015, which resulted in the
inclusion of a full year of net revenues related to Sartini Gaming’s casino businesses for the year ended December 31, 2016 (compared to five months of the
prior year period). Sartini Gaming’s casino businesses contributed net revenues of $34.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to $14.0
million during the prior year period, which included only five months of operations. Additionally, net revenues at Rocky Gap casino increased $3.7 million
compared to the prior year period. At Rocky Gap casino, we expanded our parking capacity to accommodate peak days and increased patron volume, added
approximately 31 gaming devices to the casino floor, and revised marketing efforts to cater to our gaming customers.
Operating Expenses
The increase in operating expenses resulted primarily from the completion of the Merger on July 31, 2015, which resulted in the inclusion of a full year of
operating expenses related to Sartini Gaming’s distributed gaming and casino businesses for the year ended December 31, 2016 (compared to five months of
the prior year period), and operating expenses from the operations of the distributed gaming businesses acquired in the Montana Acquisitions, which were
consummated during the first half of 2016. The increase in operating expenses related to our Distributed Gaming segment was a result of a full year of
gaming, food and beverage, rooms and other operating expenses at our taverns and third party locations. The increase in operating expenses in our Casinos
segment was related primarily to a full year of gaming, food and beverage and other operating expenses at our Pahrump, Nevada casinos.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
The increase in selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses resulted primarily from the inclusion in 2016 of a full year of SG&A expenses related
to the distributed gaming and casino businesses acquired on July 31, 2015 in the Merger, as well as the addition of the distributed gaming businesses
acquired during the first half of 2016 in the Montana Acquisitions. For the year ended December 31, 2016, SG&A expenses included payroll and related
expenses of $26.4 million (including share-based compensation of $3.9 million), marketing and advertising expenses of $3.5 million, building and rent
expense of $15.7 million and professional fees of $5.9 million. Share-based compensation expense increased during the year ended December 31, 2016 due
primarily to $0.9 million of additional expense related to the 1,494,475 stock options and 141,296 restricted stock units granted during the year (including
reversal of expense for forfeitures), $0.5 million in incremental expense related to the acceleration of unvested stock options related to terminated employees
and $0.9 million of incremental expense recorded for the equitable anti-dilutive adjustments made to the exercise prices of outstanding vested and unvested
stock options during the period in accordance with our equity incentive plans. For the year ended December 31, 2015, SG&A expenses included payroll and
related expenses of $16.0 million (including share-based compensation), marketing and advertising expenses of $3.4 million, building and rent expense of
$10.3 million and professional fees of $3.6 million. For the year ended December 31, 2016, corporate-level SG&A was $19.8 million compared to $11.4
million in the prior year period.
Within our Distributed Gaming segment, SG&A expenses were $23.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to $9.0 million for the prior
year period. The increase resulted primarily from the completion of the Merger on July 31, 2015, which resulted in the inclusion of a full year of SG&A
expenses related to Sartini Gaming’s distributed gaming businesses for the year ended December 31, 2016 (compared to five months of the prior year period),
as well as SG&A expenses related to the distributed gaming businesses acquired in the Montana Acquisitions, which were consummated during the first half
of 2016. SG&A expenses related to the Montana Acquisitions were approximately $0.8 million due primarily to building and rent expense, as well as
professional fees. The majority of the segment’s SG&A expense was derived from insurance and payroll and related costs, as well as building and rent
expense specifically at the taverns. The addition of five new taverns during 2016 accounted for incremental SG&A expense for the Distributed Gaming
segment compared to the prior year.
Within our Casinos segment, SG&A expenses were $22.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to $18.3 million for the prior year period.
The increase resulted primarily from the completion of the Merger on July
28

31, 2015, which resulted in the inclusion of a full year of SG&A expenses related to Sartini Gaming’s Pahrump casinos for the year ended December 31, 2016
(compared to five months of the prior year period). The majority of the SG&A expense at our Pahrump casinos was derived from payroll and related costs,
building and rent expense, and promotions for our customers. SG&A expenses at Rocky Gap casino were $13.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2016
compared to $16.4 million for the prior year period. The decrease in SG&A expenses at Rocky Gap was a result of cost reduction efforts in marketing and
advertising, building expenses, and payroll and related costs.
Merger Expenses
We incurred approximately $0.6 million in transaction-related costs associated with the Merger and our obligations under the Merger Agreement during the
year ended December 31, 2016 compared to $11.5 million during the prior year period. Merger expenses consisted primarily of severance, financial advisor,
legal, accounting and consulting costs. We do not expect material transaction-related costs associated with the Merger going forward.
Preopening Expenses
Non-capital costs associated with the opening of tavern and casino locations are expensed as incurred. Preopening costs consist of labor, food, utilities,
training, rent and organizational costs incurred. During the year ended December 31, 2016, preopening expenses were $2.5 million, which related primarily
to costs incurred in connection with the Montana Acquisitions and new tavern locations in Las Vegas, Nevada. During the year ended December 31, 2015,
preopening expenses were $0.4 million in connection with new tavern locations in Las Vegas, Nevada.
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation was $20.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to $8.5 million for the prior year period. The increase was due primarily to
depreciation of the assets acquired pursuant to the Merger, as well as assets acquired in the Montana Acquisitions. Amortization of intangibles was $7.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2016, which related primarily to intangible assets acquired in the Merger and the Montana Acquisitions, compared
to $2.3 million for the prior year period.
Non-Operating Expense, Net
Non-operating expense, net was $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to $3.8 million for the prior year period. The decrease in nonoperating expense, net, was driven primarily by a $3.7 million increase in interest expense compared to the prior year period, related to our entering into the
Credit Agreement in July 31, 2015 in connection with the Merger and the level of indebtedness thereunder, offset by a gain on sale of land of $4.5 million.
Non-operating expense, net for the prior year period included $1.2 million related to a loss on extinguishment of debt.
Income Taxes
Income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2016 was approximately $4.3 million, attributed primarily to a partial release of the valuation
allowance. The release was the result of positive evidence that the Company will more likely than not be able to utilize some of its deferred tax assets.
Income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2015 was approximately $10.0 million, primarily related to the release of a valuation allowance resulting
from the assumption of a $14.7 million net deferred tax liability generated from intangible assets acquired in the Merger. Our effective tax rate was (36.1) %
for the year ended December 31, 2016, which differed from the federal tax rate of 35% due to the release in valuation allowance in the fourth quarter of 2016.
Our effective tax rate was (68.4)% for the year ended December 31, 2015, which differed from the federal tax rate of 35% due to the $10.2 million release of
the valuation allowance and the limitation of the income tax benefit due to the uncertainty of its future realization.
As of December 31, 2016, we evaluated all available positive and negative evidence related to our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets. We considered the
expected future book income (losses), taxable loss carryforward potential
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and other factors in reaching the conclusion that the deferred tax assets were expected to be realized, and that therefore, the valuation allowance against the
deferred tax assets required adjustment.
Year Ended December 31, 2015 Compared to Year Ended December 28, 2014
Net Revenues
Net revenues were $177.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $55.2 million for the prior year period. The increase resulted primarily
from the completion of the Merger on July 31, 2015, which resulted in the inclusion of five months of net revenues related to Sartini Gaming’s distributed
gaming and casino businesses during 2015.
Net revenues related to our Distributed Gaming segment were $103.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, all of which related to Sartini Gaming’s
distributed gaming business acquired through the Merger. There were no net revenues related to our Distributed Gaming segment during the prior year
period.
Net revenues related to our Casinos segment were $73.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $55.0 million for the prior year period.
The increase resulted primarily from the completion of the Merger on July 31, 2015, which resulted in the inclusion of approximately $14.0 million of net
revenues related to Sartini Gaming’s casino business during 2015, as well as an increase of approximately $4.2 million in net revenues related to our Rocky
Gap casino compared to the prior year period.
Operating Expenses
Operating expenses were $120.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $31.9 million for the prior year period. The increase resulted
primarily from the completion of the Merger on July 31, 2015, which resulted in the inclusion of five months of property operating expenses related to Sartini
Gaming’s distributed gaming and casino businesses during 2015. Included in gaming expenses and food and beverage expenses for the year ended December
31, 2015 were $72.0 million and $14.5 million, respectively, related to Sartini Gaming’s distributed gaming and casino businesses. Operating expenses
comprise gaming, food and beverage, rooms and other operating expenses.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
SG&A expenses were $38.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $22.1 million for the prior year period. The increase resulted
primarily from the completion of the Merger on July 31, 2015, which resulted in the inclusion of five months of SG&A expenses related to Sartini Gaming’s
distributed gaming and casino businesses during 2015.
For the year ended December 31, 2015, SG&A expenses included payroll and related expenses of $16.0 million (including share-based compensation),
marketing and advertising expenses of $3.4 million, building and rent expense of $10.3 million and professional fees of $3.6 million. For the year ended
December 28, 2014, SG&A expenses included payroll and related expenses of $11.3 million (including share-based compensation), marketing and
advertising expenses of $2.5 million, building and rent expense of $2.6 million, professional fees of $2.3 million and business development expenses of $0.8
million. For the year ended December 31, 2015, corporate-level SG&A was $11.4 million compared to $7.6 million in the prior year.
Within our Distributed Gaming segment, SG&A expenses were $9.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. There were no SG&A expenses related to
our Distributed Gaming segment during the prior year period.
Within our Casinos segment, SG&A expenses were $18.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $15.0 million for the prior year period.
The increase resulted primarily from the completion of the Merger on July 31, 2015, which resulted in the inclusion of approximately $3.7 million of SG&A
expenses related to Sartini Gaming’s casino business during 2015.
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Merger Expenses
We incurred approximately $11.5 million in transaction-related costs associated with the Merger during the year ended December 31, 2015, compared to $0.5
million during the prior year period. Merger expenses consisted primarily of severance, financial advisor, legal, accounting and consulting costs.
Disposition of Notes Receivable
In December 2015, we sold our $60.0 million Jamul Note to a subsidiary of Penn National for $24.0 million in cash. We determined the fair value of our notes
receivable from the Jamul Tribe to be zero as of December 28, 2014. As a result of the sale of the Jamul Note, we recognized a gain on recovery of impaired
notes receivable of approximately $23.6 million during the fourth quarter of 2015.
Gain on Sale of Investment
In January 2015, we sold our 10% ownership interest in Rock Ohio Ventures, a cost basis investee, for approximately $0.8 million. We had previously
determined the fair value of our Rock Ohio investment to be zero. As a result of the sale of our interest in Rock Ohio Ventures, we recognized a gain on sale
of cost method investment of approximately $0.8 million during the first quarter of 2015.
In April 2014, a portion of our 20% ownership interest in Dania Entertainment Holdings, LLC (“Dania Entertainment”) was redeemed for $1.0 million, and in
October 2014 we sold the remainder of our interest in Dania Entertainment for approximately $1.4 million. We had previously determined the fair value of
our Dania Entertainment investment to be zero. As a result of the redemption and sale of our interest in Dania Entertainment, we recognized a gain on sale of
cost method investment of approximately $2.4 million.
Arbitration Award Costs
In September 2014, we received notice of final award in the matter of Jerry Argovitz v. Lakes Entertainment, Inc. and Lakes Shingle Springs, Inc. awarding
Mr. Argovitz approximately $2.4 million. As a result, we recognized an expense of approximately $2.5 million, which included $0.1 million of legal fees.
Impairments and Other Losses
In May 2015, we sold our former corporate headquarters office building located in Minnetonka, Minnesota for approximately $4.7 million, less approximate
fees and closing costs of $0.3 million. The building was carried at $4.8 million, net of accumulated depreciation, on our consolidated balance sheet as of the
date of the sale agreement in March 2015. As a result, we recognized an impairment charge of $0.4 million.
During 2014, we recognized impairments and other losses of $21.0 million related to our investment in Rock Ohio Ventures. Based on information provided
by Rock Ohio Ventures, we determined that there was significant uncertainty surrounding the recovery of our investment in Rock Ohio Ventures. As a result,
we determined that an other-than-temporary impairment had occurred and reduced the carrying value of the investment to its estimated fair value of zero as of
December 28, 2014.
Preopening Expenses
During the year ended December 31, 2015, preopening expenses were $0.4 million, which related primarily to costs incurred in connection with the opening
of new taverns in Las Vegas, Nevada. There were no preopening expenses during the year ended December 28, 2014.
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Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation was $8.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $3.4 million for the prior year period. The increase was due primarily to
depreciation of the assets acquired pursuant to the Merger. Amortization of intangibles was $2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, which related
to intangible assets acquired in the Merger, compared to $0.1 million for the prior year period.
Non-Operating Expense, Net
Non-operating expense, net was $3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $0.9 million for the prior year period. The increase related
primarily to $1.8 million in interest expense incurred under the Credit Agreement that we entered into on July 31, 2015, as well as a loss on extinguishment
of debt of $1.2 million related to the repayment of our former financing facility with Centennial Bank for Rocky Gap.
Income Taxes
Income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2015 was approximately $10.0 million, which related primarily to the reversal of valuation allowances
for deferred tax assets resulting from the assumption of $14.7 million of net deferred tax liabilities in the Merger. There was no income tax benefit for the
prior year period because there was no remaining potential to carry back losses to prior years and future realization of the benefit was uncertain. Our effective
tax rate was (68.4)% for the year ended December 31, 2015, which differed from the federal tax rate of 35% due to the $10.2 million release of the valuation
allowance and the limitation of the income tax benefit due to the uncertainty of its future realization. Our effective tax rate for the year ended December 28,
2014 was 0%, which differed from the federal tax rate of 35% due primarily to the limitation of the income tax benefit due to the uncertainty of its future
realization.
As of December 31, 2015, we evaluated all available positive and negative evidence related to our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets. We considered the
expected future book income (losses), lack of taxable loss carryback potential and other factors in reaching the conclusion that the deferred tax assets were
not currently expected to be realized, and that therefore the valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets continued to be appropriate as of December
31, 2015.
Non-GAAP Measures
To supplement our consolidated financial statements presented in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), we use
Adjusted EBITDA, a measure we believe is appropriate to provide meaningful comparison with, and to enhance an overall understanding of, our past
financial performance and prospects for the future. We believe Adjusted EBITDA provides useful information to both management and investors by
excluding specific expenses and gains that we believe are not indicative of our core operating results. Further, Adjusted EBITDA is a measure of operating
performance used by management, as well as industry analysts, to evaluate operations and operating performance and is widely used in the gaming industry.
The presentation of this additional information is not meant to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of financial performance prepared in
accordance with GAAP. In addition, other companies in our industry may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do. A reconciliation of net income
(loss) to Adjusted EBITDA is provided in the table below.
We define “Adjusted EBITDA” as earnings before interest and other non-operating income (expense), income taxes, depreciation and amortization,
preopening expenses, Merger expenses, share-based compensation expenses, executive severance and sign-on bonuses, impairments and other gains and
losses.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss):
Year Ended
December 31,
2015

December 31,
2016

December 28,
2014

(In thousands)

Adjusted EBITDA
Merger expenses
Disposition of notes receivable
Gain (loss) on disposal of property and equipment
Gain on sale of investment
Arbitration award costs
Impairments and other losses
Share-based compensation
Preopening expenses
Executive severance and sign-on bonuses
Depreciation and amortization
Income (loss) from operations
Non-operating income (expense)
Interest expense, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Gain on sale of land held for sale
Other, net
Total non-operating expense, net

$

Income (loss) before income tax benefit
Income tax benefit
Net income (loss)

$

48,595
(614 )
—
(54 )
—
—
—
(3,878 )
(2,471 )
(1,037 )
(27,506 )
13,035

$

18,274
(11,525 )
23,590
(16 )
750
—
(682 )
(809 )
(421 )
—
(10,798 )
18,363

(6,454 )
—
4,525
869
(1,060 )

(2,728 )
(1,174 )
—
90
(3,812 )

11,975
4,325
16,300

14,551
9,969
24,520

$

$

1,443
(482 )
—
7
2,391
(2,530 )
(20,997 )
(270 )
—
—
(3,513 )
(23,951 )
(1,058 )
—
—
164
(894 )

$

(24,845 )
—
(24,845 )

Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of December 31, 2016, we had $46.9 million in cash and cash equivalents and no short-term investments. We currently believe that our cash and cash
equivalents, cash flows from operations and borrowing availability under our Revolving Credit Facility will be sufficient to meet our capital requirements
during the next 12 months.
Our operating results and performance depend significantly on national, regional and local economic conditions and their effect on consumer spending.
Declines in consumer spending would cause revenues generated in both our Distributed Gaming and Casinos segments to be adversely affected.
To further enhance our liquidity position or to finance any future acquisition or other business investment initiatives, we may obtain additional financing,
which could consist of debt, convertible debt or equity financing from public and/or private credit and capital markets. In June 2016, we filed a universal
shelf registration statement with the SEC for the future sale of up to $150 million in aggregate amount of common stock, preferred stock, debt securities,
warrants and units. The securities may be offered from time to time, separately or together, directly by us or through underwriters, dealers or agents at
amounts, prices, interest rates and other terms to be determined at the time of the offering.
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Cash Flows
Net cash provided by operating activities was $37.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to $9.3 million for the prior year period, which
increase was primarily due to the flow-through effect of higher revenues and decreased Merger expenses, offset by increased interest expense and timing of
working capital spending. Operating cash flows increased $8.1 million in 2015 compared to 2014 primarily due to the flow-through effect of higher revenues,
as well as the timing of working capital spending.
Net cash used in investing activities was $71.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to net cash provided by investing activities of $90.0
million for the prior year period. In 2016, net cash used in investing activities included the acquisition of distributed gaming businesses in Montana and
higher capital expenditures for property and equipment. The prior year included the cash acquired in the Merger, proceeds from sales and maturities of shortterm investments and sale of the Jamul Tribe notes receivable, partly offset by purchases of short-term investments. In 2014, cash used in investing activities
was $2.1 million related primarily to capital expenditures, partially offset by the net purchase, maturity and sales of short-term investments.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $11.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to net cash used in financing activities of $65.6
million for the prior year period. Cash provided by financing activities in the current year benefited from net borrowings of $36.5 million under our Credit
Agreement, partly offset by the $23.5 million special dividend paid in July 2016. Cash used in financing activities in the prior year was negatively affected
by net repayments of $59.6 million under our senior secured credit facilities, debt issuance costs of $2.8 million and $3.4 million related to the repurchase of
warrants related to the Merger. Cash used in financing activities in 2014 related primarily to repayments on our senior secured credit facilities.
Credit Agreement
As of December 31, 2016, our senior secured credit facilities under our Credit Agreement consisted of $160.0 million in senior secured term loans (“Term
Loans”) and a $50.0 million Revolving Credit Facility (together with the Term Loan facility, the “Facilities”). As of December 31, 2016, we had $150.0
million in principal amount of outstanding Term Loan borrowings and $30.0 million in principal amount of outstanding borrowings under our Revolving
Credit Facility. The Facilities mature on July 31, 2020.
Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest, at our option, at either (1) the highest of the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, the Eurodollar rate for a onemonth interest period plus 1.00%, or the administrative agent’s prime rate as announced from time to time, or (2) the Eurodollar rate for the applicable interest
period, plus, in each case, an applicable margin based on our leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2016, the weighted average effective interest rate on our
outstanding borrowings under the Credit Agreement was approximately 3.3%.
Outstanding borrowings under the Term Loans at December 31, 2016 will be repaid in seven quarterly payments of $3.0 million each (commencing on March
31, 2017), followed by four quarterly payments of $4.0 million each (commencing on December 31, 2018), followed by three quarterly payments of $6.0
million each (commencing on December 31, 2019), followed by a final installment of $95.0 million at maturity on July 31, 2020. Any unpaid principal
amount of the Revolving Credit Facility is due at maturity. The commitment fee for the Revolving Credit Facility is payable quarterly at a rate of between
0.25% and 0.30%, depending on our leverage ratio, and accrued based on the average daily amount of the available revolving commitment.
The Credit Agreement is guaranteed by all of our present and future direct and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries (other than certain insignificant or
unrestricted subsidiaries), and is secured by substantially all of our and the subsidiary guarantors’ present and future personal and real property (subject to
receipt of certain approvals).
Under the Credit Agreement, we and our subsidiaries are subject to certain limitations, including limitations on our ability to: incur additional debt, grant
liens, sell assets, make certain investments, pay dividends and make certain other restricted payments. In addition, we will be required to pay down the
Facilities under certain circumstances if we or any of our subsidiaries sell assets or property, issue debt or receive certain extraordinary receipts. The Credit
Agreement contains financial covenants regarding a maximum leverage ratio and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio. The Credit Agreement also
prohibits the occurrence of a change of control, which includes the acquisition of
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beneficial ownership of 30% or more of our equity securities (other than by certain permitted holders, which include, among others, Blake L. Sartini, Lyle A.
Berman and certain affiliated entities) and a change in a majority of the members of our Board of Directors that is not approved by the Board. If we default
under the Credit Agreement due to a covenant breach or otherwise, the lenders may be entitled to, among other things, require the immediate repayment of all
outstanding amounts and sell our assets to satisfy the obligations thereunder. We were in compliance with our financial covenants under the Credit
Agreement as of December 31, 2016.
Sale of Jamul Tribe Promissory Note
On December 9, 2015, we sold our $60.0 million Jamul Note to a subsidiary of Penn National for approximately $24.0 million in cash. We determined the fair
value of the Jamul Note to be zero as of December 28, 2014. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement and subject to applicable law, we agreed that the
proceeds received from the sale of the Jamul Note, net of related costs, would be distributed in a special cash dividend to our shareholders holding shares as
of the record date for such dividend (other than shareholders that had waived their right to receive such dividend). Under the terms of the Merger Agreement,
Sartini Gaming’s former sole shareholder, for itself and any related party transferees of its shares, waived their right to receive such dividend with respect to
their shares (which totaled 7,996,393 shares in the aggregate). Also in connection with the Merger, holders of an additional 457,172 shares waived their right
to receive such dividend. On June 17, 2016, our Board of Directors approved and declared the Special Dividend to the eligible shareholders of record on the
close of business on the Record Date of June 30, 2016 of cash in the aggregate amount of approximately $23.5 million, which was paid on July 14, 2016. The
$1.71 per share amount of the Special Dividend was calculated by dividing the aggregate amount of the Special Dividend by 13,759,374 outstanding shares
of common stock held by eligible shareholders on the close of business on the Record Date (rounded down to the nearest whole cent per share).
In connection with the Special Dividend and in accordance with our equity incentive plans approved by our shareholders, equitable anti-dilutive
adjustments were made to the exercise prices of outstanding stock options to purchase shares of our common stock in order to preserve the value of such
stock options following the Special Dividend. Accordingly, effective as of the close of business on the dividend payment date of July 14, 2016, the exercise
price of each stock option under our equity incentive plans outstanding on the Record Date was reduced by $1.71 per share. See Note 10, Share-Based
Compensation, in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information on our anti-dilutive adjustments to the outstanding stock options.
Other Items Affecting Liquidity
We currently believe that our cash and cash equivalents, cash flows from operations and borrowing availability under our Revolving Credit Facility will be
sufficient to meet our capital requirements for the next twelve months. Any additional financing that is needed may not be available to us or, if available,
may not be on terms favorable to us. The outcome of the following specific matters, including our commitments and contingencies, may also affect our
liquidity.
Commitments, Capital Spending and Development
We perform on-going refurbishment and maintenance at our facilities, of which certain maintenance costs are capitalized if such improvement or
refurbishment extends the life of the related asset, while other maintenance costs that do not so qualify are expensed as incurred. The commitment of capital
and the related timing thereof are contingent upon, among other things, negotiation of final agreements and receipt of approvals from the appropriate
regulatory bodies. We intend to fund such capital expenditures through our Revolving Credit Facility and operating cash flows.
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Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2016:
2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

Thereafter

(In thousands)

Facilities(1)
Interest on long-term debt (2)
Maryland DNR lease(3)
Gold Town Casino leases(4)
Space lease agreements
Related party leases
Other operating leases(5)
Notes payable and capital lease obligations(6)
Other obligations(7)

$

$

12,000
5,818
425
382
31,957
2,434
10,039
3,752
1,000
67,807

$

$

13,000
5,420
425
388
25,374
2,464
8,914
862
1,000
57,847

$

$

18,000
4,939
425
396
24,740
2,476
8,193
649
—
59,818

$

$

137,000
2,567
425
402
5,555
2,488
8,084
354
—
156,875

$

$

—
—
425
409
2,100
2,501
7,444
94
—
12,973

$

$

—
—
12,998
16,500
1,450
12,243
48,913
36
—
92,140

(1)

As of December 31, 2016, under the Credit Agreement, we had $150.0 million in principal amount of outstanding Term Loans and $30.0 million in
principal amount of outstanding borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility. The Facilities mature on July 31, 2020. See “Liquidity and Capital
Resources – Credit Agreement,” above, for a discussion of the Credit Agreement.

(2)

To the extent that applicable interest rates are variable and ultimate amounts borrowed under the Revolving Credit Facility may fluctuate, amounts
reflected represent estimated interest payments on our current outstanding balances based on the weighted average effective interest rate at December
31, 2016 until maturity. Includes interest on notes payable.

(3)

In 2012, we entered into a 40-year operating ground lease with the Maryland DNR for approximately 270 acres in the Rocky Gap State Park in which
Rocky Gap is situated. The lease expires in 2052, with an option to renew for an additional 20 years. Rent payments under the lease include variable
amounts based on Rocky Gap gaming revenue and surcharges on amounts billed to and collected from guests. See Note 15, Commitments and
Contingencies, in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information regarding the lease.

(4)

We lease the approximately nine acres of land on which our Gold Town Casino is located from several unrelated parties.

(5)

We lease taverns, equipment and vehicles under noncancelable operating leases. The terms of the tavern leases range from one to 14 years, with
various renewal options from one to 15 years.

(6)

Relates to notes payable on equipment purchases and previous tavern acquisitions and our capital lease obligations, including total capital lease
interest obligations of $0.1 million.

(7)

Relates to contingent consideration stemming from the Initial Montana Acquisition of up to a total of $2.0 million to be paid in cash in four
quarterly payments beginning in September 2017.

Other Opportunities
We may investigate and pursue expansion opportunities in our existing or new markets. Such expansions will be influenced and determined by a number of
factors, which may include licensing availability and approval, suitable investment opportunities and availability of acceptable financing. Investigation and
pursuit of such opportunities may require us to make substantial investments or incur substantial costs, which we may fund through cash flows from
operations or borrowing availability under our Revolving Credit Facility. To the extent such sources of funds are not sufficient, we may also seek to raise
such additional funds through public or private equity or debt financings or from other sources. No assurance can be given that additional financing will be
available or that, if available, such financing will be obtainable on terms favorable to us. Moreover, we can provide no assurances that the investigation or
pursuit of an opportunity will result in a completed transaction.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Management’s discussion and analysis of our results of operations and liquidity and capital resources are based on our consolidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to the application of the
acquisition method of accounting, long-lived assets, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, revenue recognition and promotional allowances,
income taxes and share-based compensation expenses. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that are
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates.
The following represent our accounting policies that involve the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements. See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information
regarding our significant accounting policies.
Application of the Acquisition Method of Accounting
The application of the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions in the
determination of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in order to appropriately allocate the purchase price consideration between assets
that are depreciated and amortized from goodwill. Accounting for acquisitions requires that assets acquired and liabilities assumed be recorded at their
respective fair values as of the date of acquisition. The fair values of identifiable intangible assets are estimated using both the cost approach and an income
approach, including the excess earnings, relief from royalty, cost savings method and the with-and-without methods. This requires our management to make
significant estimates in determining the fair values, including market participant assumptions, projected financial information, estimates of expected cash
flows, brand recognition, customer attrition rates and discount rates. Given the need for such significant judgments, we may engage the assistance of
independent valuation firms. Any excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
Our estimates of the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but are inherently
unpredictable and uncertain. During the measurement period, which is up to one year from the acquisition date, we may record measurement period
adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with a corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period, any
subsequent adjustments are recorded to earnings. Transaction costs, referred to as Merger expenses if related to the Merger, are expensed as incurred in our
consolidated statement of operations.
On July 31, 2015, we acquired Sartini Gaming through the Merger. We have applied the acquisition method of accounting to this business combination and
finalized the measurement period during the third quarter of 2016. With regard to the Montana Acquisitions, our estimation of the fair value of the assets
acquired, as of the respective dates of the acquisitions, was determined based on certain valuations and analyses that we have yet to finalize, and accordingly,
the assets acquired are subject to adjustment once we complete such analyses. We may record adjustments to the carrying value of the assets acquired with a
corresponding offset to goodwill during the applicable measurement period, which can be up to one year from the date of the consummation of the relevant
acquisition. See Note 3, Merger and Acquisitions, in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information regarding the Merger and Montana
Acquisitions.
Long-Lived Assets
Our long-lived assets were carried at $137.6 million as of December 31, 2016, comprising 32.8% of our consolidated total assets. We evaluate the carrying
value of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. If triggering
events are identified, we then compare the estimated undiscounted future cash flows of such assets to the carrying value of the assets. Any such assets are not
impaired if the undiscounted future cash flows exceed their carrying value. If the
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carrying value exceeds the undiscounted future cash flows, then an impairment charge is recorded, typically measured using a discounted cash flow model,
which is based on the estimated future results of the relevant reporting unit discounted using our weighted-average cost of capital and market indicators of
terminal year free cash flow multiples.
A long-lived asset must be tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable.
Examples include a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which we use the asset, a change in its physical condition, or an unexpected change
in financial performance.
We reconsider changes in circumstances on a frequent basis, as well as whenever a triggering event related to potential impairment has occurred. There are
three generally accepted approaches available in developing an opinion of value: the cost, sales comparison and income approaches. We generally consider
each of these approaches in developing a recommendation of the fair value of the asset; however the reliability of each approach is dependent upon the
availability and comparability of the market data uncovered, as well as the decision-making criteria used by market participants when evaluating an asset.
We will bifurcate our investment and apply the most indicative approach to overall fair valuation, or in some cases, a weighted analysis of any or all of these
methods. Given the need for significant judgements in conducting such valuations, we may engage the assistance of independent valuation firms.
In May 2015, we sold our former corporate headquarters office building located in Minnetonka, Minnesota for approximately $4.7 million, less approximate
fees and closing costs of $0.3 million. The building was carried at $4.8 million, net of accumulated depreciation, on our consolidated balance sheet as of the
date of the sale agreement in March 2015. As a result, we recognized an impairment charge of $0.4 million. No impairment charges related to long-lived
assets were recorded in 2016 or 2014. The amount of any annual or interim impairment could be significant and could have a material adverse effect on our
reported financial results for the period in which the charge is taken.
Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
We review indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill for impairment annually during our fourth quarter and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. We can opt to perform a qualitative assessment to test a reporting unit’s goodwill for
impairment or we can directly perform the two-step impairment test. Based on the qualitative assessment, if we determine that the fair value of a reporting unit
is more likely than not (i.e., a likelihood of more than 50 percent) to be less than its carrying amount, the two-step impairment test will be performed.
In the first step of the impairment test, the current fair value of each reporting unit is estimated using a discounted cash flow model which is then compared to
the carrying value of each reporting unit. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value in step 1 of the impairment test, then step 2 of the
impairment test is performed to determine the implied fair value of goodwill for that reporting unit. If the implied fair value of goodwill is less than the
goodwill allocated for that reporting unit, an impairment loss is recognized.
We consider our Nevada and Montana gaming licenses as indefinite-lived intangible assets that do not require amortization based on our future expectations
to operate our gaming facilities indefinitely as well as our historical experience in renewing these intangible assets at minimal cost. We consider our trade
names related to the Pahrump casinos and taverns as indefinite-lived intangible assets that do not require amortization based on our future expectations to
operate our casinos and taverns indefinitely under these trade names. Rather, these intangible assets are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if
indicators of impairment exist, by comparing the fair value of the recorded assets to their carrying amount. If the carrying amount exceeds their fair value, an
impairment loss is recognized. We complete our testing of our intangible assets prior to assessing our goodwill for possible impairment.
The evaluation of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets requires the use of estimates about future operating results of each reporting unit to
determine the estimated fair value of the reporting unit and the indefinite-lived intangible assets. We must make various assumptions and estimates in
performing our impairment testing. The implied fair value includes estimates of future cash flows (including an allocation of our projected rental obligation
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to our reporting units) that are based on reasonable and supportable assumptions which represent our best estimates of the cash flows expected to result from
the use of the assets including their eventual disposition. Changes in estimates, increases in our cost of capital, reductions in transaction multiples, changes
in operating and capital expenditure assumptions or application of alternative assumptions and definitions could produce significantly different results.
Future cash flow estimates are, by their nature, subjective and actual results may differ materially from our estimates. If our ongoing estimates of future cash
flows are not met, we may have to record impairment charges in future accounting periods. Our estimates of cash flows are based on the current regulatory and
economic climates, recent operating information and budgets of the various properties where we conduct operations. These estimates could be negatively
impacted by changes in federal, state or local regulations, economic downturns, or other events affecting our properties.
Forecasted cash flows (based on our annual operating plan as determined in the fourth quarter) can be significantly impacted by the local economy in which
our reporting units operate. For example, increases in unemployment rates can result in decreased customer visitations and/or lower customer spend per visit.
In addition, the impact of new legislation which approves gaming in nearby jurisdictions or further expands gaming in jurisdictions where our reporting units
currently operate can result in opportunities for us to expand our operations. However, it also has the impact of increasing competition for our established
properties which generally will have a negative effect on those locations’ profitability once competitors become established, as some erosion of revenues
occurs absent an overall increase in customer visitations. Lastly, increases in gaming taxes approved by state regulatory bodies can negatively impact
forecasted cash flows.
Assumptions and estimates about future cash flow levels and multiples by individual reporting units are complex and subjective. They are sensitive to
changes in underlying assumptions and can be affected by a variety of factors, including external factors, such as industry, geopolitical and economic trends,
and internal factors, such as changes in our business strategy, which may reallocate capital and resources to different or new opportunities which management
believes will enhance our overall value but may be to the detriment of an individual reporting unit.
Our annual goodwill impairment analysis, performed using the qualitative assessment option as of the first day of the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2016,
resulted in a conclusion that it was more likely than not that the fair value of our reporting units exceeded their respective carrying values. As a result, we
concluded that the two-step goodwill impairment test was not necessary. Additionally, none of our reporting units incurred goodwill impairment charges
during 2015. If future operating results of our reporting units do not meet current expectations it could cause carrying values of our reporting units to exceed
their fair values in future periods, potentially resulting in a goodwill impairment charge.
Revenue Recognition and Promotional Allowances
We generally enter into three types of gaming device placement contracts as part of our distributed gaming business: space lease, revenue share and
participation agreements. Under space lease agreements, we pay a fixed monthly rental fee for the right to install, maintain and operate our gaming devices at
a business location. Under revenue share agreements, we pay the business location a percentage of the gaming revenue generated from our gaming devices
placed at the location, rather than a fixed monthly rental fee. With regard to both space lease and revenue share agreements, we hold the applicable gaming
license to conduct gaming at the location (although revenue share locations are required to obtain separate regulatory approval to receive a percentage of the
gaming revenue). Under participation agreements, the business location holds the applicable gaming license and retains a percentage of the gaming revenue
that it generates from our gaming devices. In Montana, our gaming and amusement device placement contracts are all revenue share agreements.
Gaming revenue, which is defined as the difference between gaming wins and losses, is recognized as wins and losses occur from gaming activities. The retail
value of rooms, food and beverage, and other services furnished to customers without charge, including coupons for discounts when redeemed, is included in
gross revenues and then deducted as a promotional allowance. The estimated cost of providing such promotional allowances is included in gaming expenses.
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Food, beverage, and retail revenues are recorded at the time of sale. Room revenue is recorded at the time of occupancy. Sales taxes and surcharges collected
from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are presented on a net basis. Accounts receivable deemed uncollectible are charged off through a
provision for uncollectible accounts.
Income Taxes
The determination of our income tax-related account balances requires the exercise of significant judgment by management. Accordingly, we determine
deferred tax assets and liabilities based upon the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in
effect for the year in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Management assesses the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be
recovered from future taxable income and establishes a valuation allowance when management believes recovery is not likely.
We record estimated penalties and interest related to income tax matters, including uncertain tax positions, if any, as a component of income tax expense.
Share-Based Compensation Expense
We have various share-based compensation programs, which provide for equity awards such as stock options and restricted stock units. We use the straightline method to recognize compensation expense associated with share-based awards based on the fair value on the date of grant. Expense is recognized over
the requisite service period related to each award, which is the period between the grant date and the award’s stated vesting term. The fair value of stock
options is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Management makes several assumptions to determine the inputs into the Black-Scholes
option pricing model, including our volatility and expected term assumptions which can significantly affect the fair value of stock options. For restricted
stock units, compensation expense is calculated based on the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. Changes in the assumptions can
materially affect the estimate of the fair value of share-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. The extent of the
impact will depend, in part, on the extent of awards in any given year. All of our stock compensation expense is recorded in selling, general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information regarding recently issued
accounting pronouncements.
Regulation and Taxes
The distributed gaming and casino industries are subject to extensive regulation by state gaming authorities. Changes in applicable laws or regulations could
have a material adverse effect on us.
The gaming industry represents a significant source of tax revenues to regulators. From time to time, various federal and state legislators and officials have
proposed changes in tax law, or in the administration of such law, affecting the gaming industry. It is not possible to determine the likelihood of possible
changes in tax law or in the administration of such law. Such changes, if adopted, could have a material adverse effect on our future financial position, results
of operations, cash flows and prospects. See the “Regulation” section included in Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion of
applicable regulations.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, revenues or
expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is material to investors.
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ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our primary exposure to market risk is interest rate risk associated with our variable rate long-term debt. As of December 31, 2016, approximately 97% of our
indebtedness for borrowed money accrued interest at a variable rate, which primarily comprised our indebtedness under the Credit Agreement.
As of December 31, 2016, we had $180.0 million in principal amount of outstanding borrowings under the Credit Agreement. Our primary interest rate under
the Credit Agreement is the Eurodollar rate plus an applicable margin that is based on our total leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2016, the weighted
average effective interest rate on our outstanding borrowings under the Credit Agreement was approximately 3.3%. Assuming the outstanding balance
remained constant over a year, a 50 basis point increase in the interest rate would increase interest incurred, prior to effects of capitalized interest, by $0.9
million over a twelve-month period.
As of December 31, 2016, our investment portfolio included $46.9 million in cash and cash equivalents. As of December 31, 2016, we did not hold any shortterm investments.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Board of Directors
Golden Entertainment, Inc.
Las Vegas, Nevada
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Golden Entertainment, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2016 and
2015, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive earnings (loss), shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 2016, and the accompanying Schedule II identified in the Index to Item 15.
We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on the criteria established in Internal Control
— Integrated Framework (2013 edition) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's
management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements and for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying “Management's Annual Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting.” Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audits.
As permitted by Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Release No. 34-47986 and described in “Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting,” management excluded from its assessment the internal control over financial reporting related to the operations of the Montana
Acquisitions (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements). Accordingly, as also permitted by Release No. 34-47986, those operations were excluded
from the scope of our audit of internal control over financial reporting.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Except as set forth in the preceding paragraph, our audit of internal control over
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's principal executive and principal
financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company's board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of the inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal con trol over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that a material misstatement of the company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. A material weakness
has been identified. The material weakness consists of the untimely preparation and review of account reconciliations, and related insufficient staffing to
compensate for demands during the fourth quarter which were under estimated and partially unanticipated as described in management’s assessment and
other information in ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
The material weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
and Schedule II for the year ended December 31, 2016, of the Company, and our opinion on such financial statements and Schedule II was not affected by the
adverse opinion on internal control over financial reporting contained in the following paragraph.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the consolidated results of its operations and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2016, and the information presented in Schedule II of Item 15, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Also, in our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness described above on the achievement of the objectives of its control criteria, the Company
did not maintain, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, excluding the internal control over
financial reporting of the Montana Acquisitions based on the criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013 edition) issued by COSO.
/s/ Piercy Bowler Taylor & Kern
Piercy Bowler Taylor & Kern
Certified Public Accountants
Las Vegas, Nevada
March 15, 2017
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GOLDEN ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands)
December 31, 2016
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Income taxes receivable
Prepaid expenses
Inventories
Other
Total current assets

$

46,898
6,697
2,340
9,761
2,605
1,346
69,647

December 31, 2015

$

69,177
3,033
2,078
6,005
2,439
912
83,644

Property and equipment, net

137,581

114,309

Other assets
Goodwill
Customer relationships, net
Other intangible assets, net
Land held for sale
Other
Total other assets
Total assets

105,655
71,168
27,435
—
7,592
211,850
419,078

96,288
57,456
23,368
960
2,759
180,831
378,784

$

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued taxes, other than income taxes
Accrued payroll and related
Other accrued expenses
Total current liabilities

$

Long-term debt, net
Deferred income taxes
Other long-term obligations
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)
Shareholders' equity
Common stock, $.01 par value; authorized 100,000 shares; 22,232 and 21,868 common shares issued
and outstanding, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders' equity
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

$

15,752
11,739
3,024
3,478
3,846
37,839

$

9,180
8,237
831
3,494
3,604
25,346

167,690
38
4,085
209,652

136,918
4,471
1,564
168,299

223
290,157
(80,954 )
209,426
419,078

219
283,991
(73,725 )
210,485
378,784

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

$

GOLDEN ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(In thousands, except per share data)

December 31, 2016
Revenues
Gaming
Food and beverage
Rooms
Other operating
Gross revenues
Less: Promotional allowances
Net revenues

$

Expenses
Gaming
Food and beverage
Rooms
Other operating
Selling, general and administrative
Merger expenses
Disposition of notes receivable
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment
Gain on sale of investment
Arbitration award costs
Impairments and other losses
Preopening expenses
Executive severance and sign-on bonuses
Depreciation and amortization
Total expenses
Income (loss) from operations

346,039
58,659
7,853
11,844
424,395
(21,191)
403,204

Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2015
$

248,075
35,355
1,336
5,566
68,155
614
—
54
—
—
—
2,471
1,037
27,506
390,169
13,035

Non-operating income (expense)
Interest expense, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Gain on sale of land held for sale
Other, net
Total non-operating expense, net
Income (loss) before income tax benefit
Income tax benefit
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss)

$

Weighted-average common shares outstanding
Basic
Dilutive impact of stock options
Diluted

(6,454)
—
4,525
869
(1,060)
11,975
4,325
16,300
—
16,300

$

22,135
319
22,454

Net income (loss) per share
Basic
Diluted

$
$

0.74
0.73

$

$
$

43,458
6,157
6,289
2,452
58,356
(3,184)
55,172

98,268
19,373
968
2,260
38,708
11,525
(23,590)
16
(750)
—
682
421
—
10,798
158,679
18,363

25,031
4,771
694
1,419
22,084
482
—
(7)
(2,391)
2,530
20,997
—
—
3,513
79,123
(23,951)

(2,728)
(1,174)
—
90
(3,812)
14,551
9,969
24,520
22
24,542

(1,058)
—
—
164
(894)
(24,845)
—
(24,845)
(22)
(24,867)

$

16,878
225
17,103

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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148,447
25,584
6,814
5,079
185,924
(8,882)
177,042

December 28, 2014

1.45
1.43

13,379
—
13,379
$
$

(1.86)
(1.86)

GOLDEN ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
(In thousands)

Common stock
Shares
Par Value

Balances, December 29, 2013
Issuance of common stock pursuant to
share-based compensation awards
Effect of share-based compensation
Other comprehensive loss
Effect of reverse stock split
Net loss
Balances, December 28, 2014
Issuance of common stock pursuant to
share-based compensation awards
Effect of share-based compensation
Other comprehensive income
Effect of Merger
Net income
Balances, December 31, 2015
Issuance of common stock pursuant to
share-based compensation awards
Effect of share-based compensation
Share issuance related to business
combination
Special Dividend ($1.71 per share)
Net income
Balances, December 31, 2016

26,721

$

267

Additional
Paid-In Capital

$

205,212 $

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Shareholders'
Equity

Accumulated
Deficit

—

$

(73,400 ) $

132,079

56
—
—
(13,388 )
—
13,389

1
—
—
(134 )
—
134

133
270
—
134
—
205,749

—
—
(22 )
—
—
(22 )

—
—
—
—
(24,845 )
(98,245 )

134
270
(22 )
—
(24,845 )
107,616

25
—
—
8,454
—
21,868

—
—
—
85
—
219

168
809
—
77,265
—
283,991

—
—
22
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
24,520
(73,725 )

168
809
22
77,350
24,520
210,485

314
—

3
—

1,789
3,878

—
—

50
—
—
22,232

1
—
—
223

499
—
—
290,157 $

—
—
—
—

$

$

—
—

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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—
(23,529 )
16,300
(80,954 ) $

1,792
3,878
500
(23,529 )
16,300
209,426

GOLDEN ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
December 31,
2016
Operating activities
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of debt issuance costs and accretion of debt discount
Accretion and amortization of discounts and premiums on short-term
investments
Share-based compensation
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment
(Gain) loss on extinguishment of debt
Gain on sale of land held for sale
Gain on sale of notes receivable
Impairments and other losses
Deferred income taxes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Income taxes receivable
Other current assets
Accrued taxes, other than income taxes
Accounts payable and other accrued expenses
Other
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
Purchase of property and equipment
Purchase of short-term investments
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Proceeds from sales of short-term investments
Collection on notes receivable
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Financing activities
Net borrowings on Revolving Credit Facility
Repayments of Term Loans
Proceeds from Term Loans
Repayments of notes payable
Dividends paid
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Payments for debt issuance costs
Principal payments under capital leases
Warrant repurchase
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) for the year
Balance, beginning of year
Balance, end of year

$

$

Supplemental cash flow disclosures
Cash paid during the period for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Non-cash investing and financing activities
Notes payable issued for property and equipment
Equipment acquired under capital lease obligations
Common stock issued in connection with acquisition

16,300

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,
2015
$

$

(24,845 )

27,506
732

10,798
525

3,513
503

—
3,878
54
(18 )
(4,525 )
—
—
(4,325 )

240
809
303
1,174
—
(23,590 )
357
(10,216 )

276
270
(7 )
—
—
—
20,997
—

(3,151 )
(3,810 )
(262 )
102
2,193
2,770
(49 )
37,395

1,033
2,035
77
371
6
900
—
9,342

—
—
—
84
(23 )
517
—
1,285

(41,273 )
(30,634 )
—
—
2,985
—
—
(2,198 )
(71,120 )

25,539
(7,946 )
(25,137 )
35,175
4,413
36,182
23,590
(1,767 )
90,049

—
(4,516 )
(73,886 )
70,389
258
5,543
—
67
(2,145 )

5,000
(8,500 )
40,000
(2,061 )
(23,529 )
1,792
(500 )
(756 )
—
11,446

—
(204,560 )
145,000
—
—
168
(2,803 )
—
(3,435 )
(65,630 )

—
(1,755 )
—
—
—
134
—
—
—
(1,621 )

(22,279 )
69,177
46,898

33,761
35,416
69,177

(2,481 )
37,897
35,416

$

$

$

5,721
260

$

2,321
170

$

701
—

$

721
2,726
500

$

2,838
—
77,350

$

—
—
—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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24,520

December 28,
2014

GOLDEN ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1 – Nature of Business
Golden Entertainment, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) is a diversified group of gaming companies that focus on
distributed gaming (including tavern gaming) and casino and resort operations. On July 31, 2015, the Company acquired Sartini Gaming, Inc. (“Sartini
Gaming”) through the merger of a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company with and into Sartini Gaming, with Sartini Gaming surviving as a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Merger”). The results of operations of Sartini Gaming and its subsidiaries have been included in the Company’s results
subsequent to that date. In connection with the Merger, the Company’s name was changed from Lakes Entertainment, Inc. to Golden Entertainment, Inc. The
Company’s common stock continues to be traded on the NASDAQ Global Market, and the Company’s ticker symbol was changed from “LACO” to “GDEN”
effective August 4, 2015. See Note 3, Merger and Acquisitions, for information regarding the Merger.
The Company conducts its business through two reportable operating segments: Distributed Gaming and Casinos. The Company’s Distributed Gaming
segment involves the installation, maintenance and operation of gaming and amusement devices in certain strategic, high-traffic, non-casino locations (such
as grocery stores, convenience stores, restaurants, bars, taverns, saloons and liquor stores) in Nevada and Montana, and the operation of traditional, branded
taverns targeting local patrons, primarily in the greater Las Vegas, Nevada metropolitan area. The Company’s Casinos segment consists of the Rocky Gap
Casino Resort in Flintstone, Maryland (“Rocky Gap”) and three casinos in Pahrump, Nevada: Pahrump Nugget Hotel Casino (“Pahrump Nugget”), Gold
Town Casino and Lakeside Casino & RV Park.
On January 29, 2016, the Company completed the acquisition of approximately 1,100 gaming devices from a distributed gaming operator in Montana, as
well as certain other non-gaming assets and the right to operate within certain locations (the “Initial Montana Acquisition”). Additionally, on April 22, 2016,
the Company completed the acquisition of approximately 1,800 gaming devices from a second distributed gaming operator in Montana, as well as
amusement devices and other non-gaming assets and the right to operate within certain locations (the “Second Montana Acquisition” and, together with the
Initial Montana Acquisition, the “Montana Acquisitions”). See Note 3, Merger and Acquisitions, for information regarding the Montana Acquisitions.
Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Significant estimates also include preliminary estimates of values assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with business
combinations, including conclusions of useful lives, separate entity values and underlying valuation metrics and methods. These preliminary estimates could
change significantly during the measurement period which can remain open for up to one year after the closing date of the business combination. See Note 3,
Merger and Acquisitions, for further information regarding the Company’s business combinations.
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All material intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Additionally, certain minor reclassifications have been made to the prior year period amounts to conform
to the current presentation.
Effective September 10, 2014, the Company implemented a 1-for-2 reverse split of its common stock where each two shares of issued and outstanding
common stock were converted into one share of common stock. The reverse split reduced the number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding
from approximately 26.8 million to
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13.4 million at such date. The par value of the common stock remains at $0.01 per share and the number of authorized shares of common stock decreased
from 200 million to 100 million. Proportional adjustments were also made to the Company’s outstanding stock options. All share informatio n presented in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K gives effect to the reverse stock split.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include highly-liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. Although these balances may at times exceed
the federal insured deposit limit, the Company believes such risk is mitigated by the quality of the institution holding such deposit.
Inventory
Inventories consist primarily of food and beverage and retail items and are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the average cost
inventory method.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. A significant amount of the Company’s property and equipment was acquired
through business acquisitions and therefore was initially recognized at fair value on the effective dates of the transactions. Depreciation of property and
equipment is computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:
Building and site improvements
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

5 - 45 years
1 - 15 years
1 - 28 years

The Company owns parcels of land and performs an impairment analysis on the land it owns at least quarterly to determine if an impairment has occurred.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the purchase price in excess of fair values assigned to the underlying net assets of the acquired company. Goodwill is assigned to the
reporting unit, which is the operating segment level or one level below the operating segment. Goodwill is not amortized but instead is tested for impairment
annually. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized using the straight-line method over the periods estimated to be benefited. Finite-lived intangible
assets are also reviewed for impairment if facts and circumstances warrant. Impairment tests are performed on October 1 st of each year, or more frequently
when negative changes in circumstances are experienced. No indicators of possible impairment have been identified and no impairment charges have been
recorded.
Rewards Programs
The Company has established a Rewards Club promotional program at Rocky Gap to encourage repeat business from frequent customers. Rewards Club
casino player relationships represent loyalty program members who earn points based on play and amounts spent on the purchase of rooms, food, beverage
and resort activities, such points are redeemable for complimentary slot play and free goods and services at Rocky Gap’s hotel, restaurants, spa and golf
course.
The Company also offers a Gold Mine Rewards promotional program at its Nevada casinos to encourage repeat business from frequent customers. The close
proximity of the Company’s three Nevada casino properties allows it to leverage the convenience of a one-card player rewards system, where reward points
and other benefits can be earned and redeemed across all three of the Company’s Nevada casinos via a single card. Gold Mine Rewards casino player
relationships represent loyalty program members who earn points based on play and retail purchases, which are redeemable for food, beverages and hotel
rooms, among other items.
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In its Distributed Gaming segment, the Company offers a Golden Rewards promotional program for its taverns. Golden Rewards tavern player relationships
represent loyalty program members who earn points based on play and amounts spent on the purchase of food and beverage, which points are redeemable for
complimentary slot play, food and beverages, among other items.
The Company records a liability based on the value of points earned, less an estimate for points not expected to be redeemed (“breakage”). The Company
records net points earned for complimentary gaming play as a reduction to gaming revenue and points earned for free goods and services as promotional
allowances. Historical data is used to assist in the determination of the estimated accruals. The Rewards Club, Gold Mine Rewards and Golden Rewards point
accrual are included in current liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
Long-Term Debt, Net
Long-term debt, net is reported as the outstanding debt amount net of unamortized debt issuance costs, which include legal and other direct costs related to
the issuance of the Company’s outstanding debt, is recorded as a direct reduction to the face amount of the Company’s outstanding debt. The debt issuance
costs are accreted to interest expense using the effective interest method over the contractual term of the underlying debt. In the event that the Company’s
debt is modified, repurchased or otherwise reduced prior to its original maturity date, the Company ratably reduces the unamortized debt issuance costs and
discount and records a loss on extinguishment of debt.
Revenue Recognition and Promotional Allowances
The Company generally enters into three types of gaming device placement contracts as part of the distributed gaming business: space lease, revenue share
and participation agreements. Under space lease agreements, the Company pays a fixed monthly rental fee for the right to install, maintain and operate the
Company’s gaming devices at a business location. Under these agreements, the Company recognizes all gaming revenue and records fixed monthly rental
fees as gaming expenses in the consolidated statement of operations. Under revenue share agreements, the Company pays the business location a percentage
of the gaming revenue generated from the Company’s gaming devices placed at the location, rather than a fixed monthly rental fee. With regard to both space
lease and revenue share agreements, the Company holds the applicable gaming license to conduct gaming at the location (although revenue share locations
are required to obtain separate regulatory approval to receive a percentage of the gaming revenue). Under participation agreements, the business location
holds the applicable gaming license and retains a percentage of the gaming revenue that it generates from the Company’s gaming devices. In Montana, the
Company’s gaming and amusement device placement contracts are all revenue share agreements.
Gaming revenue, which is defined as the difference between gaming wins and losses, is recognized as wins and losses occur from gaming activities. The retail
value of rooms, food and beverage, and other services furnished to customers without charge, including coupons for discounts when redeemed, is included in
gross revenues and then deducted as a promotional allowance. The estimated cost of providing such promotional allowances is included in gaming expenses.
Food, beverage, and retail revenues are recorded at the time of sale. Room revenue is recorded at the time of occupancy. Sales taxes and surcharges collected
from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are presented on a net basis. Accounts receivable deemed uncollectible are charged off through a
provision for uncollectible accounts. No material amounts were deemed uncollectible during fiscal years 2016, 2015 or 2014.
Gaming Taxes
Rocky Gap is subject to gaming taxes based on gross gaming revenues and also pays an annual flat tax based on the number of table games and video lottery
terminals in operation during the year. The Company’s Pahrump casinos are subject to taxes based on gross gaming revenues and pay annual fees based on
the number of slot machines and table games licensed during the year. Additionally, in Nevada, the Company’s distributed gaming operations are subject to
taxes based on the Company’s share of non-restricted gross gaming revenue for those locations that have grandfathered rights to more than 15 gaming
devices for play, and/or annual and quarterly fees at all tavern and third
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party distributed gaming locations. The Company’s distributed gaming operations in Montana are subject to taxes based on the Company’s share of gro ss
gaming revenue. These gaming taxes are recorded as gaming expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Total gaming taxes and licenses were
$35.7 million, $24.2 million and $20.2 million for fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Advertising Expenses
The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expenses, which are primarily included in selling, general and administrative expenses,
were $2.6 million, $3.4 million and $2.5 million for fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Share-Based Compensation Expense
The Company has various share-based compensation programs, which provide for equity awards including stock options and restricted stock units. The
Company uses the straight-line method to recognize compensation expense associated with share-based awards based on the fair value on the date of grant.
Expense is recognized over the requisite service period related to each award, which is the period between the grant date and the award’s stated vesting term.
The fair value of stock options is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. For restricted stock units, compensation expense is calculated
based on the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. All of the Company’s share-based compensation expense is recorded in
selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 10, Share-Based Compensation, for additional
discussion.
Income Taxes
The determination of the Company’s income tax-related account balances requires the exercise of significant judgment by management. Accordingly, the
Company determines deferred tax assets and liabilities based upon the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using
enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Management assesses the likelihood that deferred tax
assets will be recovered from future taxable income and establishes a valuation allowance when management believes recovery is not likely. The Company
establishes assets and liabilities for uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in income tax returns using a more-likely-than-not recognition
threshold.
The Company records estimated penalties and interest related to income tax matters, including uncertain tax positions, if any, as a component of income tax
expense.
Litigation Costs
The Company does not accrue for future litigation costs, if any, to be incurred in connection with outstanding litigation and other dispute matters but rather
records such costs when the legal and other services are rendered.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Changes to generally accepted accounting principles in the United States are established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), in the form
of Accounting Standards Updates (“ASUs”), to the FASB’s Accounting Standards Codification. The Company considers the applicability and impact of all
ASUs. While management continues to assess the possible impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements of the future adoption of new
accounting standards that are not yet effective, management currently believes that the following new standards may have a material impact on the
Company’s financial statements and disclosures:
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases, which replaces the existing guidance. ASU 2016-02 requires a dual approach for lessee accounting
under which a lessee would account for leases as finance leases or operating leases. Both finance leases and operating leases will result in the lessee
recognizing a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability. ASU 2016-02 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018 and
interim periods therein, with early application permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial
statements.
In May 2014, the FASB issued a comprehensive new revenue recognition model, ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers which created a new
Topic 606 (“ASC 606”). The new guidance is intended to clarify the principles for recognizing revenue and to develop a common revenue standard for
United States GAAP applicable to revenue transactions. Existing industry guidance will be eliminated, including revenue recognition guidance specific to
the gaming industry. The FASB has recently issued several amendments to the standard, including clarification on accounting for and identifying
performance obligations. This guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those
reporting periods. The guidance should be applied using the full retrospective method or retrospectively with the cumulative effect initially applying the
guidance recognized at the date of initial application. We anticipate adopting this standard effective January 1, 2018. We are currently in the process of our
analysis and anticipate this standard will have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements. As described below, we expect the most significant
effect will be related to the accounting for customer loyalty programs and casino promotional allowances. However, the quantitative effects of these changes
have not yet been determined and are still being analyzed. We are currently assessing the full effect the adoption of this standard will have on our financial
statements.
The customer loyalty programs affect revenues from our four core business operations: gaming, food and beverage, rooms and other operations. Currently, the
Company estimates the cost of fulfilling the redemption of player rewards, after consideration of breakage, based upon the cost of historical redemptions.
Upon adoption of the new guidance, player rewards will no longer be recorded at cost, and a deferred revenue model will be used to account for the
classification and timing of revenue recognized as well as the classification of related expenses when player rewards are redeemed.
Additionally, we expect to see a significant decrease in food and beverage and room revenues. The presentation of goods and services provided to customers
without charge in gross revenue with a corresponding reduction in promotional allowances will no longer be reported. Revenue will be recognized based on
relative standalone selling prices for transactions with more than one performance obligation.
No other recently issued accounting standards that are not yet effective have been identified that management believes are likely to have a material impact
on the Company's financial statements.
Note 3 – Merger and Acquisitions
Montana Acquisitions
On January 29, 2016, the Company completed the Initial Montana Acquisition, which involved the acquisition of approximately 1,100 gaming devices, as
well as certain other non-gaming assets and the right to operate within certain locations, from C. Lohman Games, Inc., Rocky Mountain Gaming, Inc. and
Brandy’s Shoreliner Restaurant, Inc., for total consideration of $20.1 million, including the issuance of $0.5 million of the Company’s common stock
(comprising 50,252 shares at fair value at issuance of $9.95 per share). In connection with the Initial Montana Acquisition, the Company is required to pay
the sellers contingent consideration of up to a total of $2.0 million in cash paid in four quarterly payments beginning in September 2017, subject to certain
potential adjustments. See Note 14, Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements, for further discussion regarding the estimated fair value of the
contingent consideration. The preliminary allocation of the $20.1 million purchase price to the assets acquired as of January 29, 2016 includes $1.7 million
of cash, $2.4 million of property and equipment, $14.2 million of intangible assets and $1.9 million of goodwill. The preliminary amounts assigned to
intangible assets include customer relationships of $9.8 million with an economic life of 15 years, non-compete agreements of $3.9 million with an economic
life of five years and trade names of $0.5 million with an economic life of four years.
53

On April 22, 2016, the Company completed the Second Montana Acquisitio n, which involved the acquisition of approximately 1,800 gaming devices, as
well as amusement devices and certain other non-gaming assets and the right to operate within certain locations, from Amusement Services, LLC, for total
consideration of $25.7 million. The preliminary allocation of the $25.7 million purchase price to the assets acquired as of April 22, 2016 includes $0.3
million of cash, less than $0.1 million of prepaid gaming license fees, $7.8 million of property and equipment, $11.1 million of intangible assets and $6.3
million of goodwill. The preliminary amounts assigned to intangible assets include customer relationships of $9.1 million with an economic life of 15 years,
non-compete agreements of $1.8 million with an economic life of five years and trade names of $0.2 million with an economic life of four years.
The goodwill recognized in the Montana Acquisitions is primarily attributable to potential expansion and future development of, and anticipated synergies
from, the acquired businesses and is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. The Company's estimation of the fair value of the assets acquired in
the Montana Acquisitions as of the respective dates of the acquisitions was determined based on certain valuations and analyses that have yet to be finalized,
and accordingly, the assets acquired are subject to adjustment once such analyses are completed. The Company may record adjustments to the carrying value
of assets acquired with a corresponding offset to goodwill during the applicable measurement period, which can be up to one year from the date of the
consummation of the relevant acquisition.
The Company reports the results of operations from each of the Montana Acquisitions, subsequent to their respective closing dates, within its Distributed
Gaming segment. For the year ended December 31, 2016, net revenues from the Montana Acquisitions totaled $47.0 million. For the year ended December
31, 2016, transaction-related costs for the Montana Acquisitions totaled $0.5 million and were included in preopening expenses. The Company may incur
additional transaction-related costs related to the Montana Acquisitions in future periods. Pro forma information is not being presented as there is no
practicable method to calculate pro forma earnings given that the Montana Acquisitions were asset purchases that represented only a component of the
businesses of the sellers. As a result, historical financial information obtained would have required significant estimates.
Merger with Sartini Gaming, Inc.
On July 31, 2015, the Company acquired Sartini Gaming through the consummation of the Merger. At the effective time of the Merger, all issued and
outstanding shares of capital stock of Sartini Gaming were canceled and converted into the right to receive shares of the Company’s common stock. At the
closing of the Merger, the Company issued 7,772,736 shares of its common stock to The Blake L. Sartini and Delise F. Sartini Family Trust (the “Sartini
Trust”), as sole shareholder of Sartini Gaming in accordance with the agreement and plan of merger (the “Merger Agreement”). In addition, at the closing of
the Merger, the Company issued 457,172 shares of its common stock to holders of warrants issued by a subsidiary of Sartini Gaming that elected to receive
shares of the Company’s common stock in exchange for their warrants. The total number of shares of the Company’s common stock issued in connection with
the Merger was subject to adjustment pursuant to the post-closing adjustment provisions of the Merger Agreement. In connection with such post-closing
adjustment, the Company issued an additional 223,657 shares of its common stock to the Sartini Trust. As a result, the value of the purchase consideration
following such adjustment was $77.4 million. This amount is the product of the 8,453,565 shares of the Company’s common stock issued in the aggregate in
connection with the Merger and the closing price of $9.15 per share of the Company's common stock on July 31, 2015. In August 2016, the 777,274 shares
previously held in escrow as security in the event of any claims for indemnifiable losses in accordance with the Merger Agreement were released to the Sartini
Trust in accordance with the terms of the escrow agreement.
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Under the Merger Agreement, the number of sh ares of the Company’s common stock issued in connection with the Merger reflected the pre-Merger value of
Sartini Gaming relative to the pre-Merger value of the Company, which pre-Merger values were calculated in accordance with formulas set forth in the
Merger Agreement. To determine the number of shares of the Company’s common stock issued in connection with the Merger, the sum of the number of
shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding immediately prior to the Merger and the number of shares issuab le upon the exercise of outstanding inthe-money stock options was divided by the percentage of the total pre-Merger value of both companies that represented the Company’s pre-Merger value to
determine the total number of fully diluted shares immediately following the Merger. The number of shares of the Company’s common stock issued in
connection with the Merger was the difference between the total number of fully diluted shares immediately following the Merger and the total number of
fully diluted shares immediately prior to the Merger. No fractional shares of the Company’s common stock were issued in connection with the Merger, and
any fractional share was rounded to the nearest whole share.
The Merger Agreement specified the procedure for determining the pre-Merger values of Sartini Gaming and the Company. The final pre-Merger values of the
Company and Sartini Gaming were determined and approved during the fourth quarter of 2015, pursuant to the post-closing adjustment provisions of the
Merger Agreement.
The total number of shares of the Company’s common stock issued in connection with the Merger was as follows:

$

Pre-Merger
Value of Lakes
134,615,083

Lakes %
62.6%

$

Pre-Merger
Value of Sartini
Gaming
80,523,753

Sartini
Gaming %
37.4%

Total Post-Closing
Shares(1)
22,592,260

Total Shares Issued
in Connection
with Merger(2)
8,453,565

(1)

Calculated as the sum of the number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding immediately after the Merger (on a fully diluted basis,
including shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding in-the-money stock options) and the number of shares of the Company’s common stock
issued pursuant to the post-closing adjustment provisions of the Merger Agreement.

(2)

Includes 457,172 shares of the Company’s common stock that were issued to certain former holders of warrants issued by a subsidiary of Sartini
Gaming upon the closing of the Merger.

Merger Accounting
The Merger has been accounted for under the purchase method of accounting in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 805, Business
Combinations. Under the purchase method, the total purchase price, or consideration transferred, was measured at the Merger closing date. The purchase price
of the acquisition was allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the acquisition
date. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values was recorded as goodwill. The goodwill recognized in the Merger was primarily
attributable to potential expansion and future development of, and anticipated synergies from, the tavern brands and the acquired distributed gaming and
casino businesses, while enhancing the Company’s existing brand and casino portfolio. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for
income tax purposes. The Company allocated the goodwill to each reporting unit at the conclusion of the measurement period.
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Measurement Period Adjustments
The final pre-Merger values of the Company and Sartini Gaming were determined and approved during the fourth quarter of 2015, pursuant to the postclosing adjustment provisions of the Merger Agreement. As a result of this post-closing adjustment calculation, the number of shares issued in connection
with the Merger was increased by an additional 223,657 shares, and the 388,637 shares of the Company's common stock held in escrow as security for the
post-closing adjustment were released to the Sartini Trust. The effect of the issuance of these additional shares on the purchase price consideration
calculation was an increase of $2.1 million to $77.4 million. This amount is the product of the 8,453,565 total shares of the Company’s common stock issued
in connection with the Merger on July 31, 2015 and issued pursuant to the post-closing “true-up” adjustment and the $9.15 per share closing price of the
Company's common stock on July 31, 2015. The Company accounted for the issuance of the additional 223,657 shares, and the adjustment of the purchase
price consideration, during the fourth quarter of 2015 when the additional shares were issued.
The measurement period for the Merger ended on July 31, 2016. In addition to the issuance of the additional shares pursuant to the post-closing adjustment
calculation mentioned above, during the measurement period, the Company:
•

recorded a deferred tax liability totaling $14.7 million due to the assumption of a net deferred tax liability generated from intangible assets
acquired in the Merger, with a corresponding increase to goodwill by the same amount;

•

recorded an adjustment to increase goodwill by $1.6 million, decreasing accounts receivable by the same amount, due to the determination
that receivables acquired as part of the Merger were deemed to be uncollectible as of the Merger date;

•

further analyzed the trade names acquired as part of the Merger, which were originally given 10 year useful lives, and concluded that the
trade names are indefinite-lived. An adjustment to reverse $0.2 million of amortization for the trade names in the third quarter of 2015 was
recorded during the fourth quarter of 2015;

•

determined that the preliminary estimated useful lives of certain tangible acquired assets were not consistent with the useful lives used by
other market participants. The useful lives determined during the measurement period were updated to reflect the Company’s determination
and are reflected in the property and equipment by category table below;

•

identified an acquired prepaid asset (recorded in other current assets previously) that was reclassified to a gaming license that represents the
Company’s ability and right to operate in its current capacity in Montana. Management has valued the gaming license using estimates for
explicit and implicit costs to obtain the gaming license and has determined the license has an indefinite life;

•

recorded an adjustment to increase goodwill by less than $0.1 million, increasing accrued taxes by the same amount, due to a tax liability
resulting from a prior year assumed as part of the Merger;

•

recorded an adjustment to increase goodwill by $0.3 million, decreasing player relationships at the Company’s Gold Town Casino by the
same amount, due to an increase in the discount rate used in the valuation upon further review. This adjustment triggered a reversal of $0.1
million of the previously recorded deferred tax liability, with a corresponding decrease to goodwill by the same amount; and

•

identified $0.9 million worth of equipment that was disposed of prior to the Merger but recorded in the opening balance. As such, the
Company recorded an increase to goodwill for the amount of equipment written off.
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Allocation
The final allocation of the $77.4 million purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of July 31, 2015 was as follows (in thousands):
Amount
Cash
Other current assets
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Current liabilities
Warrant liability
Debt
Deferred tax liability
Other long-term liabilities
Total purchase price

$

25,539
14,830
83,173
80,460
97,462
(13,245 )
(3,435 )
(190,587 )
(14,576 )
(2,217 )
77,404

$

The amounts assigned to property and equipment by category are summarized in the table below (in thousands):
Remaining
Useful Life (Years)
Not applicable
5-14
19-25
1-28
1-11
Not applicable

Land
Land improvements
Building and improvements
Leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Construction in process
Total property and equipment

$

$

Amount
Assigned
12,470
4,030
21,310
20,793
21,935
2,635
83,173

The amounts assigned to intangible assets by category as of July 31, 2015 are summarized in the table below (in thousands):
Remaining
Useful Life (Years)
Indefinite
8-14
13-16
Indefinite
2-10

Trade names
Player relationships
Customer relationships
Gaming licenses
Other intangible assets
Total intangible assets

$

$

Amount
Assigned
12,200
7,300
59,200
960
800
80,460

The trade names acquired encompass the various trade names utilized by the three casinos located in Pahrump, Nevada: Pahrump Nugget Hotel, Gold Town
Casino and Lakeside Casino & RV Park. Additionally, the acquired branded taverns utilize various trade names to market and create brand identity for their
services and for marketing purposes, including: PT’s Pub, PT’s Gold, Sierra Gold and Sean Patrick’s. The trade names for the Pahrump casinos and taverns
have indefinite lives.
Player relationships acquired include relationships with players frequenting the Company’s branded taverns and Nevada casinos. These player relationships
comprise Golden Rewards members for the taverns and Gold Mine Rewards members for the Nevada casinos, and such relationships are expected to lead to
recurring revenue streams, as well as new revenue opportunities arising from the reputations of the taverns and Nevada casinos.
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Customer relationships relate to relationships with the Company’s third party distributed gaming customers that have been developed over many years and
are expected to lead to recurring revenue streams, as well as new revenue opportunities arising from the Company’s reputation. The economic life of the
customer relationships was determined to be 13 to 16 years, depending on the customer, and was based on the estimated present value of cash flows
attributable to the asset.
The Nevada casinos maintain gaming licenses that allow them to operate in their current capacity. The Nevada gaming licenses have an indefinite life.
Other intangible assets acquired include internally developed software and non-compete agreements. The software is utilized for accounting and marketing
purposes and is integrated into the Company’s gaming devices in its distributed gaming operations. The economic life of this software was determined to be
10 years based on the expected future utilization of the software in its current form. In conjunction with the Merger Agreement, key employees executed noncompetition agreements. The economic life of these non-compete agreements was determined to be two years based on the contractual term of the
agreements.
Estimated future amortization expense related to the finite-lived intangible assets acquired in the Merger is as follows (in thousands):

Estimated amortization expense

$

2017
4,965

$

2018
4,877

$

2019
4,877

$

2020
4,877

$

2021
4,877

Thereafter
$
35,705

See Note 14, Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements, for further discussion regarding the valuation of the tangible and intangible assets
acquired through the Merger.
Credit Agreement
In connection with the Merger, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement with Capital One, National Association (as administrative agent) and the
lenders named therein (the “Credit Agreement”) to refinance the outstanding senior secured indebtedness of Sartini Gaming and the Company’s financing
facility with Centennial Bank. See Note 7, Debt, for a discussion of the Credit Agreement and associated refinancing.
Selected Financial Information Related to the Acquiree
The consolidated financial position of Sartini Gaming is included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2016 and December 31,
2015. Sartini Gaming’s consolidated results of operations and cash flows are included in our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2016 and for the period from August 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015. During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company recorded $293.1
million in net revenues and $26.1 million in net income from the operations of Sartini Gaming’s distributed gaming and casino businesses. From August 1,
2015 through December 31, 2015, the Company recorded $117.6 million in net revenues and $10.4 million in net income from the operations of Sartini
Gaming’s distributed gaming and casino businesses. Total assets related to Sartini Gaming’s distributed gaming and casino businesses were approximately
$244.3 million and $72.6 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2016, compared to approximately $221.6 million and $76.7 million, respectively, as of
December 31, 2015. The assets acquired consisted primarily of property and equipment and intangible assets, including goodwill.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Financial Information
The following unaudited pro forma combined financial information for the years ended December 31, 2015 and December 28, 2014 are presented as if the
Merger had occurred at the beginning of each period presented:

Pro forma combined net revenues
Pro forma combined net income (loss)

Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2015
December 28, 2014
(In thousands, except per share data)
$
345,437
$
335,631
27,645
(38,426 )

Pro forma combined net income (loss) per share:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

1.27
1.25

21,848
22,073

$
$

(1.76 )
(1.76 )

21,833
21,833

This unaudited pro forma combined financial information has been prepared for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of or intended to
represent the results that would have been achieved had the Merger been consummated as of the dates indicated or that may be achieved in the future. The
unaudited pro forma combined financial information does not reflect any operating efficiencies and associated cost savings that may be achieved as a result
of the Merger.
The following adjustments have been made to the pro forma combined net income (loss) and pro forma combined net income (loss) per share in the table
above:
•

includes additional depreciation expense of property, plant and equipment, and additional amortization expense of intangible assets
acquired in the Merger based on their estimated fair values and estimated useful lives;

•

reflects the impact of issuance of 8,453,565 shares of the Company’s common stock in connection with the Merger based on the final preMerger values;

•

reflects $11.5 million and $0.5 million of transaction-related costs associated with the Merger for the years ended December 31, 2015 and
December 28, 2014, respectively;

•

reflects the elimination of the warrants issued by a subsidiary of Sartini Gaming, which were purchased for $3.4 million in cash and for
457,172 shares of the Company’s common stock (equivalent to $4.2 million based on the Merger per share price); and

•

reflects the elimination of approximately $10.0 million of tax benefit during the year ended December 31, 2015, related to the assumption of
a net deferred tax liability generated from the intangible assets acquired in the Merger.
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Note 4 – Property and Equipment, Net
The following table summarizes the components of property and equipment, net:
December 31, 2016
December 31, 2015
(In thousands)
$
12,470
$
12,470
77,515
67,984
75,740
45,840
5,246
1,833
170,971
128,127
(33,390 )
(13,818 )
$
137,581
$
114,309

Land
Building and site improvements
Furniture and equipment
Construction in process
Property and equipment
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Property and equipment, net

On May 20, 2015, the Company sold its former corporate headquarters office building located in Minnetonka, Minnesota at a price of approximately $4.7
million, less approximate fees and closing costs of $0.3 million. The building was carried at $4.8 million, net of accumulated depreciation, on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet as of the date of entry into the sale agreement in March 2015. As a result, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $0.4
million during the first quarter of 2015.
Depreciation expense for property and equipment, including capital leases, totaled $20.2 million, $8.5 million, and $3.4 million for 2016, 2015, and 2014,
respectively.
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Note 5 – Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net
Goodwill and intangible assets, net, consist of the following:
Weighted Average
Life Remaining as of December
31, 2016
Goodwill:
Distributed Gaming
Casinos
Total Goodwill

$
$

Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Gaming licenses
Trade names
Other
Total Indefinite-lived intangible assets
Finite-lived intangible assets:
Customer relationships
Less: Accumulated amortization

December 31, 2016
December 31, 2015
(In thousands)

$

$

13.2 years

Player relationships
Less: Accumulated amortization

10.4 years

Gaming license
Less: Accumulated amortization

11.4 years

Non-compete agreements
Less: Accumulated amortization

4.0 years

Other intangible assets
Less: Accumulated amortization

9.5 years

Total finite-lived intangible assets, net
Total intangible assets, net

$

$

97,859
7,796
105,655

$

960
12,200
110
13,270

$

78,100
(6,932 )
71,168
7,300
(910 )
6,390
2,100
(508 )
1,592
6,000
(1,168 )
4,832
1,648
(297 )
1,351

$

85,333
98,603

$

$

$

79,208
17,080
96,288

960
12,200
50
13,210

59,200
(1,744 )
57,456
7,600
(279 )
7,321
2,100
(367 )
1,733
300
(63 )
237
948
(81 )
867
67,614
80,824

Goodwill represents the original goodwill allocation related to the Merger and final adjustments to purchase price allocations during the measurement period
and the original goodwill allocations related to the Montana Acquisitions. The impact of the final purchase price allocation adjustments related to the
Merger on the Company's results of operations and financial position was immaterial. The Company may continue to record adjustments to the carrying
value of assets acquired with a corresponding offset to goodwill during the measurement period related to the Montana Acquisitions, which can be up to one
year from the date of the consummation of the acquisitions. See Note 3, Merger and Acquisitions, for a description of the intangible assets acquired through
the Merger and the Montana Acquisitions.
The Rocky Gap gaming license is being amortized over its 15 year term.
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Total amortization expense related to intangible assets was $7.3 million, $2.3 million and $0.1 million for 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively. Estimated
future amortization expense related to intangible assets, which includes acquired intangible assets recorded on a preliminary basis, is as follows (in
thousands):

Estimated amortization expense

$

2017
7,698

$

2018
7,610

$

2019
7,610

$

2020
7,463

$

2021
6,481

Thereafter
$
48,471

Note 6 – Cost Method Investments
Investment in Rock Ohio Ventures, LLC
As of December 28, 2014, the Company had a 10% ownership interest in Rock Ohio Ventures, LLC (“Rock Ohio Ventures”), a privately held company that
owned interests in various casino and racetrack properties. The Company’s $21.0 million investment in Rock Ohio Ventures was accounted for using the cost
method since the Company owned less than 20% of the entity and did not have the ability to significantly influence the operating and financial decisions of
the entity. During the third quarter of 2014, this investment was determined to have experienced an other-than-temporary impairment and was reduced to its
estimated fair value of zero using unobservable (Level 3) inputs including the discount cash flow and comparable public company approaches to value. As a
result, the Company recognized an impairment loss of $21.0 million, which is included in impairments and other losses in the accompanying consolidated
statement of operations for the year ended December 28, 2014.
In January 2015, the Company sold all of its interest in Rock Ohio Ventures for approximately $0.8 million. Since this investment had been written down to
zero, the Company accounted for the receipt of this payment as a gain on sale of investment.
Investment in Dania Entertainment Holdings, LLC
In May 2013, Dania Entertainment Center, LLC (“DEC”) purchased the Dania Jai Alai property located in Dania Beach, Florida, from Boyd Gaming
Corporation, for $65.5 million.
As part of a previous plan to purchase the property, during 2011 the Company loaned $4.0 million to DEC which was written down to zero during the third
quarter of 2011 when the acquisition did not close. During 2013, the loan was exchanged for a 20% ownership interest in Dania Entertainment Holdings,
LLC (“Dania Entertainment”).
On April 21, 2014, the Company entered into a redemption agreement with Dania Entertainment that resulted in Dania Entertainment redeeming the
Company’s 20% ownership in Dania Entertainment in exchange for Dania Entertainment granting to the Company 5% ownership in DEC. Concurrently, the
Company entered into an agreement with ONDISS Corp. (“ONDISS”) to sell its ownership in DEC for approximately $2.6 million. The Company received
$1.0 million in April 2014 in exchange for 40% of its ownership interest. In October 2014, ONDISS paid the entire remaining amount due to the Company at
a discounted amount of approximately $1.4 million and upon receipt of such payment, the Company transferred its remaining ownership in DEC to ONDISS.
As a result, the Company recognized a gain of $2.4 million, which was included in gain on sale of cost method investment in the accompanying consolidated
statement of operations for the year ended December 28, 2014.
Note 7 – Debt
Credit Agreement
As of December 31, 2016, the Company’s senior secured credit facilities under the Credit Agreement consisted of $160.0 million in senior secured term loans
(“Term Loans”) and a $50.0 million Revolving Credit Facility (together with the Term Loan facility, the “Facilities”). As of December 31, 2016, the
Company had $150.0 million in principal amount of outstanding Term Loan borrowings and $30.0 million in principal amount of outstanding borrowings
under the Revolving Credit Facility. The Facilities mature on July 31, 2020.
Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest, at the Company’s option, at either (1) the highest of the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, the Eurodollar
rate for a one-month interest period plus 1.00%, or the administrative
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agent’s prime rate as announced from time to time, or (2) the Eurodollar rate for the applicable interest period, pl us, in each case, an applicable margin based
on the Company’s leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2016, the weighted average effective interest rate on the Company’s outstanding borrowings under the
Credit Agreement was approximately 3.3%.
Outstanding borrowings under the Term Loans at December 31, 2016 will be repaid in seven quarterly payments of $3.0 million each (commencing on March
31, 2017), followed by four quarterly payments of $4.0 million each (commencing December 31, 2018), followed by three quarterly payments of $6.0 million
each (commencing December 31, 2019), followed by a final installment of $95.0 million at maturity on July 31, 2020. Any unpaid principal amount of the
Revolving Credit Facility is due at maturity. The commitment fee for the Revolving Credit Facility is payable quarterly at a rate of between 0.25% and
0.30%, depending on the Company’s leverage ratio, and accrued based on the average daily amount of the available revolving commitment.
The Credit Agreement is guaranteed by all of the Company’s present and future direct and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries (other than certain
insignificant or unrestricted subsidiaries), and is secured by substantially all of the Company’s and the subsidiary guarantors’ present and future personal and
real property (subject to receipt of certain approvals).
Under the Credit Agreement, the Company and its subsidiaries are subject to certain limitations, including limitations on their ability to: incur additional
debt, grant liens, sell assets, make certain investments, pay dividends and make certain other restricted payments. In addition, the Company will be required
to pay down the Facilities under certain circumstances if the Company or any of its subsidiaries sells assets or property, issues debt or receives certain
extraordinary receipts. The Credit Agreement contains financial covenants regarding a maximum leverage ratio and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio.
The Credit Agreement also prohibits the occurrence of a change of control, which includes the acquisition of beneficial ownership of 30% or more of the
Company’s equity securities (other than by certain permitted holders, which include, among others, Blake L. Sartini, Lyle A. Berman and certain affiliated
entities) and a change in a majority of the members of the Company’s Board of Directors that is not approved by the Board. If the Company defaults under the
Credit Agreement due to a covenant breach or otherwise, the lenders may be entitled to, among other things, require the immediate repayment of all
outstanding amounts and sell the Company’s assets to satisfy the obligations thereunder. The Company was in compliance with its financial covenants under
the Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2016.
Rocky Gap Financing Facility
In December 2012, the Company closed on a $17.5 million financing facility with Centennial Bank (the “Rocky Gap Financing Facility”) to finance a
portion of Rocky Gap project costs. In connection with the entry into the Credit Agreement on July 31, 2015 and the borrowings thereunder, on July 31,
2015 the Company repaid all principal amounts outstanding under the Rocky Gap Financing Facility, which amounted to approximately $10.7 million,
together with accrued interest. In connection with such repayment, the Company terminated the Rocky Gap Financing Facility. As a result of the payoff of
the Rocky Gap Financing Facility, the Company recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of $1.2 million, related to the unamortized discount under the
facility, during the year ended December 31, 2015.
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Summary of Outstanding Debt
Long-term debt, net of current portion and debt issuance costs, is comprised of the following:

Term Loans
Revolving Credit Facility
Capital lease obligations
Notes payable
Total debt
Less: Unamortized debt issuance costs

$

Less: Current portion
Long-term debt, net

$

December 31, 2016
December 31, 2015
(In thousands)
150,000
$
118,500
30,000
25,000
1,970
—
3,777
5,135
185,747
148,635
(2,305 )
(2,537 )
183,442
146,098
(15,752 )
(9,180 )
167,690
$
136,918

Future Principal Payments on Long-Term Debt
The aggregate principal payments due on long-term debt as of December 31, 2016 are as follows (in thousands):
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
Thereafter

$

15,752
13,862
18,649
137,354
94
36
185,747

$
Note 8 – Promotional Allowances

The retail value of food and beverages, rooms and other services furnished to customers without charge, including coupons for discounts when redeemed, is
included in gross revenues and then deducted as promotional allowances. The estimated retail value of the promotional allowances was as follows:

December 31, 2016
Food and beverage
Rooms
Other
Total promotional allowances

$

$

64

18,324
2,263
604
21,191

Year Ended
December 31, 2015
(In thousands)
$
6,633
2,035
214
$
8,882

December 28, 2014
$

$

498
2,529
157
3,184

The estimated cost of providing these promotional allowances, which is primarily included in gaming expenses, was as follows:

December 31, 2016
Food and beverage
Rooms
Other
Total estimated cost of promotional allowances

$

$

12,485
818
367
13,670

Year Ended
December 31, 2015
(In thousands)
$
2,263
608
205
$
3,076

December 28, 2014
$

$

234
655
122
1,011

Note 9 – Shareholders’ Equity
On December 9, 2015, the Company sold its $60.0 million subordinated promissory note (“Jamul Note”) from the Jamul Indian Village (“Jamul Tribe”) to a
subsidiary of Penn National Gaming, Inc. for $24.0 million in cash. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement with Sartini Gaming and subject to applicable
law, the Company agreed that the proceeds received from the sale of the Jamul Note, net of related costs, would be distributed in a cash dividend to its
shareholders holding shares as of the record date for such dividend (other than shareholders that had waived their right to receive such dividend). Under the
terms of the Merger Agreement, Sartini Gaming’s former sole shareholder, for itself and any related party transferees of its shares, waived their right to receive
such dividend with respect to their shares (which totaled 7,996,393 shares in the aggregate). Also in connection with the Merger, holders of an additional
457,172 shares waived their right to receive such dividend. On June 17, 2016, the Board of Directors of the Company approved and declared the special
dividend to the eligible shareholders of record on the close of business on June 30, 2016 (the “Record Date”) of cash in the aggregate amount of
approximately $23.5 million (the “Special Dividend”), which was paid on July 14, 2016. The $1.71 per share amount of the Special Dividend was calculated
by dividing the aggregate amount of the Special Dividend by 13,759,374 outstanding shares of common stock held by eligible shareholders on the close of
business on the Record Date (rounded down to the nearest whole cent per share).
Note 10 – Share-Based Compensation
Overview
On August 27, 2015, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the Golden Entertainment, Inc. 2015 Incentive Award Plan (the “2015 Plan”), which
was approved by the Company’s shareholders at the Company’s 2016 annual meeting. The 2015 Plan authorizes the issuance of stock options, restricted
stock, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), dividend equivalents, stock payment awards, stock appreciation rights, performance bonus awards and other incentive
awards. The 2015 Plan authorizes the grant of awards to employees, non-employee directors and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries. Options
generally have a ten-year term. Except as provided in any employment agreement between the Company and the employee, if an employee is terminated
(voluntarily or involuntarily), any unvested options as of the date of termination will be forfeited.
The maximum number of shares of the Company’s common stock for which grants may be made under the 2015 Plan is 2.25 million shares, plus an annual
increase on January 1 st of each year during the ten-year term of the 2015 Plan equal to the lesser of 1.8 million shares, 4% of the total shares of the Company’s
common stock outstanding (on an as-converted basis) and such smaller amount as may be determined by the Board in its sole discretion. The annual increase
on January 1, 2016 was 874,709 shares. In addition, the maximum aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be subject to awards granted to any
one participant during a calendar year is 2.0 million shares.
The 2015 Plan provides that no stock option or stock appreciation right (even if vested) may be exercised prior to the earlier of August 1, 2018 or
immediately prior to the consummation of a change in control of the Company that would result in an “ownership change” as defined in Section 382 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. There were 2,930,165 stock options outstanding under the 2015 Plan as of December 31, 2016, of which
599,446
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had vested. There were 141,296 RSUs outstanding under the 2015 Plan as of December 31, 2016, none of which had vested. As of December 31, 201 6, a total
of 53,248 shares of the Company’s common stock remained available for grants of awards under the 2015 Plan.
In June 2007, the Company’s shareholders approved the 2007 Lakes Stock Option and Compensation Plan (the “2007 Plan”), which is authorized to grant a
total of 1.25 million shares of the Company’s common stock. Vested options are exercisable for ten years from the date of grant; however, if the employee is
terminated (voluntarily or involuntarily), any unvested options as of the date of termination will be forfeited. There were 461,114 stock options outstanding
under the 2007 Plan as of December 31, 2016, of which 399,827 had vested. As of December 31, 2016, a total of 221,348 shares of the Company’s common
stock remained available for grants of awards under the 2007 Plan.
The Company also has a 1998 Stock Option and Compensation Plan (the “1998 Plan”). There were 11,202 stock options outstanding under this plan as of
December 31, 2016, all of which were fully vested. No additional options will be granted under the 1998 Plan.
Share-based compensation expense related to stock options was $3.9 million, $0.8 million and $0.3 million for fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. In connection with the Special Dividend discussed in Note 9, Shareholders’ Equity, and in accordance with the Company’s equity incentive
plans approved by the Company’s shareholders, equitable anti-dilutive adjustments were made to the exercise prices of outstanding stock options to
purchase shares of Company common stock, in order to preserve the value of such stock options following the Special Dividend. Accordingly, effective as of
the close of business on July 14, 2016, the exercise price of each outstanding stock option granted prior to the Record Date under the 2015 Plan, the 2007
Plan and the 1998 Plan (collectively, the “Adjusted Options”) was reduced by $1.71 per share. The weighted average exercise price of the Adjusted Options
presented in the table below have been adjusted accordingly. The Adjusted Options had a weighted average exercise price of $7.04 per share after giving
effect to such anti-dilutive adjustments. The Adjusted Options have varying remaining terms, which were not affected by the adjustments. The Company
measured the incremental compensation cost as the excess of the fair value of the Adjusted Options immediately following such anti-dilutive adjustments
over the fair value of the Adjusted Options immediately prior to such anti-dilutive adjustments. Of the 2,337,643 Adjusted Options, 1,908,070 were unvested
and 429,573 were vested at the time of the adjustment. The incremental fair value related to the unvested Adjusted Options resulting from the anti-dilutive
adjustments was estimated to be $1.7 million, which will be recorded over the remaining vesting period of such Adjusted Options. The incremental fair value
related to the vested Adjusted Options resulting from the anti-dilutive adjustments, determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, was $0.7
million and was recorded as share-based compensation expense during the third quarter of 2016.
For fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014, no income tax benefit was recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for share-based
compensation arrangements. Management assessed the likelihood that the deferred tax assets relating to future tax deductions from share-based
compensation will be recovered from future taxable income and determined that a valuation allowance is necessary to the extent that management currently
believes it is more likely than not that tax benefits will not be realized. Management’s determination is based primarily on historical losses and earnings
volatility.
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Stock Options
The following table summarizes stock option activity for fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014:
Number of Common Shares
Options
Outstanding
Exercisable
2,419,529
724,529
1,494,475
(2,337,643 )
2,337,643
(313,500 )
(198,023 )
3,402,481
411,029

Balance at December 31, 2015
Granted
Options Subject to Anti-Dilutive Adjustments
Options Subject to Anti-Dilutive Adjustments
Exercised
Cancelled
Balance at December 31, 2016

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
$
8.16
12.03
8.75
7.04
5.72
8.10
$
9.02

Balance at December 28, 2014
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled
Balance at December 31, 2015

755,617
1,695,000
(25,088 )
(6,000 )
2,419,529

616,792

$

724,529

$

Balance at December 29, 2013
Forfeited/cancelled/expired
Exercised
Granted
Balance at December 28, 2014

798,171
(25,211 )
(28,343 )
11,000
755,617

585,769

$

616,792

$

6.09
9.07
9.62
9.19
8.16
5.97
5.19
4.73
9.18
6.09

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value and compensation cost associated with employee incentive stock
options, which requires the consideration of historical employee exercise behavior data and the use of a number of assumptions including volatility of the
Company’s stock price, the weighted-average risk-free interest rate and the weighted-average expected life of the options. The Company’s determination of
fair value of share-based option awards on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model is affected by the following assumptions regarding
complex and subjective variables. Any changes in these assumptions may materially affect the estimated fair value of the share-based award.
•

Expected dividend yield — As the Company has not historically paid dividends, with the exception of the Special Dividend, the dividend
rate variable used in the Black-Scholes model is zero.

•

Risk-free interest rate — The risk free interest rate assumption is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant and with
maturities consistent with the expected term of options.

•

Expected term — The expected term of employee stock options represents the weighted-average period that the stock options are expected to
remain outstanding. It is based upon an analysis of the historical behavior of option holders during the period from September 1995 to
December 31, 2016. Management believes historical data is reasonably representative of future exercise behavior.

•

Expected volatility — The volatility assumption is based on the historical weekly price data of the Company’s stock over a two-year period.
Management evaluated whether there were factors during that period which were unusual and which would distort the volatility figure if
used to estimate future volatility and concluded that there were no such factors.
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•

Forfeiture rate — As share-based compensation expense recognized is based on awards ultimately expected to vest, expense for grants is
reduced for estimated forfeitures at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those
estimates. The Company’s management has reviewed the historical forfeitures which have been minimal, and as such presently amortizes the
grants to the end of the vesting period and will adjust for forfeitures at the end of the term.

The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of stock options granted during fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014:
2016
Expected dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate
Expected term (in years)
Expected volatility

2015

—
1.43 – 2.40%
10
24.03 – 26.95%

—
2.18 – 2.36%
10
27.24 – 27.60%

2014
—
2.39 – 2.88%
10
32.87 – 39.35%

As of December 31, 2016, the outstanding stock options had a weighted-average remaining contractual life of 7.9 years, weighted-average exercise price of
$9.02 and an aggregate intrinsic value of $11.0 million. As of December 31, 2016, the outstanding stock options that were then exercisable had a weightedaverage remaining contractual life of 1.7 years, a weighted-average exercise price of $4.50 and an aggregate intrinsic value of $3.1 million. The total intrinsic
value of stock options exercised during fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014 was $1.8 million, $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively. The weightedaverage grant-date fair value of stock options granted during fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014 was $4.80, $3.72 and $4.65 per share, respectively.
As of December 31, 2016, the Company’s unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to stock options was approximately $10.5 million, which
is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.2 years.
The Company issues new shares of common stock upon exercise of stock options.
Restricted Stock Units
The Company granted 141,296 RSUs during the year ended December 31, 2016 with a weighted average grant-date fair value of $12.57 per share. As of
December 31, 2016, there was $1.6 million of unamortized compensation related to unvested RSUs which is expected to be recognized over a weightedaverage period of 0.9 years. There was no RSU activity during the years ended December 31, 2015 and December 28, 2014.
Note 11 – Net Income (Loss) per Share of Common Stock
For all periods, basic net income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average common shares outstanding. Diluted net
income per share in profitable periods reflects the effect of all potentially dilutive common shares outstanding by dividing net income by the weightedaverage of all common and potentially dilutive shares outstanding. Weighted-average shares related to potentially dilutive stock options of 385,551,
586,589 and 755,617 for fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, were not used to compute diluted net income (loss) per share because the effects
would have been anti-dilutive.
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Note 12 – Income Taxes
A summary of income tax expenses (benefit) follows:
Year Ended
December 31,
2015
(In thousands)

December 31,
2016
Current:
Federal
State

$

Deferred:
Federal
State

$

Income tax benefit

$

—
—
—
(4,091 )
(234 )
(4,325 )
(4,325 )

$

$

$

247
—
247
(8,939 )
(1,277 )
(10,216 )
(9,969 )

December 28, 2014

$

—
—
—

$

—
—
—
—

$

Reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the Company’s actual rate based on income (loss) before income tax benefit is summarized as
follows:

December 31,
2016
35.0 %
2.0
(45.9 )
2.1
—
—
2.4
3.7
(34.8 )
(4.7 )
4.1
(36.1 ) %

Statutory federal tax rate
State income taxes, net of federal income taxes
State tax credit
State rate adjustment
Permanent tax differences – Merger expenses
Permanent tax differences – Investment in unconsolidated investee
Permanent tax differences – Other
Purchase price allocation adjustment – Merger
Change in valuation allowance
FICA credit generated
Other, net
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Year Ended
December 31,
2015
35.0 %
6.9
—
—
11.4
9.8
1.4
—
(131.1 )
—
(1.8 )
(68.4 ) %

December 28,
2014
35.0 %
—
—
—
(0.1 )
—
—
—
(34.9 )
—
—
— %

The Company’s current and non-current deferred tax assets and (liabilities) are as follows:
December 31, 2016
December 31, 2015
(In thousands)
Current:
Accruals and reserves
Transaction costs
Prepaid services
Net operating loss carryforwards

$

$
Non-current:
Development costs
Share-based compensation expense
Amortization of intangible assets
Depreciation of fixed assets
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforward
General business credit carryforward
State tax credits
Net operating loss carryforwards
Other

$

Valuation allowances
$

1,144
—
(1,034 )
—
110

$

5
2,366
(20,024 )
(925 )
1,468
481
5,500
28,025
1,065
17,961
(18,109 )
(38 )

$

$

$

1,326
81
(897 )
9,917
10,427
2,885
1,550
(19,834 )
—
1,420
—
—
21,696
2,978
10,695
(25,593 )
(4,471 )

Deferred tax assets are evaluated by considering historical levels of income, estimates of future taxable income and the impact of tax planning strategies. The
Company's financial results include the reversal of a portion of the valuation allowance recorded against the deferred tax assets of the Company. This reversal
resulted in the recognition of a $4.3 million income tax benefit. The Company has performed a continuing evaluation of its deferred tax asset valuation
allowance on a quarterly basis. The Company has now concluded that, as of December 31, 2016, it is more likely than not that the Company will generate
sufficient taxable income within the applicable net operating loss carry-forward periods to realize a portion of its deferred tax assets. This conclusion, and the
resulting partial reversal of the deferred tax asset valuation allowance, is based upon consideration of several factors, including the Company's completion of
five consecutive quarters of profitability, its demonstrated ability to meet or exceed budgets, and its forecast of future profitability.
As of December 31, 2016, the Company had approximately $75.7 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards, which will begin to expire in 2032.
Additionally, the Company had deferred tax assets of approximately $1.5 million related to Alternative Minimum Tax credits and approximately $0.5
million related to general business credits. The general business credit carryforward expires in 2036, while the Alternative Minimum Tax credits can be
carried forward indefinitely.
During the second quarter of 2015, the Company was notified by the state of California that its audit of the Company for the 2010 tax year had been
completed and resulted in no adjustments.
During the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company completed an IRS audit for the 2009 through 2013 tax years. The impact of the audit was not material and
has been reflected in the financial statements. The 2014 and 2015 tax years are still subject to examination.
Note 13 – Employee Retirement Plan
The Company has a qualified defined contribution employee savings plan for all employees. The savings plan allows eligible participants to defer, on a pretax basis, a portion of their salary and accumulate tax-deferred earnings
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as a retirement fund. The Company currently matches employee contributions up to a maximum of 4% of participating employees’ gross wages. Company
contributions are vested immediately for this plan.
The Company also inherited a qualified defined contribution employee savings plan through the Merger for all employees previously employed by Sartini
Gaming. The savings plan for those former Sartini Gaming employees allows eligible participants to defer, on a pre-tax basis, a portion of their salary and
accumulate tax-deferred earnings as a retirement fund. Beginning on August 1, 2015, the Company matched employee contributions for this plan up to a
maximum of 1% of participating employees’ gross wages. Company contributions are vested over a five-year schedule.
Including the contributions for both plans, the Company contributed approximately $0.3 million, $0.2 million and $0.2 million during fiscal years 2016,
2015 and 2014, respectively.
Note 14 – Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements
Overview
Estimates of fair value for financial assets and liabilities are based on the framework established in the accounting guidance for fair value measurements. The
framework defines fair value, provides guidance for measuring fair value and requires certain disclosures. The framework discusses valuation techniques, such
as the market approach (comparable market prices), the income approach (present value of future income or cash flow) and the cost approach (cost to replace
the service capacity of an asset or replacement cost). The framework utilizes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to
measure fair value into three broad levels. The following is a brief description of those three levels:
•

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

•

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These include quoted prices
for similar assets or liabilities in active markets and quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active.

•

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that reflect the reporting entity’s own assumptions.

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and payable and debt.
For the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and payable, short-term borrowings, and accrued and other current liabilities, the carrying
amounts approximate fair value because of the short duration of these financial instruments. As of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the fair value
of the Company’s long-term debt approximates the carrying value based upon the Company’s expected borrowing rate for debt with similar remaining
maturities and comparable risk.
In connection with the Montana Acquisitions, the Company preliminarily recognized the acquired assets at fair value. All amounts were recognized as Level
3 measurements due to the subjective nature of the unobservable inputs used to determine the fair values. Additionally, in connection with the Initial
Montana Acquisition, the Company is required to pay the sellers contingent consideration of up to a total of $2.0 million in cash paid in four quarterly
payments beginning in September 2017, subject to certain potential adjustments based upon the availability of certain gaming machines and, if applicable,
the performance of replacement games. The fair value of the Company’s contingent consideration recorded in connection with the Initial Montana
Acquisition was estimated to be $2.0 million as of December 31, 2016 and is recorded in “Other accrued expenses” and “Other long-term obligations” on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet. Changes to the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration will be recognized in earnings of the Company.
See Note 3, Merger and Acquisitions, for a discussion of the Montana Acquisitions.
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Balances Measured at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis
Land, land improvements and building and improvements acquired in connection with the Merger were measured using unobservable (Level 3) inputs at an
estimated fair value of $37.8 million. This fair value estimate was calculated considering each of the three generally accepted valuation methodologies
including the cost, the sales comparison and the income capitalization approaches. Significant inputs included consideration of highest and best use,
replacement cost, recent transactions of comparable properties and the properties’ ability to generate future benefits.
Leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment, and construction in process acquired in connection with the Merger were measured using
unobservable (Level 3) inputs at an estimated fair value of $45.4 million. Property and equipment acquired in connection with the Montana Acquisitions
were measured using unobservable (Level 3) inputs at an estimated fair value of $7.8 million for the Second Montana Acquisition and $2.4 million for the
Initial Montana Acquisition. This fair value estimate was calculated with primary reliance on the cost approach with secondary consideration being placed
on the market approach. Significant inputs included consideration of highest and best use, replacement cost and market comparables.
The identified intangible assets acquired in connection with the Second Montana Acquisition, Initial Montana Acquisition and Merger have been valued, on
a preliminary basis with respect to the Montana Acquisitions, using unobservable (Level 3) inputs at a fair value of $11.1 million, $14.2 million and $80.5
million, respectively. Included in these intangible assets were the following:
Trade names – The trade names acquired as part of the Merger encompass the various trade names utilized by Lakeside Casino & RV Park, Golden
Pahrump Nugget and Gold Town Casino, as well as local trade names of our taverns, or derivations of them. These trade names were valued at $12.2
million determined based on the relief-from-royalty method under the income approach, which requires an estimate of a reasonable royalty rate,
identification of relevant projected revenues and expenses, and the selection of an appropriate discount rate. Royalty rates of 1.0% to 2.5%,
depending on the trade name, were used in the valuations which gave consideration to third-party license agreements that involve trade names and
trademarks that can be considered reasonably comparable, the age and profitability of the casinos, nature of the business and degree of competition,
and a return on assets analysis to determine an implied royalty rate. The after-tax cash flows were discounted to present value utilizing a range of
discount rates from 11.0% to 12.0% depending on the trade name. The trade names associated with the Merger were given an indefinite life.
The trade names acquired with the Montana Acquisitions encompass the various trade names of the acquired distributed gaming businesses.
Management intends to discontinue these trade names, but believes that from a market participant standpoint the trade names hold defensive value
and are a valuable intangible asset. These trade names were preliminarily valued at $0.7 million determined based on the relief-from-royalty method
under the income approach. A royalty rate of 1.0% was used in the valuations which gave consideration to third-party license agreements that
involve trade names and trademarks that can be considered reasonably comparable to determine an implied royalty rate. The after-tax cash flows were
discounted to present value utilizing a range of discount rates from 12.0% to 16.0% depending on the trade name, which reflects the risk of the cash
flows related to the asset and the risk and uncertainty of the cash flows for the trade name relative to the overall business. The trade names associated
with the Montana Acquisitions were given a four year useful life.
Player relationships – The player relationships acquired as part of the Merger relate to both the tavern and Pahrump casinos reporting units and are
based on the perceived value that customers obtain from being entertained by the Company and represent the loyalty program members who earn
points based on play. These relationships are expected to lead to recurring revenue streams. The player relationships were given a fair value of $7.3
million determined based on the excess earnings method under the income approach. Based on management’s experience with historical attrition
rates, an annual attrition range of 10.0% to 20.0% was utilized for tavern player relationships. After-tax cash flows were calculated by applying cost,
expense, income tax and contributory asset charge assumptions to the estimated player relationships revenue stream. The after-tax cash flows were
discounted to present value utilizing a 12.0% to 14.0% discount rate. The player relationships associated with the Merger were given a useful life of
eight years for the taverns and 12 to 14 years for the Pahrump casinos.
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Customer relationships – The Company’s customer relationships with third party distributed gaming customers acquired as part of the Merger have
been developed over years of service and are based on the perceived value that the Company’s customers obtain from doing business with th e
Company. These relationships are expected to lead to recurring revenue streams. The $59.2 million fair value of the customer relationships was
determined based on the excess earnings method under the income approach. An annual attrition factor range of 5 .0% to 12.5% was utilized
depending on the specific customer. After-tax cash flows were calculated by applying cost, expense, income tax and contributory asset charge
assumptions to the estimated customer relationships revenue stream. The after-tax cash flows were discounted to present value utilizing an 11.0%
discount rate. The customer relationships associated with the Merger were given a useful life of 13 to 16 years.
The Company’s customer relationships with third party distributed gaming customers acquired as part of the Montana Acquisitions were derived
from continuing relationships with many of its customers, which translates into an expected source of cash flows for the Company. The $18.9 million
preliminary fair value estimate of the customer relationships was determined based on the excess earnings method under the income approach. An
annual attrition factor of 5.0% was utilized. The after-tax cash flows were discounted to present value utilizing a 12.0% to 14.0% discount rate. The
customer relationships associated with the Montana Acquisitions were given a useful life of 15 years.
Gaming and liquor licenses – The gaming licenses acquired as part of the Merger relate to Lakeside Casino & RV Park, Golden Pahrump Nugget and
Gold Town Casino (“NV Gaming Licenses”). The $0.9 million fair value of the NV Gaming Licenses was determined based on the cost approach. In
performing the cost approach, management used estimates for explicit and implicit costs to obtain the gaming licenses. Additionally, the Company
acquired a Montana gaming license as part of the Merger with a fair value of less than $0.1 million determined based on the cost approach. The
Company also has various immaterial liquor licenses associated with its tavern operations which values were also determined based on the cost
approach. The economic life of the NV Gaming Licenses, Montana gaming license and various liquor licenses are anticipated to be indefinite, as they
are easily maintained.
The Company’s Maryland gaming license is associated with Rocky Gap and is subject to amortization as it has a finite life of 15 years. Amortization
of the Rocky Gap gaming license began on the date the gaming facility opened for public play in May 2013.
Non-compete agreements – The non-compete agreements acquired as part of the Merger have a fair value of $0.3 million determined based on the
lost profits method under the income approach using Level 3 inputs. A “With” scenario was based on projections, which assumed that the noncompete agreements were in place. In contrast, a “Without” scenario assumed the non-compete agreements did not exist and competition began
immediately after consummation of the transaction. The difference in after-tax cash flows between the “With” and “Without” scenarios was
calculated and then discounted to present value utilizing a 9.8% discount rate, which was based on the Company’s overall internal rate of return. A
probability factor of 10.0% was applied to derive the fair value. The non-compete agreements associated with the Merger were given a useful life of
two years.
The non-compete agreements acquired as part of the Montana Acquisitions have a preliminary fair value estimate of $5.7 million determined based
on the lost profits method under the income approach. The difference in after-tax cash flows between the “With” and “Without” scenarios was
calculated and then discounted to present value utilizing a range of 12.0% to 16.0% discount rate depending on the agreement. A probability factor
range of 43.8% to 50.0% was applied to the first year, increasing each year after, to derive the fair value. The non-compete agreements associated
with the Montana Acquisitions were given a useful life of five years.
Software – The $0.5 million fair value of the software was determined based on the cost approach, which included estimates for fully burdened
salaries and the number of hours needed to complete the software as it relates to the latest version of the software. The software was given a useful life
of 15 years.
The Company owns various parcels of developed and undeveloped land relating to its casinos in Pahrump, Nevada. The Company performs an impairment
analysis on the land it owns at least quarterly and determined that no impairment had occurred as of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015. During the
fourth quarter of 2016, the Company completed the sale of the parcels of undeveloped land in California held for sale that related to the
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Company’s previous involvement in a potential Indian casino project with the Jamul Tribe for $5.5 million and recognized a gain on sale of land held for
sale of $4.5 million, recorded within “(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment” on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
Note 15 – Commitments and Contingencies
Rocky Gap Lease
The Company entered into an operating ground lease with the Maryland Department of Natural Resources for approximately 270 acres in the Rocky Gap
State Park in which Rocky Gap is situated. The lease expires in 2052, with an option to renew for an additional 20 years.
Under the lease, rent payments are due and payable annually in the amount of $275,000 plus 0.9% of any gross operator share of gaming revenue (as defined
in the lease) in excess of $275,000, and $150,000 plus any surcharge revenue in excess of $150,000. Surcharge revenue consists of amounts billed to and
collected from guests and are $3.00 per room per night and $1.00 per round of golf. Rent expense associated with the lease was $0.3 million (net of surcharge
revenue of $0.1 million) during each of fiscal years 2016, 2015 and 2014.
Gold Town Casino Leases
The Company’s Gold Town Casino is located on four leased parcels of land, comprising approximately nine acres in the aggregate, in Pahrump, Nevada. The
leases are with unrelated third parties and have various expiration dates beginning in 2026 (for the parcel on which the Company’s main casino building is
located, which we lease from a competitor), and the Company subleases approximately two of the acres to an unrelated third party. Rental income during
each of the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 was less than $0.1 million related to the sublease of the two acres in Pahrump, Nevada.
Other Operating Leases
The Company leases its branded tavern locations, office headquarters building, equipment and vehicles under noncancelable operating leases that are not
subject to contingent rents. The original terms of the current branded tavern location leases range from one to 15 years with various renewal options from one
to 15 years. The Company has operating leases with related parties for certain of its tavern locations and its office headquarters building. The lease for the
Company’s office headquarters building expires in July 2025. A portion of the office headquarters building is sublet to a related party. Rental income during
each of the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 was less than $0.1 million for the sublet portion of the office headquarters building. See Note 16,
Related Party Transactions, for more detail. Gaming device placement contracts in the form of space lease agreements are also accounted for as operating
leases. Under space lease agreements, the Company pays fixed monthly rental fees for the right to install, maintain and operate its gaming devices at business
locations, which are recorded in gaming expenses.
Operating lease rental expense, which is calculated on a straight-line basis, net of surcharge revenue, associated with all operating leases during 2016, 2015
and 2014 was as follows:
Year Ended
December 31,
2015
(In thousands)

December 31,
2016
Rent expense
Space lease agreements
Related party leases
Other operating leases

$

$
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40,848
2,429
11,784
55,061

$

$

16,032
1,108
4,619
21,759

December 28, 2014

$

$

—
—
339
339

The current and long-term obligations under capital leases are included in “Current portion of long-term debt” and “Long-term debt, net,” respectively. The
majority of the capital leases related to vehicles with minimum lease payment terms of four years or less.
As of December 31, 2016, future minimum lease payments, not subject to contingent rents, were as follows:
2017
Minimum lease payments –
operating leases
Space lease agreements
Related party leases
Other operating leases

Minimum lease payments –
capital leases
Furniture and equipment
Less: Amounts representing interest
Total obligations under capital leases

$

2018

$

$

31,957
2,434
10,846
45,237

$

596

2019

$

$

25,374
2,464
9,727
37,565

$

631

2020
(In thousands)

$

$

24,740
2,476
9,014
36,230

$

556

2021

$

$

5,555
2,488
8,911
16,954

$

241

Thereafter

$

$

2,100
2,501
8,278
12,879

$

78

Total

$

$

1,450
12,243
78,411
92,104

91,176
24,606
125,187
$ 240,969

$

—

$
$

2,102
(132 )
1,970

Participation and Revenue Share Agreements
The Company also enters into gaming device placement contracts in the form of participation and revenue share agreements. Under revenue share
agreements, the Company pays the business location a percentage of the gaming revenue generated from the Company’s gaming devices placed at the
location, rather than a fixed monthly rental fee. Under participation agreements, the business location holds the applicable gaming license and retains a
percentage of the gaming revenue that it generates from the Company’s gaming devices. During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the total
contingent payments recognized by the Company (recorded in gaming expenses) under revenue share and participation agreements were $128.1 million and
$41.7 million, respectively, including $2.1 million and $0.7 million, respectively, under revenue share and participation agreements with related parties, as
described in Note 16, Related Party Transactions. No amounts were recognized by the Company under such agreements during 2014.
The Company also enters into amusement device and ATM placement contracts in the form of revenue share agreements. Under these revenue share
agreements, the Company pays the business location a percentage of the non-gaming revenue generated from the Company’s amusement devices and ATMs
placed at the location. During the year ended December 31, 2016, the total contingent payments recognized by the Company (recorded in other operating
expenses) for amusement devices and ATMs under such agreements were less than $1.0 million. No amounts were recognized by the Company under such
agreements during 2015 and 2014.
Employment Agreements
The Company has entered into at-will employment agreements with each of the Company’s executive officers. Under each employment agreement, in
addition to the executive’s annual base salary, the executive is entitled to participate in the Company’s incentive compensation programs applicable to
executive officers of the Company. The executives are also eligible to participate in all health benefits, insurance programs, pension and retirement plans and
other employee benefit and compensation arrangements. Each executive is also provided with other benefits as set forth in his employment agreement. In the
event of a termination without “cause” or a “constructive termination” of the Company’s executive officers (as defined in their respective employment
agreements), the Company could be liable for estimated severance payments of up to $8.1 million for Mr. Sartini, $2.9 million for Stephen A. Arcana, $3.5
million for Charles H. Protell, $2.1 million for Sean T. Higgins, $1.2 million for Blake L.
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Sartini II, and $0.4 million for Gary A. Vecchiarelli (assuming each officer’s respective annual salary and health benefit costs as of December 31, 2016 are the
amounts in effect at the time of termination and excluding potential expense related to acceleration of stock options).
Miscellaneous Legal Matters
From time to time, the Company is involved in a variety of lawsuits, claims, investigations and other legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of
business, including proceedings concerning labor and employment matters, personal injury claims, breach of contract claims, commercial disputes, business
practices, intellectual property, tax and other matters. Although lawsuits, claims, investigations and other legal proceedings are inherently uncertain and their
results cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company believes that the resolution of its currently pending matters will not have a material adverse effect on
its business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. Regardless of the outcome, legal proceedings can have an adverse impact on the Company
because of defense costs, diversion of management resources and other factors. In addition, it is possible that an unfavorable resolution of one or more such
proceedings could in the future materially and adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity in a particular
period.
On February 2, 2017, a former employee filed a purported class action lawsuit against the Company in the District Court of Clark County, Nevada, on behalf
of similarly situated individuals employed by the Company in the State of Nevada. The lawsuit alleges the Company violated certain Nevada labor laws
including payment of an hourly wage below the statutory minimum wage without providing a qualified health insurance plan and an associated failure to
pay proper overtime compensation. The complaint seeks, on behalf of the plaintiff and members of the putative class, an unspecified amount of damages
(including punitive damages), injunctive and equitable relief, and an award of attorneys’ fees, interest and costs. This case is at an early stage in the
proceedings, and the Company is therefore unable to make a reasonable estimate of the probable loss or range of losses, if any, that might arise from this
matter. Therefore, the Company has not recorded any amount for the claim as of the date of this filing. While legal proceedings are inherently unpredictable
and no assurance can be given as to the ultimate outcome of this matter, based on management’s current understanding of the relevant facts and
circumstances, the Company believes that these proceedings should not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.
Note 16 – Related Party Transactions
As of December 31, 2016, the Company leased its office headquarters building and one tavern location from a company 33% beneficially owned by Blake L.
Sartini and 3% beneficially owned by Stephen A. Arcana, and leased three tavern locations from companies owned or controlled by Mr. Sartini or by a trust
for the benefit of Mr. Sartini’s immediate family members for which Mr. Sartini serves as trustee. In addition, three tavern locations that the Company had
previously leased from related parties were divested by those related parties during 2016. The lease for the Company’s office headquarters building expires
on July 31, 2025, and the leases for the tavern locations have remaining terms of up to 11 years. Rent expense during the years ended December 31, 2016 and
2015 was $1.1 million and $0.5 million, respectively, for the office headquarters building and $1.3 million and $0.6 million, respectively, in the aggregate
for such tavern locations. Additionally, a portion of the office headquarters building is sublet to a company owned or controlled by Mr. Sartini. Rental
income during each of the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 for the sublet portion of the office headquarters building was less than $0.1 million. Less
than $0.1 million was owed to the Company, and no amounts were due and payable by the Company, as of December 31, 2016 under the leases of such
tavern locations and the lease of the office headquarters building. Less than $0.1 million was owed to the Company under the sublease of the office
headquarters building as of December 31, 2016. Mr. Sartini serves as the Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and is
co-trustee of the Sartini Trust, which is a significant shareholder of the Company. Mr. Arcana serves as the Executive Vice President and Chief Operating
Officer of the Company. All of these related party lease agreements were in place prior to the consummation of the Merger.
From time to time, the Company’s executive officers and employees use for Company business a private aircraft owned by Sartini Enterprises, Inc., a
company controlled by Mr. Sartini. In April 2016, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors approved the Company’s entering into an aircraft
timesharing agreement between the Company and Sartini Enterprises, Inc. pursuant to which the Company will reimburse Sartini Enterprises, Inc. for direct
costs
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and expenses incurred for travel on the private aircraft by Company employees while on Company business. The aircraft timesharing agreement specifies the
maximum expense reimbursement that Sartini Enterprises, Inc. can charge the Company under the applicable regulations of the Federal Aviation
Administration for the use of the aircraft and flight crew. Such costs include fuel, landing fees, hangar and tie-down costs away from the aircraft’s operating
base, flight planning and weather contract services, crew costs and other related expenses. The Company’s compliance department regularly reviews these
reimbursements. During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company paid approximately $0.1 million, and as of December 31, 2016 the Company owed
less than $0.1 million, under the aircraft timesharing agreement.
Mr. Sartini’s son, Blake L. Sartini, II (“Mr. Sartini II”), joined the Company as Senior Vice President of Distributed Gaming in connection with the Merger.
Mr. Sartini II has an employment agreement that was approved by both the Audit Committee and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors and
provides for an annual base salary of $275,000 (and which was increased to $375,000 in 2017). Additionally, Mr. Sartini II is eligible for a target annual
bonus equal to 35% of his base salary (and which was increased to 50% in 2017), and received a discretionary bonus of $30,000 during the first quarter of
2016 attributable to his performance in 2015. Mr. Sartini II also participates in the Company's equity award and benefit programs. In August 2016, Mr. Sartini
II received a grant of 70,000 options to purchase the Company’s common stock with an exercise price of $12.51 per share, which stock options will vest over
a four-year period (but pursuant to the 2015 Plan such stock options may not be exercised prior to August 1, 2018 except in limited circumstances).
Three of the distributed gaming locations at which the Company’s gaming devices are located are owned in part by the spouse of Matthew W. Flandermeyer,
the Company’s former Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. On November 11, 2016, Matthew Flandermeyer resigned, effective as of
November 28, 2016, from his position with the Company. Net revenues and gaming expenses recorded by the Company from the use of the Company’s
gaming devices at these three locations were $1.4 million and $1.2 million, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2016, in each case excluding
net revenues and gaming expenses incurred during the period after the termination of Mr. Flandermeyer’s employment with the Company (as during such
period the agreement was not with a related party). Net revenues and gaming expenses recorded by the Company from the use of the Company’s gaming
devices at these three locations were $0.5 million and $0.5 million, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2015. The gaming expenses recorded
by the Company represent amounts retained by the counterparty (with respect to the two locations that are subject to participation agreements) or paid to the
counterparty (with respect to the location that is subject to a revenue share agreement) from the operation of the gaming devices. All of the agreements were
in place prior to the consummation of the Merger.
One of the distributed gaming locations at which the Company’s gaming devices are located is owned in part by Sean T. Higgins, who serves as Executive
Vice President and Chief Legal Officer of the Company. This agreement was in place prior to Mr. Higgins joining the Company on March 28, 2016. Net
revenues and gaming expenses recorded by the Company from the use of the Company’s gaming devices at this location were $0.9 million and $0.8 million,
respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2016, in each case excluding net revenues and gaming expenses incurred during the period prior to the
commencement of Mr. Higgins employment with the Company (as during such period the agreement was not with a related party). Less than $0.1 million was
owed to the Company and no amounts were due and payable by the Company related to this agreement as of December 31, 2016.
Additionally, one distributed gaming location at which the Company’s gaming devices are located was owned in part by Terrence L. Wright, who serves on
the Board of Directors of the Company, who divested his interest in such distributed gaming location in March 2016. Net revenues and gaming expenses
recorded by the Company from the use of the Company’s gaming devices at this location during the period in which the agreement was with a related party
were $0.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2016. This agreement was in place prior to the consummation of the Merger.
Note 17 – Segment Information
During the third quarter of 2015, the Company redefined its reportable segments to reflect the change in its business following the Merger. As a result of the
Merger, the Company now conducts its business through two reportable operating segments: Distributed Gaming and Casinos. Prior to the Merger, the
Company conducted its business
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through the following two segments: Rocky Gap and Other. Prior period information has been recast to reflect the new segment structure and present
comparative year-over-year results.
The Company’s Distributed Gaming segment involves the installation, maintenance and operation of gaming and amusement devices in certain strategic,
high-traffic, non-casino locations (such as grocery stores, convenience stores, restaurants, bars, taverns, saloons and liquor stores) in Nevada and Montana,
and the operation of traditional, branded taverns targeting local patrons, primarily in the greater Las Vegas, Nevada metropolitan area. The Company’s
Casinos segment includes results of operations and assets related to Rocky Gap in Flintstone, Maryland and its three casino properties in Pahrump, Nevada.
The Corporate and Other segment includes the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, miscellaneous receivables and corporate overhead, as well as historical
results of operations and assets related to the Company’s former Indian Casino Projects segment. Costs recorded in the Corporate and Other segment have not
been allocated to the Company’s reportable operating segments because these costs are not easily allocable and to do so would not be practical. Amounts in
the Eliminations column represent the intercompany management fee for Rocky Gap.

Distributed
Gaming
Net Revenues
Adjusted EBITDA
Share-based compensation
Depreciation and amortization
Other operating items, net
Income (loss) from operations
Non-operating income (expense
Interest expense, net
Gain on sale of land held for sale
Other, net
Total non-operating expense, net
Income (loss) before income tax benefit (provision)
Income tax benefit (provision)
Net income (loss)
Total assets
Capital Expenditures

$

$
$
$

305,792

Year Ended December 31, 2016
Corporate
Casinos
and Other
Eliminations
(In thousands)
$
97,132
$
280
$
—

43,555
—
(18,889 )
(2,139 )
22,527

23,571
—
(7,351 )
(94 )
16,126

(18,531 )
(3,878 )
(1,266 )
(1,943 )
(25,618 )

(144 )
—
—
(144 )
22,383
(60 )
22,323
294,822
17,730

(9 )
—
—
(9 )
16,117
—
16,117
108,418
10,267

(6,301 )
4,525
869
(907 )
(26,525 )
4,385
(22,140 )
69,236
2,637
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$
$
$

$
$
$

Consolidated
$

—
—
—
—
—

$
$
$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(53,398 )
—

403,204
48,595
(3,878 )
(27,506 )
(4,176 )
13,035

$
$
$

(6,454 )
4,525
869
(1,060 )
11,975
4,325
16,300
419,078
30,634

Year Ended December 31, 2015
Corporate
Casinos
and Other
Eliminations
(In thousands)
$
73,245
$
1,985
$
(1,798 )

Distributed
Gaming
Net Revenues

$

Adjusted EBITDA
Merger expenses
Disposition of notes receivable
Share-based compensation
Depreciation and amortization
Other operating items, net
Income (loss) from operations
Non-operating income (expense
Interest expense, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Other, net
Total non-operating expense, net
Income (loss) before income tax benefit (provision)
Income tax benefit (provision)
Net income (loss)
Total assets
Capital Expenditures

$
$
$

103,610

Consolidated
$

177,042

14,254
—
—
—
(5,315 )
(380 )
8,559

14,390
—
—
—
(4,928 )
(8 )
9,454

(10,370 )
(11,525 )
23,590
(809 )
(555 )
19
350

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

18,274
(11,525 )
23,590
(809 )
(10,798 )
(369 )
18,363

(68 )
—
1
(67 )
8,492
—
8,492
221,596
4,595

(626 )
(1,174 )
(1,798 )
(3,598 )
5,856
—
5,856
112,962
2,594

(2,034 )
—
1,887
(147 )
203
9,969
10,172
44,226
757

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

(2,728 )
(1,174 )
90
(3,812 )
14,551
9,969
24,520
378,784
7,946

$
$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$

Year Ended December 28, 2014
Distributed
Gaming
Net Revenues
Adjusted EBITDA
Impairments and other losses
Depreciation and amortization
Other operating items, net
Income (loss) from operations
Non-operating income (expense
Interest expense, net
Other, net
Total non-operating expense, net
Income (loss) before income tax benefit (provision)
Income tax benefit (provision)
Net income (loss)
Total assets
Capital Expenditures
(1)

$

$
$
$

Casinos
—

$

55,021

Corporate
and Other
Eliminations
Consolidated
(In thousands)
$
1,722 $
(1,571 ) $
55,172

—
—
—
—
—

8,086
—
(3,283 )
(1,571 )
3,232

(6,643 )
(20,997 )
(230 )
687
(27,183 )

—
—
—
—
—

1,443
(20,997 )
(3,513 )
(884 )
(23,951 )

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
3,232
—
3,232
35,688
4,345

(1,058 )
164
(894 )
(28,077 )
—
(28,077 ) $
86,341 $
171 $

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

(1,058 )
164
(894 )
(24,845 )
—
(24,845 )
122,029
4,516

$
$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$

Capital expenditures in the Distributed Gaming segment exclude non-cash purchases of property and equipment of approximately $0.7 million and
$2.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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Note 18 – Selected Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited):
Quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 are summarized as follows:
First
Quarter (1)
2016
Net revenues
Income from operations
Net income
Net income per basic share

Second
Quarter (2)

Third
Quarter (3)

Fourth
Quarter (4)

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

$

$

91,034
3,737
2,239
0.10

$

$

102,558
5,051
2,800
0.13

$

$

104,226
2,752
1,302
0.06

$

$

105,386
1,495
9,959
0.45

(1)

Results included the operating results of the Initial Montana Acquisition from and after January 30, 2016, following the completion of the business
combination. Additionally, results included $0.6 million in preopening expenses related to the Initial Montana Acquisition and tavern expansion.

(2)

Results included the operating results of the Second Montana Acquisition from and after April 23, 2016, following the completion of the business
combination. Additionally, results included $0.5 million in preopening expenses related to the Second Montana Acquisition and tavern expansion,
as well as $0.4 million in transaction-related costs associated with the Merger and the Company’s obligations under the Merger Agreement.

(3)

Results included $0.8 million in preopening expenses related to tavern expansion and a $0.3 million gain on disposal of property and equipment.
Share-based compensation expense was $1.7 million related primarily to additional stock options granted, the acceleration of unvested stock options
related to a terminated employee and incremental expense recorded for the equitable anti-dilutive adjustments made to the exercise prices of
outstanding vested and unvested stock options during the period in connection with the payment of the Special Dividend in accordance with the
Company’s equity incentive plans.

(4)

Results included a $4.1 million gain on sale of land held for sale, a $0.9 million gain on sale of interest rate swap, and $0.6 million in preopening
expense related to tavern expansion. Share-based compensation expense was $1.4 million related primarily to stock options and RSUs granted
subsequent to the Merger and the acceleration of unvested stock options related to terminated employees. Additionally, a $4.3 million income tax
benefit was recorded resulting from the partial release of the valuation allowance against deferred tax assets.
First
Quarter (1)

2015
Net revenues
Income (loss) from operations
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per basic share(5)

Second
Quarter (2)

Third
Quarter (3)

Fourth
Quarter (4)

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

$

$

12,766
(1,341 )
(1,725 )
(0.13 )

$

$

15,329
16
(179 )
(0.01 )

$

$

62,512
(7,752 )
3,018
0.16

$

$

86,435
27,440
23,406
1.07

(1)

Results included gain on sale of cost method investment of $0.8 million related to the investment in Rock Ohio Ventures and approximately $0.8
million in transaction-related costs associated with the Merger.

(2)

Results included approximately $0.4 million in transaction-related costs associated with the Merger.

(3)

Results included the operating results of Sartini Gaming from and after August 1, 2015, following the consummation of the Merger, a $1.2 million
loss on extinguishment of debt, approximately $9.3 million in transaction-related costs associated with the Merger and an income tax benefit of
$12.9 million attributable primarily to the income tax benefit recorded from the reversal of an existing valuation allowance on deferred tax assets as a
result of the net deferred tax liabilities assumed in connection with the Merger.
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(4)

Results included the operating results of Sartini Gaming for the entire fourth quarter, a gain on recovery of impaired notes receivable of $23.6 million
related to the disposition of the Jamul Note, approximately $0.9 million in transaction-related costs associated with the Merger and an income tax
provision of $2.7 million.

(5)

The per share amounts in the second half of 2015 were impacted by the issuance of an aggregate of approximately 8.5 million shares of the
Company’s common stock in connection with the Merger.

Because net income (loss) per share amounts are calculated using the weighted average number of common equivalent shares outstanding during each
quarter, the sum of the per share amounts for the four quarters in the tables above may not equal the total net income (loss) per share amounts for the year.
Note 19 – Subsequent Events
The Company's management evaluates subsequent events through the date of issuance of the consolidated financial statements. There have been no
subsequent events that occurred during such period that would require adjustment to or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2016.
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ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A.
a.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving the objective that information in our Exchange Act
reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified and pursuant to the requirements of the SEC’s rules and forms and
that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosures. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management
recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired
control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
As required by SEC Rule 13a-15(b), we carried out an evaluation, with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2016, the end of the period covered by this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that a material weakness existed in our
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, as described in subsection (b) below. As a result of this material weakness, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective at the reasonable assurance level as of
December 31, 2016.
On January 29, 2016, the Initial Montana Acquisition was completed, and on April 22, 2016, the Second Montana Acquisition was completed. As discussed
below, we have excluded the distributed gaming businesses acquired in the Montana Acquisitions from our evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, pursuant to the SEC's general guidance that an assessment of an acquired business’ internal control over financial
reporting may be omitted from the scope of an assessment for one year following the acquisition, the scope of our assessment of the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures does not include the distributed gaming businesses acquired in the Montana Acquisitions.
b.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f) under the Exchange Act). Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, or COSO.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility
that a material misstatement of the registrant’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. In connection with
management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting, management identified the following material weakness:
•

Untimely Preparation and Review of Account Reconciliations. As of December 31, 2016, account reconciliations were not consistently
prepared on a timely basis and subjected to proper review and written approval by a person not involved in their preparation.
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In light of the material weakness described above, and based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
COSO, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2016.
On January 29, 2016, the Initial Montana Acquisition was completed, and on April 22, 2016, the Second Montana Acquisition was completed. Management
has begun the evaluation of the internal control structures of the distributed gaming businesses acquired in the Montana Acquisitions. However, SEC
guidance permits management to omit an assessment of an acquired business’ internal control over financial reporting from management’s assessments of
internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures for a period not to exceed one year from the date of the acquisition.
Accordingly, we excluded the distributed gaming businesses acquired in the Montana Acquisitions from our annual assessment of internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2016. We have reported the operating results of such acquired distributed gaming businesses in our consolidated
statements of operations and cash flows from the respective acquisition dates through December 31, 2016. As of December 31, 2016, total assets related to the
businesses acquired in the Montana Acquisitions represented approximately 12.3% of our total assets, which consisted primarily of intangible assets,
including goodwill, recorded on a preliminary basis as the measurement periods for the business combinations remained open as of December 31, 2016. Net
revenues from the Montana Acquisitions comprised approximately 11.6% of our consolidated net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2016. We will
include the distributed gaming businesses acquired in the Montana Acquisitions in our evaluation of internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2017.
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, likewise excluding the internal control over financial reporting of
the distributed gaming businesses acquired in the Montana Acquisitions, has been audited by Piercy Bowler Taylor & Kern, our independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
c.

Management’s Remediation Initiatives

The Audit Committee has directed management to develop and present to the Committee a plan and timetable for the implementation of remediation
measures to correct this material weakness. Management expects the remediation measures will include, among other things:
•

Hiring additional personnel with the requisite expertise in the key functional areas of finance and accounting to supervise the preparation of
account reconciliations and to perform proper reviews of such reconciliations;

•

Implementing a computerized system to monitor and track the status and completeness of account reconciliations each period; and

•

Providing additional training to new and existing accounting and financial reporting personnel regarding our procedures and systems
concerning the preparation and review of account reconciliations.

d.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the quarter ended December 31, 2016, there were changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected our internal
control over financial reporting. In the fourth quarter of 2016, we had an insufficient number of personnel with the requisite expertise in the key functional
areas of finance and accounting. Additionally, our implementation of a new Enterprise Resource Planning System, or ERP System included transition of the
general ledger and related accounting transactions from a legacy accounting system to the new ERP System. While the organization will realize various
operational benefits from the new ERP System, the implementation further burdened our accounting and financial reporting personnel during the period.
These factors resulted in account reconciliations not being consistently prepared on a timely basis and subjected to proper review and approval.
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As described above, on January 29, 2016, the Initial Montana Acquisition was completed, and on April 22, 2016, the Sec ond Montana Acquisition was
completed. Management excluded both Montana Acquisitions from its assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2016. Our integration of the Montana Acquisitions and other remediation activities may lead us to modify certain internal controls in future
periods.
ITEM 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

On March 10, 2017, we entered into the Second Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Golden Entertainment, Inc. and Stephen Arcana,
which provides for, among other things, (1) an increase to Mr. Arcana’s annual incentive target bonus from 65% to 80% of his annual base salary and (2) an
increase to Mr. Arcana’s cash severance payment payable upon his termination without “cause” or upon his “constructive termination” (each as defined in
the agreement) from an amount equal to 165% of his annual base salary multiplied by two to an amount equal to 180% of his annual base salary multiplied
by two.
On March 10, 2017, we entered into the First Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Golden Entertainment, Inc. and Charles Protell, which
provides for, among other things, (1) an increase to Mr. Protell’s annual incentive target bonus from 65% to 80% of his annual base salary and (2) an increase
to Mr. Protell’s cash severance payment payable upon his termination of employment without “cause” or upon his “constructive termination” (each as
defined in the agreement) from an amount equal to 165% of his annual base salary multiplied by two to an amount equal to 180% of his annual base salary
multiplied by two.
On March 10, 2017, we entered into the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between Golden Entertainment, Inc. and Blake L. Sartini II,
which provides for, among other things, (1) an increase to Mr. Sartini II’s annual base salary rate from $275,000 to $375,000, (2) an increase to Mr. Sartini II’s
annual incentive target bonus from 35% to 50% of his annual base salary and (3) an increase to Mr. Sartini II’s cash severance payment payable upon his
termination of employment without “cause” or upon his “constructive termination” (each as defined in the agreement) from an amount equal to 135% of his
annual base salary multiplied by 1.25 to an amount equal to 150% of his annual base salary multiplied by 1.25.
Copies of the amendments to the employment agreements with Messrs. Arcana and Protell and the amended and restated employment agreement with Mr.
Sartini II are filed as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are incorporated herein by reference.

PART III
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this item regarding the members of our board of directors and our audit committee, including our audit committee financial
expert, will be included in our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC in connection with our 2017 annual meeting of shareholders (the “Proxy
Statement”) under the headings “Corporate Governance,” “Election of Directors” and “Ownership of Securities,” and is incorporated herein by reference.
The information required by this item relating to our executive officers is included under the caption “Executive Officers” in Part I of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference into this section.
We have adopted a code of ethics applicable to all of our employees (including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal
accounting officer). The code of ethics is designed to deter wrongdoing and to promote honest and ethical conduct and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The full text of our code of ethics is published in the “Investors-Governance” section of our website at www.goldenent.com.
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ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item will be included in the Proxy Statement under the headings “Director Compensation” and “Executive Compensation,”
and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners will be included in the Proxy Statement under the
heading “Ownership of Securities,” and is incorporated herein by reference.
EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION
On August 27, 2015, our Board of Directors approved the Golden Entertainment, Inc. 2015 Incentive Award Plan (the “2015 Plan”), which was subsequently
approved by our shareholders at our 2016 annual meeting of shareholders. The 2015 Plan authorizes the issuance of stock options, restricted stock, restricted
stock units, dividend equivalents, stock payment awards, stock appreciation rights, performance bonus awards and other incentive awards. The 2015 Plan
authorizes the grant of awards to employees, non-employee directors and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries. Options generally have a ten-year
term. Except as provided in any employment agreement between us and the employee, if an employee is terminated (voluntarily or involuntarily), any
unvested options as of the date of termination will be forfeited.
The maximum number of shares of our common stock for which grants may be made under the 2015 Plan is 2,250,000 shares, plus an annual increase on
January 1 st of each year during the ten-year term of the 2015 Plan equal to the lesser of 1,800,000 shares, 4% of the total shares of our common stock
outstanding (on an as-converted basis) and such smaller amount as may be determined by the Board in its sole discretion. The annual increase on January 1,
2016 was 874,709 shares. The following annual limitations also apply: (i) the maximum aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be subject to
awards granted to any one participant during a calendar year is 2,000,000 shares; and (ii) the maximum aggregate amount of cash that may be paid to any one
participant during any calendar year with respect to awards initially payable in cash is $10 million.
At our June 6, 2007 annual shareholders meeting, our shareholders approved the 2007 Lakes Stock Option and Compensation Plan (the “2007 Plan”), which
authorized a total of 250,000 shares of our common stock. In August of 2009, our shareholders approved an amendment to the 2007 Plan to increase the
number of shares of the Company’s common stock authorized for awards from 250,000 to 1,250,000. The 2007 Plan is designed to integrate compensation of
our executives and employees, including officers and directors with our long-term interests and those of our shareholders and to assist in the retention of
executives and other key personnel.
We have a 1998 Stock Option and Compensation Plan (the “1998 Plan”), that was approved by our shareholders to grant up to an aggregate of 2,500,000
shares of incentive and non-qualified stock options to employees. No additional options will be granted under the 1998 Plan.
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The following table provides certain information as of December 31, 2016 with respect to our equity compensation plans:
Number of
Securities to be
Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding
Options, Warrants,
and Rights

Plan Category
2015 Plan (1)
2007 Plan
1998 Plan
Total
(1)

3,071,461
461,114
11,202
3,543,777

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights

$

$

9.14
5.44
11.14
8.66

Number of Securities
Remaining Available
for Future Issuance
Under Equity
Compensation Plans
(Excluding
Securities Reflected
in First Column)

53,248
221,348
—
274,596

As of December 31, 2016, we had 141,296 restricted stock units outstanding that do not have an exercise price; therefore, the weighted average
exercise price per share only relates to outstanding stock options.

ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item will be included in the Proxy Statement under the headings “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and
“Corporate Governance,” and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item will be included in the Proxy Statement under the heading “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” and is
incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) Consolidated Financial Statements:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2016, December 31, 2015 and
December 28, 2014
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2016, December 31, 2015 and December 28, 2014
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2016, December 31, 2015 and December 28, 2014
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Page
43
45
46
47
48
49

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules:
Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended December 31, 2016, December 31, 2015 and December 28, 2014

87

94

(a)(3) Exhibits:
EXHIBIT INDEX
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

2.1

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of January 25, 2015,
by and among Lakes Entertainment, Inc., LG Acquisition
Corporation, Sartini Gaming, Inc. and The Blake L. Sartini
and Delise F. Sartini Family Trust.

8-K

000-24993

2.1

1/26/2015

2.1.1

First Amendment dated June 4, 2015, to the Agreement and
Plan of Merger, dated January 25, 2015, among Lakes
Entertainment, Inc. Sartini Gaming, Inc., LG Acquisition
Corporation and The Blake L. Sartini and Delise F. Sartini
Family Trust.

8-K

000-24993

2.1

6/4/2015

3.1

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Golden
Entertainment, Inc.

8-K

000-24993

3.1

8/4/2015

3.2

Fifth Amended and
Entertainment, Inc.

Golden

8-K

000-24993

3.2

8/4/2015

4.1

Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, dated as of
January 25, 2015 by and between Lakes Entertainment, Inc.
and Wells Fargo Shareowner Services, a division of Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association, as Rights Agent.

8-K

000-24993

4.1

1/26/2015

10.1

Credit Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2015, among Golden
Entertainment, Inc., the lenders named therein and Capital
One, National Association (as administrative agent)

8-K

000-24993

10.7

8/4/2015

10.1.1

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 25,
2016, among Golden Entertainment, Inc., the lenders named
therein and Capital One, National Association (as
administrative agent)

8-K

000-24993

10.1

3/28/2016

10.2

Guaranty and Collateral Agreement, dated as of July 31,
2015, among Golden Entertainment, Inc., the guarantors
party thereto and Capital One, National Association (as
administrative agent)

8-K

000-24993

10.8

8/4/2015

Restated

Bylaws

of
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Filed or
Furnished
Herewith

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

10.3

NOL Preservation Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2015, by
and among Golden Entertainment, Inc., The Blake L. Sartini
and Delise F. Sartini Family Trust, Lyle A. Berman, and
certain other shareholders of Golden Entertainment, Inc.

8-K

000-24993

10.1

8/4/2015

10.4

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2015, by
and between Golden Entertainment, Inc. and The Blake L.
Sartini and Delise F. Sartini Family Trust

8-K

000-24993

10.2

8/4/2015

10.5

Amended and Restated Ground Lease by and between Evitts
Resort, LLC and the State of Maryland to the use of the
Department of Natural Resources, effective August 3, 2012.

8-K

000-24993

10.2

8/9/2012

10.6

Note Sale and Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 9,
2015, between Lakes Jamul Development, LLC and San
Diego Gaming Ventures, LLC

8-K

000-24993

10.1

12/11/2015

10.7

Shareholders’ Agreement, dated as of January 25, 2015, by
and among Lakes Entertainment, Inc., The Blake L. Sartini
and Delise F. Sartini Family Trust, Lyle A. Berman and
certain other shareholders of Lakes Entertainment, Inc.

8-K

000-24993

10.2

1/26/2015

10.8

Noncompetition Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2015,
between Golden Entertainment, Inc. and Blake L. Sartini

8-K

000-24993

10.4

8/4/2015

10.9

Noncompetition Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2015,
between Golden Entertainment, Inc. and Lyle A. Berman

8-K

000-24993

10.3

8/4/2015

10.10#

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2015, by and
between Golden Entertainment, Inc. and Blake Sartini

8-K

000-24993

10.1

10/5/2015

10.10.1#

First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of
February 9, 2016, by and between Golden Entertainment,
Inc. and Blake L. Sartini

10-K

000-24993

10.11.1

3/14/2016

10.11#

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2015, by and
between Golden Entertainment, Inc. and Stephen Arcana

8-K

000-24993

10.2

10/5/2015

89

Filed or
Furnished
Herewith

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number

Filed or
Furnished
Herewith

Exhibit Description

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

10.11.1#

First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of
February 9, 2016, by and between Golden Entertainment,
Inc. and Stephen Arcana

10-K

000-24993

10.12.1

3/14/2016

10.11.2#

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of
March 10, 2017, by and between Golden Entertainment, Inc.
and Stephen Arcana

10.12#

Employment Agreement, dated as of November 15, 2016, by
and between Golden Entertainment, Inc. and Charles Protell

10.12.1#

First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of
March 10, 2017, by and between Golden Entertainment, Inc.
and Charles Protell

10.13#

Employment Agreement, dated as of November 14, 2016, by
and between Golden Entertainment, Inc. and Gary
Vecchiarelli

10.14#

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 11, 2016, by
and between Golden Entertainment, Inc. and Sean Higgins

X

10.15#

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of
March 10, 2017, by and between Golden Entertainment, Inc.
and Blake L. Sartini II

X

10.16#

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2015, by and
between Golden Entertainment, Inc. and Matthew
Flandermeyer

8-K

000-24993

10.3

10/5/2015

10.16.1#

First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of
February 9, 2016, by and between Golden Entertainment,
Inc. and Matthew Flandermeyer

10-K

000-24993

10.13.1

3/14/2016

10.16.2#

Separation and General Release Agreement, dated as of
November 11, 2016, by and between Golden Entertainment,
Inc. and Matthew Flandermeyer

8-K

000-24993

10.1

11/17/2016

X

8-K

000-24993

10.2

11/17/2016
X

8-K

90

000-24993

10.3

11/17/2016

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

10.17#

Amended and Restated Independent Contractor Consulting
Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2015, among Golden
Entertainment, Inc., Berman Consulting Corporation and
Lyle A. Berman

10-Q

000-24993

10.10.1

11/6/2015

10.18#

Independent Contractor Consulting Agreement, dated as of
July 31, 2015, between Golden Entertainment, Inc. and
Timothy J. Cope

8-K

000-24993

10.6

8/4/2015

10.19#

2007 Amended and
Compensation Plan

DEF 14A

000-24993

Appendix D

6/24/2009

Restated

Stock

Option

and

Filed or
Furnished
Herewith

10.19.1#

Form of Lakes Entertainment, Inc. Non-Qualified Stock
Option Agreement (Employees)

10-K

000-24993

10.16.1

3/14/2016

10.19.2#

Form of Lakes Entertainment, Inc. Option Agreement
(Directors)

10-K

000-24993

10.16.2

3/14/2016

10.19.3#

Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option Award
Agreement

8-K

000-24993

10.5

11/17/2016

Golden Entertainment, Inc. 2015 Incentive Award Plan

8-K

000-24993

10.1

9/2/2015

10.20.1#

Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option
Agreement

8-K

000-24993

10.2

9/2/2015

10.20.2#

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement

8-K

000-24993

10.4

11/17/2016

10.21#

Golden Entertainment, Inc. Amended and Restated NonEmployee Director Compensation Plan

X

Subsidiaries of Golden Entertainment, Inc.

X

23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

X

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

X

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

X

10.20#

21
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#
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Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed or
Furnished
Herewith

Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

X

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

X

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

X

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy
Document

Extension

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy
Document

Extension

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

X

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy
Document

X

Extension

Calculation
Calculation

Presentation

Linkbase

X

Definition

X

Linkbase

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement in which one or more executive officers or directors participates
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
GOLDEN ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
Registrant
By:

/s/ BLAKE L. SARTINI
Blake L. Sartini
Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Dated as of March 15, 2017
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities indicated as of March 15, 2017.
Name

Title

/s/ BLAKE L. SARTINI
Blake L. Sartini

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ CHARLES H. PROTELL
Charles H. Protell

Executive Vice President, Chief
Strategy and Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ GARY A. VECCHIARELLI
Gary A. Vecchiarelli

Senior Vice President of
Accounting and Finance
(Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ LYLE A. BERMAN
Lyle A. Berman

Director

/s/ TIMOTHY J. COPE
Timothy J. Cope

Director

/s/ MARK A. LIPPARELLI
Mark A. Lipparelli

Director

/s/ ROBERT L. MIODUNSKI
Robert L. Miodunski

Director

/s/ NEIL I. SELL
Neil I. Sell

Director

/s/ TERRENCE L. WRIGHT
Terrence L. Wright

Director
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GOLDEN ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
SCHEDULE II — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(In thousands)
Balance at
Beginning of
Period

Deferred income tax valuation allowance:
Year Ended December 31, 2016
Year Ended December 31, 2015
Year Ended December 28, 2014

$

25,593
44,700
34,484
94

Increase

$

—
—
10,216

Balance at
End of Period

Decrease

$

(7,484 )
(19,107 )
—

$

18,109
25,593
44,700

EXHIBIT 10.11.2
SECOND AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This Second Amendment to Employment Agreement (this “ Amendment”) is made and entered into as of the 10th day of
March, 2017, by and between Stephen Arcana (the “Executive”), and Golden Entertainment, Inc., a Minnesota corporation, including
its subsidiaries and Affiliates (collectively, the “Company”).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the Executive and the Company previously entered into that certain Employment Agreement made and entered
into as of the 1st day of October, 2015, as amended by the First Amendment to Employment Agreement made and entered into as of
the 9th day of February, 2016 (together, the “ Agreement”), pursuant to which Executive currently is employed at will by the
Company; and
WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive wish to enter into this Amendment to modify certain terms of the Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants and the respective undertakings of the
Company and the Executive set forth below, the Company and the Executive agree as follows:
AGREEMENT
1. Amendments.
(a) Section 3 of the Agreement is hereby amended (i) by deleting the year “2016” from such Section and by
replacing the same with the year “2017” and (ii) by deleting the phrase “sixty-five percent (65%)” from such Section and by
replacing the same with the phrase “eighty percent (80%)”.
(b) Section 7(c)(ii) of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and such Section is hereby replaced with the
following new Section 7(c)(ii):
“(ii) Severance Payment. The Executive shall be entitled to receive severance benefits equal to (A) an amount
equal to one hundred eighty percent (180%) of his annual Base Salary (at the rate in effect immediately preceding
his termination of employment), multiplied by (B) two (2), payable in a lump sum on the sixtieth (60th) day after
the date of Executive’s termination of employment.”
|US-DOCS\81864405.2||

(c) Section 10 of the Agreement is hereby amended by inserting the following sentence at the end of such Section:
“Executive acknowledges that the Company has provided him with the following notice of immunity rights in
compliance with the requirements of the Defend Trade Secrets Act: (i) he shall not be held criminally or civilly
liable under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of Confidential Information that is made in
confidence to a federal, state, or local government official or to an attorney solely for the purpose of reporting or
investigating a suspected violation of law, (ii) he shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or
state trade secret law for the disclosure of Confidential Information that is made in a complaint or other document
filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal and (iii) if he files a lawsuit for retaliation
by the Company for reporting a suspected violation of law, he may disclose the Confidential Information to his
attorney and use the Confidential Information in the court proceeding, if he files any document containing the
Confidential Information under seal, and does not disclose the Confidential Information, except pursuant to court
order.”
2. Status of Agreement. Except to the limited extent expressly amended hereby, the Agreement and its terms and conditions
remain in full force and effect and unchanged by this Amendment. Capitalized terms used herein but not defined herein shall have the
meanings ascribed such terms in the Agreement.
3. Counterparts and Facsimile Signatures. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts hereof, each of
which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Facsimile signatures are
permitted and shall be binding for purposes of this Amendment.
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive has hereunto set the Executive’s hand and, pursuant to the due authorization of its
Board, the Company has caused this Amendment to be executed in its name and on its behalf, all as of the day and year first written
above.
GOLDEN ENTERTAINMENT, INC.:

EXECUTIVE:

By:
/s/ Blake L. Sartini
Name: Blake L. Sartini
Its:
President and Chief Executive Officer

By:

3
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/s/ Stephen Arcana
Stephen Arcana

EXHIBIT 10.12.1
FIRST AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This First Amendment to Employment Agreement (this “ Amendment”) is made and entered into as of the 10th day of
March, 2017, by and between Charles Protell (the “Executive”), and Golden Entertainment, Inc., a Minnesota corporation, including
its subsidiaries and Affiliates (collectively, the “Company”).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the Executive and the Company previously entered into that certain Employment Agreement made and entered
into as of the 15th day of November, 2016 (the “Agreement”), pursuant to which Executive currently is employed at will by the
Company; and
WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive wish to enter into this Amendment to modify certain terms of the Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants and the respective undertakings of the
Company and the Executive set forth below, the Company and the Executive agree as follows:
AGREEMENT
1. Amendments.
(a) Section 3 of the Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the phrase “sixty-five percent (65%)” from such
Section and by replacing the same with the phrase “eighty percent (80%)”.
(b) Section 9(c)(ii) of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and such Section is hereby replaced with the
following new Section 9(c)(ii):
“(ii) Severance Payment. The Executive shall be entitled to receive severance benefits equal to (A) an amount
equal to one hundred eighty percent (180%) of his annual Base Salary (at the rate in effect immediately preceding
his termination of employment), multiplied by (B) two (2), payable in a lump sum on the sixtieth (60th) day after
the date of Executive’s termination of employment.”
|US-DOCS\81867354.1||

(c) Section 12 of the Agreement is hereby amended by inserting the following sentence at the end of such Section:
“Executive acknowledges that the Company has provided him with the following notice of immunity rights in
compliance with the requirements of the Defend Trade Secrets Act: (i) he shall not be held criminally or civilly
liable under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of Confidential Information that is made in
confidence to a federal, state, or local government official or to an attorney solely for the purpose of reporting or
investigating a suspected violation of law, (ii) he shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or
state trade secret law for the disclosure of Confidential Information that is made in a complaint or other document
filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal and (iii) if he files a lawsuit for retaliation
by the Company for reporting a suspected violation of law, he may disclose the Confidential Information to his
attorney and use the Confidential Information in the court proceeding, if he files any document containing the
Confidential Information under seal, and does not disclose the Confidential Information, except pursuant to court
order.”
2. Status of Agreement. Except to the limited extent expressly amended hereby, the Agreement and its terms and conditions
remain in full force and effect and unchanged by this Amendment. Capitalized terms used herein but not defined herein shall have the
meanings ascribed such terms in the Agreement.
3. Counterparts and Facsimile Signatures. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts hereof, each of
which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Facsimile signatures are
permitted and shall be binding for purposes of this Amendment.
2
|US-DOCS\81867354.1||

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive has hereunto set the Executive’s hand and, pursuant to the due authorization of its
Board, the Company has caused this Amendment to be executed in its name and on its behalf, all as of the day and year first written
above.
GOLDEN ENTERTAINMENT, INC.:

EXECUTIVE:

By:
/s/ Blake L. Sartini
Name: Blake L. Sartini
Its:
President and Chief Executive Officer

By:

3
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/s/ Charles Protell
Charles Protell

EXHIBIT 10.14
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This Agreement (the "Agreement") is made and entered into as of this 11th day of October, 2016 (the "Effective Date"), by
and between Sean Higgins (the "Executive"), and Golden Entertainment, Inc., a Minnesota corporation, including its subsidiaries and
Affiliates (as defined below) (collectively, the "Company").
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the Executive currently is employed at-will by the Company.
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (including any duly authorized Committee thereof, the "Board") has
determined that it is in the best interests of the Company to continue to employ the Executive; and
WHEREAS, the Board and the Executive wish to enter into this Agreement to document the terms of the Executive's
employment with the Company.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants and the respective undertakings of the
Company and the Executive set forth below the Company and Executive agree as follows:
AGREEMENT
1. Employment. The Company hereby employs the Executive, and the Executive accepts such employment and agrees to
perform services for the Company, for the period and upon the other terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.
2 . Base Salary. The Company shall pay the Executive an annual base salary in the amount of Four Hundred and Fifty
Thousand Dollars ($450,000) or such amount as may from time-to-time be determined by the Company as appropriate in its sole
discretion ("Base Salary"). Such salary shall be paid in equal installments in the manner and at the times as other employees of the
Company are paid.
3. Incentive Compensation. The Executive shall participate in the Company's incentive compensation program from time-totime established and approved by the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors, such participation to be on the
same terms and conditions as from time-to-time apply to executive officers of the Company. Commencing in calendar year 2017, the
Executive's target bonus under the Company's annual incentive compensation plan shall be sixty-five percent (65%) of the Executive's
Base Salary. For 2016, the Executive will be eligible for a discretionary bonus to be determined by the Compensation Committee of
the Company’s Board of Directors, in its sole discretion.
4. Benefits. The Company shall provide to the Executive such benefits as are provided by the Company to other executive
officers of the Company. The Executive shall pay for the portion
1
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of the cost of such benefits as is from time-to-time established by the Company as the portion of such cost to be paid by executive
officers of the Company. The Company shall have the right to amend or delete any such benefit plan or arrangement made available by
the Company to its executive officers and not otherwise specifically provided for herein. The Executive shall be entitled to such
periods of paid time off ("PTO") each year as provided from time to time under the Company's PTO policy and as otherwise provided
for executive officers. In addition, the Executive shall be entitled to receive the additional benefits described on Exhibit A attached
hereto.
5 . Costs and Expenses. The Company shall reimburse the Executive for reasonable out-of-pocket business expenses
incurred in connection with the performance of his duties hereunder, subject to such policies as the Company may from time to time
establish, and the Executive furnishing the Company with evidence in the form of receipts satisfactory to the Company substantiating
the claimed expenditures.
6. Duties.
a. The Executive shall serve as Chief Legal Counsel and Vice President of Development, Compliance and
Government Affairs of the Company. In the performance of such duties, the Executive shall report directly to the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company (the "CEO") and shall be subject to the direction of the CEO and to such limits upon the Executive's authority
as the CEO may from time to time impose. In the event of the CEO's incapacity or unavailability, the Executive shall be subject to the
direction of the Board. The Executive hereby consents to serve as an officer and/or director of the Company or any subsidiary or
Affiliate thereof without any additional salary or compensation, if so requested by the CEO. The Executive shall be employed by the
Company on a full time basis. The Executive's primary place of work shall be the Company's offices in Las Vegas, Nevada, or, with
the Company's consent, at any other place at which the Company maintains an office; provided, however, that the Company may from
time to time require the Executive to travel temporarily to other locations in connection with the Company's business. The Executive
shall be subject to and comply with the policies and procedures generally applicable to executive officers of the Company to the extent
the same are not inconsistent with any term of this Agreement.
b. The Executive shall at all times faithfully, industriously and to the best of his ability, experience and talent
perform to the satisfaction of the Board and the CEO all of the duties that may be assigned to the Executive hereunder.
7. Termination.
a . At-Will Employment; Termination. The Company and the Executive acknowledge that the Executive's
employment is and shall continue to be at-will, as defined under applicable law, and that the Executive's employment with the
Company may be terminated by either party at any time for any or no reason, with or without notice. If the Executive's employment
terminates for any reason, the Executive shall not be entitled to any payments, benefits, damages, awards or compensation other than as
provided in this Agreement.
2
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b. Automatic Termination Due to Death or Disability.
(i) Termination Due to Disability. If the Executive suffers any "Disability" (as defined below), this
Agreement and the Executive's employment hereunder will automatically terminate. "Disability" means the inability of the Executive
to perform the essential functions of his position, with or without reasonable accommodation, because of physical or mental illness or
incapacity, for a period of ninety (90) consecutive calendar days or for one hundred twenty (120) calendar days in any one hundred
eighty (180) calendar day period. The existence of the Executive's Disability shall be determined by the Company on the advice of a
physician chosen by the Company and reasonably acceptable to the Executive.
(ii) Termination Due to Death. This Agreement will automatically terminate on the date of the
Executive's death.
(iii) Accrued Obligations and Stock Award Acceleration and Extended Exercisability. In the event of
the Executive's termination of employment by reason of his Disability or death, the Company will have no further obligation to the
Executive under this Agreement, except the Company shall pay to the Executive his fully earned but unpaid Base Salary, when due,
through the date of the Executive's termination at the rate then in effect, accrued and unused PTO, plus all other benefits, if any, under
any Company group retirement plan, nonqualified deferred compensation plan, equity award plan or agreement, health benefits plan or
other Company group benefit plan to which the Executive may be entitled pursuant to the terms of such plans or agreements at the time
of the Executive's termination (the "Accrued Obligations"), and the vesting of any outstanding unvested portion of each of the
Executive's Stock Awards shall be automatically accelerated on the date of termination (provided that the exercise of such Stock
Awards shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the equity plan and any Stock Award agreement pursuant to which the
Executive's Stock Awards were granted). In addition, such Stock Awards may be exercised by the Executive or the Executive's legal
representative until the latest of (A) the date that is one (1) year after the date of the Executive's termination of employment or (B) such
longer period as may be specified in the applicable Stock Award agreement; provided, however, that in no event shall any Stock
Award remain exercisable beyond the original outside expiration date of such Stock Award.
c. Termination Without Cause or Constructive Termination.
The provisions of this Section 7(c) shall apply following any termination of the Executive which is either (i)
without "Cause" (as defined below); or (ii) a "Constructive Termination" (as defined below). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
in this Section 7(c), and subject to Sections 7(f) and 21 and the Executive's continued compliance with Sections 10 and 11, in the event
that the Executive's employment is terminated, at any time, and such termination is either (i) without Cause; or (ii) a Constructive
Termination:
(i) Accrued Obligations. The Company shall pay to the Executive the Accrued Obligations through the
date of termination.
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(ii) Severance Payment. The Executive shall be entitled to receive severance benefits equal to (A) an
amount equal to one hundred sixty-five percent (165%) of his annual Base Salary (at the rate in effect immediately preceding his
termination of employment) multiplied by (B) two (2), payable in a lump sum on the sixtieth (60th) day after the date of Executive's
termination of employment.
(iii) Benefits. For the period commencing on the date of the Executive's termination of employment and
continuing for eighteen (18) months thereafter (or, if earlier, (A) the date on which the applicable continuation period under the
Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended ("COBRA") expires or (B) the date the Executive becomes
eligible to receive the equivalent or increased healthcare coverage by means of subsequent employment or self-employment) (such
period, the "COBRA Coverage Period"), if the Executive and/or his eligible dependents who were covered under the Company's
health insurance plans as of the date of the Executive's termination of employment elect to have COBRA coverage and are eligible for
such coverage, the Company shall pay for or reimburse the Executive on a monthly basis for an amount equal to (1) the monthly
premium the Executive and/or his covered dependents, as applicable, are required to pay for continuation coverage pursuant to
COBRA for the Executive and/or his eligible dependents, as applicable, who were covered under the Company's health plans as of the
date of the Executive's termination of employment (calculated by reference to the premium as of the date of the Executive's termination
of employment) less (2) the amount the Executive would have had to pay to receive group health coverage for the Executive and/or his
or her covered dependents, as applicable, based on the cost sharing levels in effect on the date of the Executive's termination of
employment (the "Monthly Premium Amount"). If any of the Company's health benefits are self-funded as of the date of the
Executive's termination of employment, or if the Company cannot provide the foregoing benefits in a manner that is exempt from
Section 409A (as defined below) or that is otherwise compliant with applicable law (including, without limitation, Section 2716 of the
Public Health Service Act), instead of providing the payments or reimbursements as set forth above, the Company shall instead pay to
the Executive the foregoing monthly amount as a taxable monthly payment for the COBRA Coverage Period (or any remaining
portion thereof). The Executive shall be solely responsible for all matters relating to continuation of coverage pursuant to COBRA,
including, without limitation, the election of such coverage and the timely payment of premiums. The Executive shall notify the
Company immediately if the Executive becomes eligible to receive the equivalent or increased healthcare coverage by means of
subsequent employment or self-employment. In addition, the Company shall pay to the Executive an amount equal to (x) the Monthly
Premium Amount (as in effect on the date of termination), multiplied by (y) six (6), in a lump sum on the sixtieth (60 th) day after the
date of Executive's termination of employment.
(iv) Stock Award Acceleration and Extended Exercisability. The vesting of any outstanding unvested
portion of each of the Executive's Stock Awards shall be automatically accelerated on the date of termination (provided that the
exercise of such Stock Awards shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the equity plan and any Stock Award agreement
pursuant to which the Executive's Stock Awards were granted). In addition, such Stock Awards may be exercised by the Executive or
the Executive's legal representative until the latest of (A) the date that is one (1) year after the date of the Executive's termination of
employment or (B) such longer period as may be specified in the applicable Stock Award
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agreement; provided, however, that in no event shall any Stock Award remain exercisable beyond the original outside expiration date
of such Stock Award.
(v) Conversion of Insurance Policies. In addition, the Company shall also use its best efforts to convert
any then-existing life insurance and accidental death and disability insurance policies to individual policies in the name of the
Executive.
d. Termination by the Executive.
The Executive may terminate this Agreement and his employment hereunder at any time by providing the
Company written notice of his intent to terminate at least sixty (60) days prior to the effective date of his termination. During this sixtyday period, the Executive must execute his duties and responsibilities in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. If the Executive
resigns his employment, other than in a Constructive Termination, the Executive will only be entitled to receive the Accrued
Obligations through the date of termination.
e. Termination by the Company for Cause.
The Company will have the right to immediately terminate this Agreement and the Executive's employment
hereunder for "Cause" (as defined below). In the event of such termination for Cause, the Executive will only be entitled to receive the
Accrued Obligations through the date of termination.
f. Waiver of Claims.
The Company's obligations to provide severance benefits in Section 7(c) above are conditioned on the Executive
signing and not revoking a general release of legal claims and covenant not to sue (the "Release") in form and content satisfactory to
the Company. In the event the Release does not become effective within the fifty-five (55) day period following the date of the
Executive's termination of employment, the Executive shall not be entitled to the aforesaid severance benefits.
g. Exclusive Remedy.
Except as otherwise expressly required by law (e.g., COBRA) or as specifically provided herein, all of the
Executive's rights to salary, severance, benefits, bonuses and other amounts hereunder (if any) accruing after the termination of the
Executive's employment shall cease upon such termination. In the event of the Executive's termination of employment with the
Company, the Executive's sole remedy shall be to receive the payments and benefits described in this Section 7. In addition, the
Executive acknowledges and agrees that he or she is not entitled to any reimbursement by the Company for any taxes payable by the
Executive as a result of the payments and benefits received by the Executive pursuant to this Section 7, including, without limitation,
any excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code. Any payments made to the Executive under this Section 7 shall be inclusive of
any amounts or benefits to which the Executive may be entitled pursuant to the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act,
29 U.S.C. Sections 2101 et seq., and the Department of Labor regulations thereunder, or any similar state statute. For the avoidance of
doubt, following the Executive's termination of
5
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employment for any reason, the Company will have no further obligation to provide to the Executive the additional benefits described
on Exhibit A attached hereto.
h. Return of the Company's Property.
In the event of the Executive's termination of employment for any reason, the Company shall have the right, at its
option, to require the Executive to vacate his offices prior to or on the effective date of separation and to cease all activities on the
Company's behalf. Upon the Executive's termination of employment in any manner, as a condition to the Executive's receipt of any
severance benefits described in this Agreement, the Executive shall immediately surrender to the Company all lists, books and records
of, or in connection with, the Company's business, and all other property belonging to the Company, it being distinctly understood that
all such lists, books and records, and other documents, are the property of the Company. The Executive shall deliver to the Company a
signed statement certifying compliance with this Section 7(h) prior to the receipt of any severance benefits described in this Agreement.
i. Deemed Resignation.
Upon termination of the Executive's employment for any reason, the Executive shall be deemed to have resigned
from all offices and directorships, if any, then held with the Company or any of its Affiliates, and, at the Company's request, the
Executive shall execute such documents as are necessary or desirable to effectuate such resignations.
8. Insurance; Indemnification.
a. The Company shall have the right to take out life, health, accident, "key-man" or other insurance covering the
Executive, in the name of the Company and at the Company's expense in any amount deemed appropriate by the Company. The
Executive shall assist the Company in obtaining such insurance, including, without limitation, submitting to any required examinations
and providing information and data required by insurance companies.
b. The Executive will be provided with indemnification against third party claims related to his or her work for the
Company as required by Minnesota law. The Company shall provide the Executive with directors and officers liability insurance
coverage at least as favorable as that which the Company may maintain from time to time for members of the Board and other
executive officers.
c. Following a Change in Control and for a period of not less than three years after the effective date of the
resignation or termination of the Executive, the Executive shall be entitled to indemnification and, to the extent available on
commercially reasonable terms, insurance coverage therefor, with respect to the various liabilities as to which the Executive has been
customarily indemnified prior to the Change in Control. In the event of any discrepancies between the provisions of this paragraph and
the terms of any Company insurance policy covering executive or any indemnification contract by and between the Company and the
Executive, such insurance policy or indemnification contract shall control.
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9. Certain Definitions.
a. Affiliate.
For purposes of this Agreement, "Affiliate" shall mean a person or entity controlling, controlled by or under
common control with the Company.
b. Change in Control.
For the purposes of this Agreement, a "Change in Control" shall have the meaning given to such term in the
Company's 2015 Incentive Award Plan, as in effect on the date of this Agreement.
c. Cause.
For the purposes of this Agreement, "Cause" shall mean termination of the Executive by the Company for any of
the following reasons:
(i) the commission of a felony;
(ii) the theft or embezzlement of property of the Company or the commission of any similar act
involving moral turpitude;
(iii) the failure of the Executive to substantially perform his material duties and responsibilities under
this Agreement for any reason other than the Executive's death or Disability, which failure if, in the opinion of the Company such
failure is curable, is not cured within thirty (30) days after written notice of such failure from the Board specifying such failure;
(iv) the Executive's material violation of a significant Company policy, which violation the Executive
fails to cure within thirty (30) days after written notice of such violation from the Company specifying such failure, or which violation
the Company, in its opinion, deems noncurable, and which violation has a material adverse effect on the Company or its subsidiaries or
Affiliates;
(v) the failure of the Executive to qualify (or having so qualified being thereafter disqualified) under any
regulatory or licensing requirement of any jurisdiction or regulatory authority to which the Executive may be subject by reason of his
position with the Company or its subsidiaries or Affiliates, unless waived by the Board or the Compensation Committee in its sole
discretion; or
(vi) the revocation of any gaming license issued by any governmental entity to the Company, as a result
of any act or omission by the Executive, which revocation has an adverse effect on the Company or its subsidiaries or Affiliates.
7
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d. Constructive Termination.
(i) For the purposes of this Agreement, "Constructive Termination" shall mean:
(A) a material, adverse change of the Executive's responsibilities, authority, status, position,
offices, titles, duties or reporting requirements (including directorships);
(B) a reduction in the Executive's Base Salary or a material adverse change in the Executive's
annual compensation or benefits;
(C) a requirement to relocate in excess of fifty (50) miles from the Executive's then current
place of employment without the Executive's consent; or
(D) the breach by the Company of any material provision of this Agreement or failure to
fulfill any other contractual duties owed to the Executive.
For the purposes of this definition, the Executive's responsibilities, authority, status, position, offices, titles, duties and reporting
requirements are to be determined as of the date of this Agreement.
(ii) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (i) above, notermination by the Executive will
constitute a Constructive Termination unless the Executive shall have provided written notice to the Company of his intention to so
terminate this Agreement within ninety (90) days following the initial occurrence of the event or circumstances that the Executive
believes to be the basis for the Constructive Termination, which notice sets forth in reasonable detail the conduct that the Executive
believes to be the basis for the Constructive Termination, and the Company will thereafter have failed to correct such conduct (or
commence action to correct such conduct and diligently pursue such correction to completion) within thirty (30) days following the
Company's receipt of such notice. The Executive's resignation by reason of Constructive Termination must occur within six (6) months
following the initial occurrence of the event or circumstances that the Executive believes to be the basis for the Constructive
Termination.
e. Stock Awards.
For purposes of this Agreement, "Stock Awards" means all stock options, restricted stock and such other awards
granted pursuant to the Company's stock option and equity incentive award plans or agreements and any shares of stock issued upon
exercise thereof.
10. Confidentiality.
Except to the extent required by law, the Executive shall keep confidential and shall not, without the Company's prior,
express written consent, disclose to any third party, other than as reasonably necessary or appropriate in connection with the
Executive's performance of his duties under this Agreement or any employment agreement, if any, the Company's "Confidential
8
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Information." "Confidential Information" means any information that the Executive learns or

develops during the course of employment that derives independent economic value from being not generally known or readily ascertainable by
other persons who could obtain economic value from its disclosure or use, or any information that the Company reasonably believes to be
Confidential Information. It includes, but is not limited to, trade secrets, customer lists, financial information, business plans and may relate to
such matters as research and development, operations, site selection/analysis processes, management systems and techniques, costs modeling
or sales and marketing. The provisions of this Section 10 shall remain in effect after the expiration or termination of this Agreement and the
Executive's employment hereunder.

11. Agreement Not to Compete.
a. The Executive acknowledges that he is a key executive employee of the Company and by virtue of his position
has gained and will gain extensive knowledge of the business of the Company, and that the restrictive covenants contained herein (the
"Restrictive Covenants") are necessary to protect the goodwill and other legitimate business interests of the Company, and further
acknowledges that the Company would not have entered into this Agreement in the absence of the Restrictive Covenants. The
Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Restrictive Covenants are reasonable in duration, geographical scope, and in all other
respects, and do not, and will not, unduly impair the Executive's ability to earn a living while the Restrictive Covenants are in effect.
The Restrictive Covenants shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of this Agreement.
b. The Executive covenants and agrees with the Company that from the Effective Date until the date which is two
(2) years following the date of the Executive's termination of employment with the Company, whether such termination is voluntary or
involuntary (the "Restricted Period"), the Executive will not, except when acting on behalf of the Company or any Affiliate, within
any area in which the Company or any of its Affiliates are directly or indirectly conducting their business (the "Restricted Area"),
engage in any of the following activities: (A) either directly or indirectly, solely or jointly with any person or persons, as an employee,
consultant, or advisor (whether or not engaged in business for profit) or as an individual proprietor, owner, partner, stockholder,
director, officer, joint venturer, investor or in any other capacity, compete with the Company; provided, however, the Executive may
own up to five percent (5%) of the ownership interest of any publicly traded company which may be engaged in any gaming business;
or (B) directly or indirectly recruit or hire or attempt to recruit or hire any person known by the Executive to be an employee or
contractor of the Company or any Affiliate or assist any person or persons in recruiting or hiring or soliciting any person known by the
Executive to be an employee or contractor of the Company or any Affiliate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company
acknowledges that the Executive currently holds an ownership interest in an existing restricted gaming location. In addition, following
the Executive’s termination of employment with the Company, nothing contained herein shall prohibit the Executive from engaging in
government affairs consulting on behalf of any third party which does not directly or indirectly compete against the Company or any
Affiliate, including non-restricted gaming operators operating hotel-casinos in Clark County, Nevada.
9
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If the scope of the Executive's agreement under this Section 11 is determined by any court of competent jurisdiction to be too
broad to permit the enforcement of all of the provisions of this Section 11 to their fullest extent, then the provisions of this Section 11
shall be construed (and each of the parties hereto hereby confirm its intent is that such provisions be so construed) to be enforceable to
the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, the Executive hereby consents to
the judicial modification of the provisions of this Section 11 in any proceeding brought to enforce such provisions in such a manner
that renders such provisions enforceable to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law.
c. The provisions of this Section 11 shall remain in full force and effect after the expiration or termination of this
Agreement and the Executive's employment hereunder.
12. Acknowledgments; Irreparable Harm.
The Executive agrees that the restrictions on competition, solicitation and disclosure in this Agreement are fair, reasonable
and necessary for the protection of the interests of the Company. The Executive further agrees that a breach of any of the covenants set
forth in Sections 10 and 11 of this Agreement will result in irreparable injury and damage to the Company for which the Company
would have no adequate remedy at law, and the Executive further agrees that in the event of a breach, the Company will be entitled to
an immediate restraining order and injunction to prevent such violation or continued violation, without having to prove damages, in
addition to any other remedies to which the Company may be entitled to at law or in equity.
13. Notification to Subsequent Employers.
The Executive grants the Company the right to notify any future employer or prospective employer of the Executive
concerning the existence of and terms of this Agreement and grants the Company the right to provide a copy of this Agreement to any
such subsequent employer or prospective employer.
14. Full Settlement.
The Company's obligations to make the payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its obligations
hereunder shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other claim, right or action which the Company
may have against the Executive or others. The Executive will not be obligated to seek other employment, and except as provided in
Section 7(c)(iii) above, take any other action by way of mitigation of the amounts payable to the Executive under any of the provisions
of this Agreement.
15. Resolution of Disputes.
Any controversy, claim or dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the breach of this Agreement shall be settled
by arbitration before a single neutral arbitrator in accordance with the National Rules for the Resolution of Employment Disputes of the
American Arbitration Association (the "Rules"), and a judgment upon the award rendered by the
10
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arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. The Rules may be found online at www.adr.org. The award rendered in
any arbitration proceeding under this section will be final and binding. Any demand for arbitration must be made and filed within sixty
(60) days of the date the requesting party knew or reasonably should have known of the event giving rise to the controversy or claim.
Any claim or controversy not submitted to arbitration in accordance with this section will be considered waived, and therefore, no
arbitration panel or court will have the power to rule or make any award on such claims or controversy. Any such arbitration will be
conducted in the Las Vegas, Nevada metropolitan area. Both the Company and the Executive

recognize that each would give up any right to a jury trial, but believe the benefits of arbitration significantly out-weigh any disadvantage. Both
further believe arbitration is likely to be both less expensive and less time-consuming than litigation of any dispute there might be.

Each party shall pay the fees of its own attorneys, the expenses of its witnesses and all other expenses connected with
presenting its case; however, Executive and the Company agree that, to the extent permitted by law, the arbitrator may, in his or her
discretion, award reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses to the prevailing party. Other costs of the arbitration, including the cost of
any record or transcripts of the arbitration, AAA's administrative fees, the fee of the arbitrator, and other similar fees and costs, shall be
borne by the Company. This section is intended to be the exclusive method for resolving any and all claims by the parties against each
other for payment of damages under this Agreement or relating to the Executive's employment; provided, however, that the Executive
shall retain the right to file administrative charges with or seek relief through any government agency of competent jurisdiction, and to
participate in any government investigation, including but not limited to (a) claims for workers' compensation, state disability insurance
or unemployment insurance; (b) claims for unpaid wages or waiting time penalties brought before an appropriate state authority;
provided, however, that any appeal from an award or from denial of an award of wages and/or waiting time penalties shall be
arbitrated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; and (c) claims for administrative relief from the United States Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission (or any similar state agency in any applicable jurisdiction); provided, further, that the Executive shall not be
entitled to obtain any monetary relief through such agencies other than workers' compensation benefits or unemployment insurance
benefits. This Agreement shall not limit either party's right to obtain any provisional remedy, including, without limitation, injunctive or
similar relief, from any court of competent jurisdiction as may be necessary to protect their rights and interests pending the outcome of
arbitration, including without limitation injunctive relief, in any court of competent jurisdiction. Seeking any such relief shall not be
deemed to be a waiver of such party's right to compel arbitration.
If there shall be any dispute between the Company and the Executive (a) in the event of any termination of Executive's
employment by the Company, whether such termination was with or without Cause, or (b) in the event of a Constructive Termination
of employment by the Company, then, unless and until there is a final award by an arbitrator, to the extent permitted by applicable law,
the Company shall pay, and provide all benefits to the Executive and/or the Executive's family or other beneficiaries, as the case may
be, that the Company would be required to pay or provide pursuant to Section 7 hereof, as the case may be, as though such termination
were by the Company without Cause or was a Constructive Termination by the Company; provided, however, that the Company shall
not be required to pay any disputed
11
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amounts pursuant to this section except upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the Executive to repay all such amounts to
which Executive is ultimately adjudged by such arbitrator not to be entitled.
16. Withholding.
The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement the minimum Federal, state and local taxes as
shall be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law, statute or regulation.
17. Successors and Assigns.
This Agreement is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of all successors and assigns of the Company. This Agreement
shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Executive and his heirs and personal representatives. None of the rights of the
Executive to receive any form of compensation payable pursuant to this Agreement shall be assignable or transferable except through a
testamentary disposition or by the laws of descent and distribution upon the death of the Executive. The rights of the Company under
this Agreement may, without the consent of the Executive, be assigned by the Company, in its sole and unfettered discretion, to any
person, firm, corporation or other business entity which at any time, whether by purchase, merger or otherwise, directly or indirectly,
acquires all or substantially all of the assets or business of the Company. The Company will require any successor (whether direct or
indirect, by purchase, merger or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company to assume expressly
and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform it if
no such succession had taken place. Failure of the Company to obtain such agreement, prior to the effectiveness of any such
succession shall be a material breach of this Agreement. As used in this Agreement, the "Company" shall mean the Company as
hereinbefore defined and any successor to its business and/or assets as aforesaid which assumes and agrees to perform this Agreement
by operation of law or otherwise.
18. Survival. The covenants, agreements, representations and warranties contained in or made in Sections 7 through 22 of
this Agreement shall survive any termination of the Executive's employment.
19. Miscellaneous.
a. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Nevada,
without reference to principles of conflict of laws. Except as provided in Sections 12 and 15, any suit brought hereon shall be brought
in the state or federal courts sitting in Las Vegas, Nevada, the parties hereto hereby waiving any claim or defense that such forum is not
convenient or proper. Each party hereby agrees that any such court shall have in personam jurisdiction over it and consents to service
of process in any manner authorized by Nevada law.
12
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b. All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by hand to
the other party or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:
IF TO THE EXECUTIVE:
Sean Higgins c/o
Golden Entertainment, Inc.
6595 S. Jones Boulevard
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
IF TO THE COMPANY:
Golden Entertainment, Inc.
Attn: Chief Executive Officer
6595 S. Jones Boulevard
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
or to such other address as either party furnishes to the other in writing in accordance with this Section 19(b). Notices and
communications shall be effective when actually received by the addressee.
c. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or
enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement. If any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable in
part, the remaining portion of such provision, together with all other provisions of this Agreement, shall remain valid and enforceable
and continue in full force and effect to the fullest extent consistent with the law.
d. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company may withhold from amounts payable
under this Agreement all federal, state, local and foreign taxes that are required to be withheld by applicable laws or regulations.
e. The Executive's or the Company's failure to insist upon strict compliance with any provision of, or to assert any
right under, this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such provision or right or of any other provision of or right under
this Agreement.
f. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed original, and said
counterparts shall constitute but one and the same instrument.
g. The language in all parts of this Agreement shall in all cases be construed simply, according to its fair meaning,
and not strictly for or against any of the parties hereto. Without limitation, there shall be no presumption against any party on the
ground that such party was responsible for drafting this Agreement or any part thereof. Where the context so requires, the use of the
masculine gender shall include the feminine and/or neuter genders and the singular shall include the plural, and vice versa, and the
word "person" shall include any corporation, firm, partnership or other form of association. The captions of this Agreement are not part
of the provisions hereof and shall have no force or effect.
13
|US-DOCS\71513479.4||

h. This Agreement does not create, and shall not be construed as creating, any rights enforceable by any person
not a party to this Agreement.
20. Entire Agreement.
This Agreement and the other documents referenced herein constitute the entire agreement between the parties, and
supersede all prior agreements and understandings between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, including but not
limited to any prior employment agreement or offer letter with the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate. No modification,
termination or attempted waiver of this Agreement shall be valid unless in writing and signed by the party against whom the same is
sought to be enforced.
21. Code Section 409A.
a. It is intended that the severance payments and benefits to be provided under this Agreement will be exempt
from or comply with Section 409A of the Code and any ambiguities herein will be interpreted to ensure that such payments and
benefits be so exempt or, if not so exempt, comply with Section 409A of the Code. To the extent applicable, this Agreement shall be
interpreted in accordance with the applicable exemptions from, or in compliance with, Code Section 409A and Department of
Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance issued thereunder. Each series of installment payments made under this
Agreement is hereby designated as a series of "separate payments" within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code. For purposes of
this Agreement, all references to the Executive's "termination of employment" shall mean the Executive's "separation from service," as
defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h) ("Separation from Service").
b. If the Executive is a "specified employee" (as defined in Section 409A of the Code), as determined by the
Company in accordance with Section 409A of the Code, on the date of the Executive's Separation from Service, to the extent that the
payments or benefits under this Agreement are subject to Section 409A of the Code and the delayed payment or distribution of all or
any portion of such amounts to which the Executive is entitled under this Agreement is required in order to avoid a prohibited
distribution under Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, then such portion deferred pursuant to this Section 21(b) shall be paid or
distributed to the Executive in a lump sum on the earlier of (i) the date that is six (6)-months following the Executive's Separation from
Service, (ii) the date of the Executive's death or (iii) the earliest date as is permitted under Section 409A of the Code. Any remaining
payments due under the Agreement shall be paid as otherwise provided herein.
c. If the Executive and the Company determine that any payments or benefits payable under this Agreement
intended to comply with Sections 409A(a)(2), (3) and (4) of the Code do not comply with Section 409A of the Code, Executive and
the Company agree to amend this Agreement, or take such other actions as Executive and the Company deem reasonably necessary or
appropriate, to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder (and any
applicable transition relief) while preserving the economic agreement of the parties. To the extent that any provision in this Agreement
is ambiguous as to its compliance with Section 409A of the Code, the provision shall be read in
14
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such a manner that no payments payable under this Agreement shall be subject to an "additional tax" as defined in Section 409A(a)(1)
(B) of the Code.
d. Any reimbursement of expenses or in-kind benefits payable under this Agreement shall be made in accordance
with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv) and shall be paid on or before the last day of the Executive's taxable year
following the taxable year in which the Executive incurred the expenses. The amount of expenses reimbursed or in-kind benefits
payable during any taxable year of the Executive shall not affect the amount eligible for reimbursement or in-kind benefits payable in
any other taxable year of the Executive, and the Executive's right to reimbursement for such amounts shall not be subject to liquidation
or exchange for any other benefit.
22. Clawbacks and Forfeitures.
This Agreement and all compensation paid or payable hereunder shall be subject in all respects to the applicable provisions
of any claw-back policy or forfeiture policy implemented by the Company after the Effective Date, including without limitation, any
claw-back policy or forfeiture policy adopted to comply with the requirements of applicable law or the rules and regulations of any
stock exchange applicable to the Company, including without limitation, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act and any rules or regulations promulgated thereunder, to the extent set forth in such claw-back policy or forfeiture policy.
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive has hereunto set the Executive’s hand and, pursuant to the due authorization of its
Board, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed in its name and on its behalf, all as of the day and year first written
above.
GOLDEN ENTERTAINMENT, INC.:

EXECUTIVE:

By:
Name:
Its:

By:

/s/ Blake L. Sartini
Blake L. Sartini
President and Chief Executive Officer

16
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/s/ Sean Higgins
Sean Higgins

EXHIBIT A
ADDITIONAL BENEFITS
The Executive shall be entitled to receive the following additional benefits:
•

Allowance for health insurance premiums for the Executive and his covered dependents and participation in the
Company's supplemental health insurance program, in each case consistent with the Company’s past practice.
17
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EXHIBIT 10.15
AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This Amended and Restated Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of this 10th day of
March, 2017 (the “Effective Date”), by and between Blake L. Sartini II (the “Employee”), and Golden Entertainment, Inc., a
Minnesota corporation, including its subsidiaries and Affiliates (as defined below) (collectively, the “Company”).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the Employee currently is employed at will by the Company.
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (including any duly authorized Committee thereof, the “Board”) has
determined that it is in the best interests of the Company to continue to employ the Employee; and
WHEREAS, the Company and the Employee previously entered into an Employment Agreement made and entered into as
of the 1st day of October, 2015, and the Board and the Employee wish to amend and restate such agreement in its entirety by entering
into this Agreement to document the terms of the Employee’s employment with the Company.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants and the respective undertakings of the
Company and the Employee set forth below the Company and Employee agree as follows:
AGREEMENT
1. Employment. The Company hereby employs the Employee, and the Employee accepts such employment and agrees to
perform services for the Company, for the period and upon the other terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.
2. Base Salary. The Company shall pay the Employee an annual base salary in the amount of Three Hundred Seventy-Five
Thousand Dollars ($375,000) or such higher amount as may from time-to-time be determined by the Company in its sole discretion
(“Base Salary”). Such salary shall be paid in equal installments in the manner and at the times as other employees of the Company are
paid.
3. Incentive Compensation. The Employee shall participate in the Company's incentive compensation program from timeto-time established by the Company. Commencing in 2017, the Employee’s target bonus under the Company’s annual incentive
compensation plan shall be fifty percent (50%) of the Employee’s Base Salary.
4. Benefits. The Company shall provide to the Employee such benefits as are provided by the Company to other similarlysituated employees of the Company. The Employee shall pay for the portion of the cost of such benefits as is from time-to-time
established by the Company as the portion of such cost to be paid by similarly-situated employees of the Company. The Company
shall have the right to amend or delete any such benefit plan or arrangement made
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available by the Company to its employees and not otherwise specifically provided for herein. The Employee shall be entitled to such
periods of paid time off (“PTO”) each year as provided from time to time under the Company’s PTO policy. In addition, the
Employee shall be entitled to receive the additional benefits described on Exhibit A attached hereto.
5 . Costs and Expenses. The Company shall reimburse the Employee for reasonable out-of-pocket business expenses
incurred in connection with the performance of his duties hereunder, subject to such policies as the Company may from time to time
establish, and the Employee furnishing the Company with evidence in the form of receipts satisfactory to the Company substantiating
the claimed expenditures.
6. Duties.
a. The Employee shall serve as Senior Vice President, Distributed Gaming of the Company. In the performance
of such duties, the Employee shall report directly to the Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company (the
“COO”) and shall be subject to the direction of the COO and to such limits upon the Employee’s authority as the COO may from time
to time impose. In the event of the COO’s incapacity or unavailability, the Employee shall be subject to the direction of the Chief
Executive Officer (the “CEO”). The Employee hereby consents to serve as an officer and/or director of the Company or any
subsidiary or Affiliate thereof without any additional salary or compensation, if so requested by the COO. The Employee shall be
employed by the Company on a full time basis. The Employee’s primary place of work shall be the Company’s offices in Las Vegas,
Nevada, or, with the Company's consent, at any other place at which the Company maintains an office; provided, however, that the
Company may from time to time require the Employee to travel temporarily to other locations in connection with the Company's
business. The Employee shall be subject to and comply with the policies and procedures generally applicable to employees of the
Company to the extent the same are not inconsistent with any term of this Agreement.
b. The Employee shall at all times faithfully, industriously and to the best of his ability, experience and talent
perform to the satisfaction of the Board, the CEO and the COO all of the duties that may be assigned to the Employee hereunder.
7. Termination.
a . At-Will Employment; Termination . The Company and the Employee acknowledge that the Employee’s
employment is and shall continue to be at-will, as defined under applicable law, and that the Employee’s employment with the
Company may be terminated by either party at any time for any or no reason, with or without notice. If the Employee’s employment
terminates for any reason, the Employee shall not be entitled to any payments, benefits, damages, awards or compensation other than
as provided in this Agreement.
b. Automatic Termination Due to Death or Disability.
(i) Termination Due to Disability. If the Employee suffers any “Disability” (as defined below), this
Agreement and the Employee’s employment hereunder will
2
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automatically terminate. “Disability” means the inability of the Employee to perform the essential functions of his position, with or
without reasonable accommodation, because of physical or mental illness or incapacity, for a period of ninety (90) consecutive
calendar days or for one hundred twenty (120) calendar days in any one hundred eighty (180) calendar day period. The existence of
the Employee’s Disability shall be determined by the Company on the advice of a physician chosen by the Company and reasonably
acceptable to the Employee.
(ii) Termination Due to Death.

This Agreement will automatically terminate on the date of the

Employee’s death.
(iii) Accrued Obligations and Stock Award Acceleration and Extended Exercisability . In the event of
the Employee’s termination of employment by reason of his Disability or death, the Company will have no further obligation to the
Employee under this Agreement, except the Company shall pay to the Employee his fully earned but unpaid Base Salary, when due,
through the date of the Employee’s termination at the rate then in effect, accrued and unused PTO, plus all other benefits, if any, under
any Company group retirement plan, nonqualified deferred compensation plan, equity award plan or agreement, health benefits plan or
other Company group benefit plan to which the Employee may be entitled pursuant to the terms of such plans or agreements at the time
of the Employee’s termination (the "Accrued Obligations"), and the vesting of any outstanding unvested portion of each of the
Employee’s Stock Awards shall be automatically accelerated on the date of termination (provided that the exercise of such Stock
Awards shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the equity plan and any Stock Award agreement pursuant to which the
Employee’s Stock Awards were granted). In addition, such Stock Awards may be exercised by the Employee or the Employee’s legal
representative until the latest of (A) the date that is one (1) year after the date of the Employee’s termination of employment or (B) such
longer period as may be specified in the applicable Stock Award agreement; provided, however, that in no event shall any Stock
Award remain exercisable beyond the original outside expiration date of such Stock Award.
c. Termination Without Cause or Constructive Termination.
The provisions of this Section 7(c) shall apply following any termination of the Employee which is either (i)
without “Cause” (as defined below); or (ii) a “Constructive Termination” (as defined below). Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in this Section 7(c), and subject to Sections 7(f) and 21 and the Employee's continued compliance with Sections 10 and 11, in
the event that the Employee’s employment is terminated, at any time, and such termination is either (i) without Cause; or (ii) a
Constructive Termination:
(i) Accrued Obligations. The Company shall pay to the Employee the Accrued Obligations through the
date of termination.
(ii) Severance Payment. The Employee shall be entitled to receive severance benefits equal to (A) an
amount equal to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of his annual Base Salary (at the rate in effect immediately preceding his termination
of employment) multiplied by (B) 1.25, payable in a lump sum on the sixtieth (60th) day after the date of Employee’s termination of
employment.
3
|US-DOCS\81863234.1||

(iii) Benefits. For the period commencing on the date of the Employee’s termination of employment
and continuing for fifteen (15) months thereafter (or, if earlier, (A) the date on which the applicable continuation period under the
Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended (“COBRA”) expires or (B) the date the Employee becomes
eligible to receive the equivalent or increased healthcare coverage by means of subsequent employment or self-employment) (such
period, the “COBRA Coverage Period”), if the Employee and/or his eligible dependents who were covered under the Company’s
health insurance plans as of the date of the Employee’s termination of employment elect to have COBRA coverage and are eligible for
such coverage, the Company shall pay for or reimburse the Employee on a monthly basis for an amount equal to (1) the monthly
premium the Employee and/or his covered dependents, as applicable, are required to pay for continuation coverage pursuant to
COBRA for the Employee and/or his eligible dependents, as applicable, who were covered under the Company’s health plans as of
the date of the Employee’s termination of employment (calculated by reference to the premium as of the date of the Employee’s
termination of employment) less (2) the amount the Employee would have had to pay to receive group health coverage for the
Employee and/or his or her covered dependents, as applicable, based on the cost sharing levels in effect on the date of the Employee’s
termination of employment (the “Monthly Premium Amount”). If any of the Company’s health benefits are self-funded as of the date
of the Employee’s termination of employment, or if the Company cannot provide the foregoing benefits in a manner that is exempt
from Section 409A (as defined below) or that is otherwise compliant with applicable law (including, without limitation, Section 2716
of the Public Health Service Act), instead of providing the payments or reimbursements as set forth above, the Company shall instead
pay to the Employee the foregoing monthly amount as a taxable monthly payment for the COBRA Coverage Period (or any remaining
portion thereof). The Employee shall be solely responsible for all matters relating to continuation of coverage pursuant to COBRA,
including, without limitation, the election of such coverage and the timely payment of premiums. The Employee shall notify the
Company immediately if the Employee becomes eligible to receive the equivalent or increased healthcare coverage by means of
subsequent employment or self-employment.
(iv) Stock Award Acceleration and Extended Exercisability . The vesting of any outstanding unvested
portion of each of the Employee’s Stock Awards shall be automatically accelerated on the date of termination (provided that the
exercise of such Stock Awards shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the equity plan and any Stock Award agreement
pursuant to which the Employee’s Stock Awards were granted). In addition, such Stock Awards may be exercised by the Employee
or the Employee’s legal representative until the latest of (A) the date that is one (1) year after the date of the Employee’s termination of
employment or (B) such longer period as may be specified in the applicable Stock Award agreement; provided, however, that in no
event shall any Stock Award remain exercisable beyond the original outside expiration date of such Stock Award.
(v) Conversion of Insurance Policies. In addition, the Company shall also use its best efforts to convert
any then-existing life insurance and accidental death and disability insurance policies to individual policies in the name of the
Employee.
4
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d. Termination by the Employee.
The Employee may terminate this Agreement and his employment hereunder at any time by providing the
Company written notice of his intent to terminate at least sixty (60) days prior to the effective date of his termination. During this sixtyday period, the Employee must execute his duties and responsibilities in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. If the Employee
resigns his employment, other than in a Constructive Termination, the Employee will only be entitled to receive the Accrued
Obligations through the date of termination.
e. Termination by the Company for Cause.
The Company will have the right to immediately terminate this Agreement and the Employee’s employment
hereunder for “Cause” (as defined below). In the event of such termination for Cause, the Employee will only be entitled to receive
the Accrued Obligations through the date of termination.
f. Waiver of Claims.
The Company’s obligations to provide severance benefits in Section 7(c) above are conditioned on the Employee
signing and not revoking a general release of legal claims and covenant not to sue (the “Release”) in form and content satisfactory to
the Company. In the event the Release does not become effective within the fifty-five (55) day period following the date of the
Employee’s termination of employment, the Employee shall not be entitled to the aforesaid severance benefits.
g. Exclusive Remedy.
Except as otherwise expressly required by law (e.g., COBRA) or as specifically provided herein, all of the
Employee’s rights to salary, severance, benefits, bonuses and other amounts hereunder (if any) accruing after the termination of the
Employee’s employment shall cease upon such termination. In the event of the Employee’s termination of employment with the
Company, the Employee’s sole remedy shall be to receive the payments and benefits described in this Section 7. In addition, the
Employee acknowledges and agrees that he or she is not entitled to any reimbursement by the Company for any taxes payable by the
Employee as a result of the payments and benefits received by the Employee pursuant to this Section 7, including, without limitation,
any excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code. Any payments made to the Employee under this Section 7 shall be inclusive of
any amounts or benefits to which the Employee may be entitled pursuant to the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act,
29 U.S.C. Sections 2101 et seq., and the Department of Labor regulations thereunder, or any similar state statute. For the avoidance of
doubt, following the Employee’s termination of employment for any reason, the Company will have no further obligation to provide to
the Employee the additional benefits described on Exhibit A attached hereto.
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h. Return of the Company’s Property.
In the event of the Employee’s termination of employment for any reason, the Company shall have the right, at its
option, to require the Employee to vacate his offices prior to or on the effective date of separation and to cease all activities on the
Company’s behalf. Upon the Employee’s termination of employment in any manner, as a condition to the Employee’s receipt of any
severance benefits described in this Agreement, the Employee shall immediately surrender to the Company all lists, books and records
of, or in connection with, the Company’s business, and all other property belonging to the Company, it being distinctly understood that
all such lists, books and records, and other documents, are the property of the Company. The Employee shall deliver to the Company
a signed statement certifying compliance with this Section 7(h) prior to the receipt of any severance benefits described in this
Agreement.
i. Deemed Resignation.
Upon termination of the Employee's employment for any reason, the Employee shall be deemed to have resigned
from all offices and directorships, if any, then held with the Company or any of its Affiliates, and, at the Company's request, the
Employee shall execute such documents as are necessary or desirable to effectuate such resignations.
8. Indemnification. The Employee will be provided with indemnification against third party claims related to his or her work
for the Company as required by Minnesota law.
9. Certain Definitions.
a. Affiliate.
For purposes of this Agreement, “Affiliate” shall mean a person or entity controlling, controlled by or
under common control with the Company.
b. Change in Control.
For the purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” shall have the meaning given to such term
in the Company’s 2015 Incentive Award Plan, as in effect on the date of this Agreement.
c. Cause.
For the purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean termination of the Employee by the Company
for any of the following reasons:
(i) the commission of a felony;
(ii) the theft or embezzlement of property of the Company or the commission of any similar act
involving moral turpitude;
6
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(iii) the failure of the Employee to substantially perform his material duties and responsibilities under
this Agreement for any reason other than the Employee’s death or Disability, which failure if, in the opinion of the Company such
failure is curable, is not cured within thirty (30) days after written notice of such failure from the Company specifying such failure;
(iv) the Employee’s material violation of a significant Company policy, which violation the Employee
fails to cure within thirty (30) days after written notice of such violation from the Company specifying such failure, or which violation
the Company, in its opinion, deems noncurable, and which violation has a material adverse effect on the Company or its subsidiaries or
Affiliates;
(v) the failure of the Employee to qualify (or having so qualified being thereafter disqualified) under any
regulatory or licensing requirement of any jurisdiction or regulatory authority to which the Employee may be subject by reason of his
position with the Company or its subsidiaries or Affiliates, unless waived by the Board or the Compensation Committee in its sole
discretion; or
(vi) the revocation of any gaming license issued by any governmental entity to the Company, as a result
of any act or omission by the Employee, which revocation has an adverse effect on the Company or its subsidiaries or Affiliates.
d. Constructive Termination.
(i) For the purposes of this Agreement, “Constructive Termination” shall mean:
(A) a material, adverse change of the Employee’s responsibilities, authority, status, position,
offices, titles, duties or reporting requirements;
(B) a reduction in the Employee’s Base Salary or a material adverse change in the
Employee’s annual compensation or benefits;
(C) a requirement to relocate in excess of fifty (50) miles from the Employee’s then current
place of employment without the Employee’s consent; or
(D) the breach by the Company of any material provision of this Agreement or failure to
fulfill any other contractual duties owed to the Employee.
For the purposes of this definition, the Employee’s responsibilities, authority, status, position, offices, titles, duties and reporting
requirements are to be determined as of the date of this Agreement.
(ii) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (i) above, no termination by the Employee will
constitute a Constructive Termination unless the Employee shall have provided written notice to the Company of his intention to so
terminate this Agreement within ninety (90) days following the initial occurrence of the event or circumstances that the Employee
7
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believes to be the basis for the Constructive Termination, which notice sets forth in reasonable detail the conduct that the Employee
believes to be the basis for the Constructive Termination, and the Company will thereafter have failed to correct such conduct (or
commence action to correct such conduct and diligently pursue such correction to completion) within thirty (30) days following the
Company’s receipt of such notice. The Employee’s resignation by reason of Constructive Termination must occur within six (6)
months following the initial occurrence of the event or circumstances that the Employee believes to be the basis for the Constructive
Termination.
e. Stock Awards.
For purposes of this Agreement, “Stock Awards” means all stock options, restricted stock and such
other awards granted pursuant to the Company’s stock option and equity incentive award plans or agreements and any shares of stock
issued upon exercise thereof.
10. Confidentiality.
Except to the extent required by law, the Employee shall keep confidential and shall not, without the Company’s prior,
express written consent, disclose to any third party, other than as reasonably necessary or appropriate in connection with the
Employee’s performance of his duties under this Agreement or any employment agreement, if any, the Company’s “Confidential
Information.” “Confidential Information” means any information that the Employee learns or develops during the course of
employment that derives independent economic value from being not generally known or readily ascertainable by other persons who
could obtain economic value from its disclosure or use, or any information that the Company reasonably believes to be Confidential
Information. It includes, but is not limited to, trade secrets, customer lists, financial information, business plans and may relate to such
matters as research and development, operations, site selection/analysis processes, management systems and techniques, costs modeling
or sales and marketing. The provisions of this Section 10 shall remain in effect after the expiration or termination of this Agreement
and the Employee’s employment hereunder. Employee acknowledges that the Company has provided him with the following notice
of immunity rights in compliance with the requirements of the Defend Trade Secrets Act: (i) he shall not be held criminally or civilly
liable under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of Confidential Information that is made in confidence to a federal,
state, or local government official or to an attorney solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law, (ii)
he shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of Confidential Information
that is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal and (iii) if he files
a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected violation of law, he may disclose the Confidential Information to his
attorney and use the Confidential Information in the court proceeding, if he files any document containing the Confidential Information
under seal, and does not disclose the Confidential Information, except pursuant to court order.
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11. Agreement Not to Compete.
a. The Employee acknowledges that by virtue of his position he has gained and will gain extensive knowledge of
the business of the Company, and that the restrictive covenants contained herein (the "Restrictive Covenants") are necessary to protect
the goodwill and other legitimate business interests of the Company, and further acknowledges that the Company would not have
entered into this Agreement in the absence of the Restrictive Covenants. The Employee acknowledges and agrees that the Restrictive
Covenants are reasonable in duration, geographical scope, and in all other respects, and do not, and will not, unduly impair the
Employee's ability to earn a living while the Restrictive Covenants are in effect. The Restrictive Covenants shall survive the expiration
or sooner termination of this Agreement.
b. The Employee covenants and agrees with the Company that from the Effective Date until the date which is
fifteen (15) months following the date of the Employee’s termination of employment with the Company, whether such termination is
voluntary or involuntary (the "Restricted Period"), the Employee will not, except when acting on behalf of the Company or any
Affiliate, within any area in which the Company or any of its Affiliates are directly or indirectly conducting their business (the
"Restricted Area"), engage in any of the following activities: (A) either directly or indirectly, solely or jointly with any person or
persons, as an employee, consultant, or advisor (whether or not engaged in business for profit) or as an individual proprietor, owner,
partner, stockholder, director, officer, joint venturer, investor or in any other capacity, compete with the Company; provided, however,
the Employee may own up to five percent (5%) of the ownership interest of any publicly traded company which may be engaged in
any gaming business; or (B) directly or indirectly recruit or hire or attempt to recruit or hire any person known by the Employee to be
an employee or contractor of the Company or any Affiliate or assist any person or persons in recruiting or hiring or soliciting any
person known by the Employee to be an employee or contractor of the Company or any Affiliate.
If the scope of the Employee’s agreement under this Section 11 is determined by any court of competent jurisdiction to be
too broad to permit the enforcement of all of the provisions of this Section 11 to their fullest extent, then the provisions of this Section
11 shall be construed (and each of the parties hereto hereby confirm its intent is that such provisions be so construed) to be enforceable
to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, the Employee hereby consents
to the judicial modification of the provisions of this Section 11 in any proceeding brought to enforce such provisions in such a manner
that renders such provisions enforceable to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law.
c. The provisions of this Section 11 shall remain in full force and effect after the expiration or termination of this
Agreement and the Employee’s employment hereunder.
12. Acknowledgments; Irreparable Harm.
The Employee agrees that the restrictions on competition, solicitation and disclosure in this Agreement are fair, reasonable
and necessary for the protection of the interests of the Company. The Employee further agrees that a breach of any of the covenants
set forth in
9
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Sections 10 and 11 of this Agreement will result in irreparable injury and damage to the Company for which the Company would have
no adequate remedy at law, and the Employee further agrees that in the event of a breach, the Company will be entitled to an
immediate restraining order and injunction to prevent such violation or continued violation, without having to prove damages, in
addition to any other remedies to which the Company may be entitled to at law or in equity.
13. Notification to Subsequent Employers.
The Employee grants the Company the right to notify any future employer or prospective employer of the Employee
concerning the existence of and terms of this Agreement and grants the Company the right to provide a copy of this Agreement to any
such subsequent employer or prospective employer.
14. Full Settlement.
The Company’s obligations to make the payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its obligations
hereunder shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other claim, right or action which the Company
may have against the Employee or others. The Employee will not be obligated to seek other employment, and except as provided in
Section 7(c)(iii) above, take any other action by way of mitigation of the amounts payable to the Employee under any of the provisions
of this Agreement.
15. Resolution of Disputes.
Any controversy, claim or dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the breach of this Agreement shall be settled
by arbitration before a single neutral arbitrator in accordance with the National Rules for the Resolution of Employment Disputes of the
American Arbitration Association (the “Rules”), and a judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any
court having jurisdiction. The Rules may be found online at www.adr.org. The award rendered in any arbitration proceeding under
this section will be final and binding. Any demand for arbitration must be made and filed within sixty (60) days of the date the
requesting party knew or reasonably should have known of the event giving rise to the controversy or claim. Any claim or controversy
not submitted to arbitration in accordance with this section will be considered waived, and therefore, no arbitration panel or court will
have the power to rule or make any award on such claims or controversy. Any such arbitration will be conducted in the Las Vegas,
Nevada metropolitan area. Both the Company and the Employee recognize that each would give up any right to a jury trial, but
believe the benefits of arbitration significantly out-weigh any disadvantage. Both further believe arbitration is likely to be both less
expensive and less time-consuming than litigation of any dispute there might be.
Each party shall pay the fees of its own attorneys, the expenses of its witnesses and all other expenses connected with
presenting its case; however, Employee and the Company agree that, to the extent permitted by law, the arbitrator may, in his or her
discretion, award reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses to the prevailing party. Other costs of the arbitration, including the cost of
any record or transcripts of the arbitration, AAA’s administrative fees, the fee of the
10
|US-DOCS\81863234.1||

arbitrator, and other similar fees and costs, shall be borne by the Company. This section is intended to be the exclusive method for
resolving any and all claims by the parties against each other for payment of damages under this Agreement or relating to the
Employee’s employment; provided, however, that the Employee shall retain the right to file administrative charges with or seek relief
through any government agency of competent jurisdiction, and to participate in any government investigation, including but not limited
to (a) claims for workers’ compensation, state disability insurance or unemployment insurance; (b) claims for unpaid wages or waiting
time penalties brought before an appropriate state authority; provided, however, that any appeal from an award or from denial of an
award of wages and/or waiting time penalties shall be arbitrated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; and (c) claims for
administrative relief from the United States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (or any similar state agency in any applicable
jurisdiction); provided, further, that the Employee shall not be entitled to obtain any monetary relief through such agencies other than
workers’ compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits. This Agreement shall not limit either party’s right to obtain any
provisional remedy, including, without limitation, injunctive or similar relief, from any court of competent jurisdiction as may be
necessary to protect their rights and interests pending the outcome of arbitration, including without limitation injunctive relief, in any
court of competent jurisdiction. Seeking any such relief shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such party’s right to compel arbitration.
If there shall be any dispute between the Company and the Employee (a) in the event of any termination of Employee’s
employment by the Company, whether such termination was with or without Cause, or (b) in the event of a Constructive Termination
of employment by the Company, then, unless and until there is a final award by an arbitrator, to the extent permitted by applicable law,
the Company shall pay, and provide all benefits to the Employee and/or the Employee’s family or other beneficiaries, as the case may
be, that the Company would be required to pay or provide pursuant to Section 7 hereof, as the case may be, as though such termination
were by the Company without Cause or was a Constructive Termination by the Company; provided, however, that the Company shall
not be required to pay any disputed amounts pursuant to this section except upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the
Employee to repay all such amounts to which Employee is ultimately adjudged by such arbitrator not to be entitled.
16. Withholding.
The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement the minimum Federal, state and local taxes as
shall be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law, statute or regulation.
17. Successors and Assigns.
This Agreement is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of all successors and assigns of the Company. This
Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Employee and his heirs and personal representatives. None of the
rights of the Employee to receive any form of compensation payable pursuant to this Agreement shall be assignable or transferable
except through a testamentary disposition or by the laws of descent and distribution
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upon the death of the Employee. The rights of the Company under this Agreement may, without the consent of the Employee, be
assigned by the Company, in its sole and unfettered discretion, to any person, firm, corporation or other business entity which at any
time, whether by purchase, merger or otherwise, directly or indirectly, acquires all or substantially all of the assets or business of the
Company. The Company will require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger or otherwise) to all or
substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company to assume expressly and agree to perform this Agreement in the same
manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place. Failure of the
Company to obtain such agreement, prior to the effectiveness of any such succession shall be a material breach of this Agreement. As
used in this Agreement, the “Company” shall mean the Company as hereinbefore defined and any successor to its business and/or
assets as aforesaid which assumes and agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law or otherwise.
18. Survival. The covenants, agreements, representations and warranties contained in or made in Sections 7 through 22 of
this Agreement shall survive any termination of the Employee’s employment.
19. Miscellaneous.
a. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Nevada,
without reference to principles of conflict of laws. Except as provided in Sections 12 and 15, any suit brought hereon shall be brought
in the state or federal courts sitting in Las Vegas, Nevada, the parties hereto hereby waiving any claim or defense that such forum is not
convenient or proper. Each party hereby agrees that any such court shall have in personam jurisdiction over it and consents to service
of process in any manner authorized by Nevada law.
b. All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by hand to
the other party or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:
IF TO THE EMPLOYEE:
Blake L. Sartini II
c/o Golden Entertainment, Inc.
6595 S. Jones Boulevard
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
IF TO THE COMPANY:
Golden Entertainment, Inc.
Attn: Chief Executive Officer
6595 S. Jones Boulevard
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
12
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or to such other address as either party furnishes to the other in writing in accordance with this Section 19(b). Notices and
communications shall be effective when actually received by the addressee.
c. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or
enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement. If any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable in
part, the remaining portion of such provision, together with all other provisions of this Agreement, shall remain valid and enforceable
and continue in full force and effect to the fullest extent consistent with the law.
d. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company may withhold from amounts payable
under this Agreement all federal, state, local and foreign taxes that are required to be withheld by applicable laws or regulations.
e. The Employee's or the Company's failure to insist upon strict compliance with any provision of, or to assert any
right under, this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such provision or right or of any other provision of or right under
this Agreement.
f. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed original, and said
counterparts shall constitute but one and the same instrument.
g. The language in all parts of this Agreement shall in all cases be construed simply, according to its fair meaning,
and not strictly for or against any of the parties hereto. Without limitation, there shall be no presumption against any party on the
ground that such party was responsible for drafting this Agreement or any part thereof. Where the context so requires, the use of the
masculine gender shall include the feminine and/or neuter genders and the singular shall include the plural, and vice versa, and the
word “person” shall include any corporation, firm, partnership or other form of association. The captions of this Agreement are not part
of the provisions hereof and shall have no force or effect.
h. This Agreement does not create, and shall not be construed as creating, any rights enforceable by any person
not a party to this Agreement.
20. Entire Agreement.
This Agreement and the other documents referenced herein constitute the entire agreement between the parties, and
supersede all prior agreements and understandings between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, including but not
limited to any prior employment agreement or offer letter with the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate. No modification,
termination or attempted waiver of this Agreement shall be valid unless in writing and signed by the party against whom the same is
sought to be enforced.
21. Code Section 409A.
a. It is intended that the severance payments and benefits to be provided under this Agreement will be exempt
from or comply with Section 409A of the Code and any ambiguities herein will be interpreted to ensure that such payments and
benefits be so exempt or,
13
|US-DOCS\81863234.1||

if not so exempt, comply with Section 409A of the Code. To the extent applicable, this Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance
with the applicable exemptions from, or in compliance with, Code Section 409A and Department of Treasury regulations and other
interpretive guidance issued thereunder. Each series of installment payments made under this Agreement is hereby designated as a
series of “separate payments” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code. For purposes of this Agreement, all references to the
Employee’s “termination of employment” shall mean the Employee’s “separation from service,” as defined in Treasury Regulation
Section 1.409A-1(h) (“Separation from Service”).
b. If the Employee is a “specified employee” (as defined in Section 409A of the Code), as determined by the
Company in accordance with Section 409A of the Code, on the date of the Employee’s Separation from Service, to the extent that the
payments or benefits under this Agreement are subject to Section 409A of the Code and the delayed payment or distribution of all or
any portion of such amounts to which the Employee is entitled under this Agreement is required in order to avoid a prohibited
distribution under Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, then such portion deferred pursuant to this Section 21(b) shall be paid or
distributed to the Employee in a lump sum on the earlier of (i) the date that is six (6)-months following the Employee’s Separation from
Service, (ii) the date of the Employee’s death or (iii) the earliest date as is permitted under Section 409A of the Code. Any remaining
payments due under the Agreement shall be paid as otherwise provided herein.
c . If the Employee and the Company determine that any payments or benefits payable under this Agreement
intended to comply with Sections 409A(a)(2), (3) and (4) of the Code do not comply with Section 409A of the Code, Employee and
the Company agree to amend this Agreement, or take such other actions as Employee and the Company deem reasonably necessary or
appropriate, to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder (and any
applicable transition relief) while preserving the economic agreement of the parties. To the extent that any provision in this Agreement
is ambiguous as to its compliance with Section 409A of the Code, the provision shall be read in such a manner that no payments
payable under this Agreement shall be subject to an “additional tax” as defined in Section 409A(a)(1)(B) of the Code.
d. Any reimbursement of expenses or in-kind benefits payable under this Agreement shall be made in accordance
with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv) and shall be paid on or before the last day of the Employee’s taxable year
following the taxable year in which the Employee incurred the expenses. The amount of expenses reimbursed or in-kind benefits
payable during any taxable year of the Employee shall not affect the amount eligible for reimbursement or in-kind benefits payable in
any other taxable year of the Employee, and the Employee’s right to reimbursement for such amounts shall not be subject to liquidation
or exchange for any other benefit.
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22. Clawbacks and Forfeitures.
This Agreement and all compensation paid or payable hereunder shall be subject in all respects to the applicable provisions
of any claw-back policy or forfeiture policy implemented by the Company after the Effective Date, including without limitation, any
claw-back policy or forfeiture policy adopted to comply with the requirements of applicable law or the rules and regulations of any
stock exchange applicable to the Company, including without limitation, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act and any rules or regulations promulgated thereunder, to the extent set forth in such claw-back policy or forfeiture policy.
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employee has hereunto set the Employee’s hand and, pursuant to the due authorization of
its Board, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed in its name and on its behalf, all as of the day and year first written
above.
GOLDEN ENTERTAINMENT, INC.:

EMPLOYEE:

By:
Name:
Its:

By:

/s/ Charles Protell
Charles Protell
Executive Vice President, Chief Strategy Officer and
Chief Financial Officer
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/s/ Blake L. Sartini II
Blake L. Sartini II

EXHIBIT A
ADDITIONAL BENEFITS
The Employee shall be entitled to receive the following additional benefits:

•

Allowance for health insurance premiums for the Employee and his covered dependents and participation in the Company’s
supplemental health insurance program, in each case consistent with past practice.

•
•

Reimbursement by the Company of Employee’s country club dues consistent with past practice.
Reimbursement by the Company of the expenses incurred by the Employee in connection with his personal automobile,
including lease payments, consistent with past practice.
17
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EXHIBIT 10.21
GOLDEN ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION PROGRAM
(As Amended Through March 9, 2017)
Non-employee members of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Golden Entertainment, Inc. (the “Company”) shall be
eligible to receive cash and equity compensation as set forth in this Non-Employee Director Compensation Program (this
“Program”). The cash and equity compensation described in this Program shall be paid or be made, as applicable, automatically and
without further action of the Board, to each member of the Board who is not an employee of the Company or any parent or subsidiary
of the Company (each, a “Non-Employee Director”) who may be eligible to receive such cash or equity compensation, unless such
Non-Employee Director declines the receipt of such cash or equity compensation by written notice to the Company. This Program
shall remain in effect until it is revised or rescinded by further action of the Board. This Program may be amended, modified or
terminated by the Board at any time in its sole discretion. The terms and conditions of this Program shall supersede any prior cash
and/or equity compensation arrangements between the Company and any of its Non-Employee Directors.
1. Cash Compensation.
(a) Annual Retainers. Each Non-Employee Director shall be eligible to receive an annual retainer of $55,000 for
service on the Board.
(b) Additional Annual Retainers. In addition, a Non-Employee Director shall receive the following additional
annual retainers, as applicable:
(i) Audit Committee. A Non-Employee Director serving as Chairperson of the Audit Committee shall
receive an additional annual retainer of $20,000 for such service. A Non-Employee Director serving as a member of the Audit
Committee (other than the Chairperson) shall receive an additional annual retainer of $10,000 for such service.
(ii) Compensation Committee. A Non-Employee Director serving as Chairperson of the Compensation
Committee shall receive an additional annual retainer of $16,000 for such service. A Non-Employee Director serving as a member of
the Compensation Committee (other than the Chairperson) shall receive an additional annual retainer of $8,000 for such service.
(iii) Corporate Governance Committee. A Non-Employee Director serving as Chairperson of the
Corporate Governance Committee shall receive an additional annual retainer of $8,000 for such service. A Non-Employee Director
serving as a member of the Corporate Governance Committee (other than the Chairperson) shall receive an additional annual retainer
of $4,000 for such service.
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(d) Payment of Retainers. The annual retainers described in Sections 1(a) and 1(b) shall be earned on a quarterly
basis based on a calendar quarter and shall be paid by the Company in arrears not later than the fifteenth day following the end of each
calendar quarter. In the event a Non-Employee Director does not serve as a Non-Employee Director, or in the applicable positions
described in Section 1(b), for an entire calendar quarter, the retainer paid to such Non-Employee Director shall be prorated for the
portion of such calendar quarter actually served as a Non-Employee Director, or in such position, as applicable.
2 . Equity Compensation. Non-Employee Directors shall be granted the equity awards described below. The awards
described below shall be granted under and shall be subject to the terms and provisions of the Company’s 2015 Incentive Award Plan
or any other applicable Company equity incentive plan then-maintained by the Company (the “Equity Plan”) and shall be granted
subject to the execution and delivery of award agreements, including attached exhibits, in substantially the forms previously approved
by the Board, setting forth the vesting schedule applicable to such awards and such other terms as may be required by the Equity
Plan. All applicable terms of the Equity Plan apply to this Program as if fully set forth herein, and all grants of stock awards hereby are
subject in all respects to the terms of the Equity Plan. For the avoidance of doubt, the share numbers in this Section 2 shall be subject to
adjustment as provided in the Equity Plan.
(a) Initial Awards. Commencing March 9, 2017, each Non-Employee Director initially shall receive an option to
purchase 30,000 shares of the Company’s common stock on the date of his or her initial election or appointment to the Board (or as
promptly as practicable thereafter). The awards described in this Section 2(a) shall be referred to as “Initial Awards .” No NonEmployee Director shall be granted more than one (1) Initial Award.
(b) Subsequent Awards. Commencing March 9, 2017, a Non-Employee Director who (i) is serving on the Board
as of the date of any annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders after such date and (ii) will continue to serve as a Non-Employee
Director immediately following such meeting, shall be automatically granted an option to purchase 20,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock on the date of such annual meeting. The awards described in this Section 2(b) shall be referred to as “Subsequent
Awards.” For the avoidance of doubt, a Non-Employee Director elected for the first time to the Board at an annual meeting of the
Company’s stockholders shall only receive an Initial Award in connection with such election, and shall not receive any Subsequent
Award on the date of such meeting as well. In addition, if a Non-Employee Director’s initial election or appointment does not occur at
an annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders, the number of shares subject to the first Subsequent Award received following such
initial election or appointment shall be equal to the product of (i) 20,000 multiplied by (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which equals the
number of full calendar months from the date of such election or appointment through the first anniversary of the most recent annual
meeting of the Company’s stockholders and the denominator of which equals twelve.
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(c) Termination of Employment of Employee Directors. Members of the Board who are employees of the
Company or any parent or subsidiary of the Company who subsequently terminate their employment with the Company and any
parent or subsidiary of the Company and remain on the Board will not receive an Initial Award pursuant to Section 2(a) above, but to
the extent that they are otherwise eligible, will be eligible to receive, after termination from employment with the Company and any
parent or subsidiary of the Company, Subsequent Awards as described in Section 2(b) above.
(e) Terms of Awards Granted to Non-Employee Directors
(i) Purchase Price. The per share exercise price of each option granted to a Non-Employee Director
shall equal the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Equity Plan) of a share of common stock on the date the option is granted.
(ii) Vesting. Subject to Section 7.1 of the Equity Plan, each Initial Award shall vest and become
exercisable in substantially equal installments on each of the first three anniversaries of the date of grant, subject to the Non-Employee
Director continuing in service on the Board through each such vesting date. Subject to Section 7.1 of the Equity Plan, each
Subsequent Award shall vest and become exercisable on the first anniversary of the date of grant, subject to the Non-Employee
Director continuing in service on the Board through such vesting date. No portion of an Initial Award or Subsequent Award which is
unvested at the time of a Non-Employee Director’s termination of service on the Board shall become vested thereafter. Subject to
Section 7.1 of the Equity Plan, all of a Non-Employee Director’s Initial Awards and Subsequent Awards shall vest in full upon the
occurrence of a Change in Control (as defined in the Equity Plan), the Non-Employee Director’s death or the Non-Employee
Director’s termination of service due to his Disability (as defined in the Equity Plan), to the extent outstanding at such time.
(iii) Term. The term of each stock option granted to a Non-Employee Director shall be ten (10) years
from the date the option is granted.
*****
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EXHIBIT 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF GOLDEN ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
No.

Subsidiary

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.
27.
28.
29.
30.
31.
32.
33.
34.
35.
36.
37.
38.
39.
40.
41.
42.
43.
44.
45.
46.
47.

Golden Holdings, Inc.
77 Golden Gaming, LLC
Golden Route Operations-Montana LLC
Big Sky Gaming Management, LLC
Sartini Synergy Online, LLC
Golden Gaming, LLC
Golden Aviation, LLC
Golden Golf Management, LLC
Golden HRC, LLC
Golden Pahrump Nugget, LLC
Golden Pahrump Town, LLC
Golden Pahrump Lakeside, LLC
Golden Route Operations LLC
Golden Tavern Group, LLC
Sartini Gaming, LLC
Market Gaming, LLC
Cardivan, LLC
Corral Country Coin, LLC
Goldies Group, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Stewart-Nellis 2, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub East Sahara 3, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Cheyenne-Nellis 5, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Summerlin 6, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Vegas Valley 7, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub West Sahara 8, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Spring Mountain 9, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Flamingo 10, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Rainbow 11, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Durango 12, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Warm Springs 13, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Twain 14, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Tropicana 15, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Winterwood 16, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Sunset-Pecos 17, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub MLK 18, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Tunes 19, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Decatur-Hacienda 20, LLC
Golden – PT’s Pub Decatur-Sobb 21, LLC
Golden – PT’s Pub Silverado-Maryland 22, LLC
Golden – PT’s Pub Silverado-Bermuda 23, LLC
Golden – PT’s Pub Sunrise 24, LLC
Golden – PT’s Pub Hualapai 25, LLC
Golden – PT’s Pub Big Game 26, LLC
Golden – PT’s Pub Cantina 27, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Fort Apache 29, LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Ann 30, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Russell 31, LLC

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada

No.

Subsidiary

48.
49.
50.
51.
52.
53.
54.
55.
56.
57.
58.
59.
60.
61.
62.
63.
64.
65.
66.
67.
68.
69.
70.
71.
72.
73.
74.
75.
76.
77.
78.
79.
80.
81.
82.
83.
84.
85.
86.
87.
88.
89.
90.
91.
92.
93.
94.
95.
96.
97.
98.
99.

Golden-PT’s Pub Centennial 32, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Horizon 33, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub St. Rose 35, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Eastern 36, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Racetrack 37, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Anthem 38, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Sunset-Buffalo 39, LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Triple Bar 40, LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Oceans 41, LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Desert Inn 42, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Spring Valley 44, LLC
Golden-O’Aces Bar Rainbow 46, LLC
Golden-O’Aces Bar Post 47, LLC
Golden - PT’s Pub Foothills 48, LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Fred’s 49, LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Crossroads TC 50, LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Whitney Ranch 51, LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Black Mountain 52, LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Molly Malone’s 53 LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Kavanaugh’s 54 LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Sean Patrick’s 55 LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Morrissey’s 56 LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub GB’s 57 LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Owl 58 LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Fireside 59 LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Mountainside 60 LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Oyster 61 LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Beano’s 62 LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Brew 63 LLC
Golden-PT’s Pub Ranch 64 LLC
Sparky’s South Carson 7, LLC
Sparky’s South Meadows 8, LLC
Golden-Sierra Gold Double R 1, LLC
Golden-Sierra Junction Double R 2, LLC
Sierra Gold Jones 3, LLC
Sierra Gold Buffalo 4, LLC
Sierra Gold Stephanie 5, LLC
Sierra Gold Aliante 6, LLC
Golden RR Eastern 3, LLC
Bonnie’s 1 LLC
Goldies Hualapai 1, LLC
Goldies Valley View 2, LLC
Goldies South Meadows 4, LLC
Goldies Cactus 5, LLC
Goldies Warm Springs 6, LLC
Goldies Windmill 7, LLC
Goldies Westcliff 8, LLC
Lakes Game Development, LLC
Lakes Gaming - Mississippi, LLC
Lakes Gaming and Resorts, LLC
Lakes Jamul, Inc.
Lakes KAR Shingle Springs, L.L.C.

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Minnesota
Minnesota
Minnesota
Minnesota
Delaware

No.

Subsidiary

100.
101.
102.
103.
104.
105.
106.
107.
108.
109.
110.
111.
112.
123.
124.
125.
126.
127.

Lakes Kean Argovitz Resorts - California, L.L.C.
Lakes Nipmuc, LLC
Lakes Pawnee Consulting, LLC
Lakes Pawnee Management, LLC
Lakes Shingle Springs, Inc.
Pacific Coast Gaming - Santa Rosa, LLC
Lakes Florida Development, LLC
Lakes Maryland Development, LLC
Lakes Cloverdale, LLC
Evitts Resort, LLC
Golden-PT’s BWS 65, LLC
Sierra Gold Flamingo 7 LLC
Golden-PT’s SRD 66 LLC
Golden-PT’s Oso Blanca 67 LLC
Golden-PT’s El Capitan 68 LLC
Golden-PT’s West Martin 69 LLC
Golden-PT’s Huntington Cove 70 LLC
Lakes Jamul Development, LLC

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation
Delaware
Minnesota
Minnesota
Minnesota
Minnesota
Minnesota
Minnesota
Minnesota
Minnesota
Maryland
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Nevada
Minnesota

EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Board of Directors
Golden Entertainment, Inc.
Las Vegas, Nevada
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements of Golden Entertainment, Inc. (previously named Lakes Entertainment, Inc.) on
Form S-3 (File No. 333-212153) and on Forms S-8 (File Nos. 333-77247, 333-77249, 333-77591, 333-116674, 333-143985, 333-162259 and 333-214497) of
our report dated March 15, 2017, included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, on the consolidated financial statements of Golden Entertainment, Inc. and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and December 28, 2015, and for the three years ended December 31, 2016, December 31, 2015 and December 28, 2014,
and on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, excluding the internal control over financial reporting of the Montana Acquisitions as of
December 31, 2016.
/s/ Piercy Bowler Taylor & Kern
Piercy Bowler Taylor & Kern
Certified Public Accountants
Las Vegas, Nevada
March 15, 2017

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFIER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF
2002
I, Blake L. Sartini, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Golden Entertainment, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant, and have:

5.

March 15, 2017

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
By:

/s/ BLAKE L. SARTINI
Blake L. Sartini
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief
Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFIER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF
2002
I, Charles H. Protell, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Golden Entertainment, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant, and have:

5.

March 15, 2017

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
By:

/s/ CHARLES H. PROTELL
Charles H. Protell
Executive Vice President, Chief Strategy and
Financial Officer

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF
FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY
ACT OF 2002
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Golden Entertainment,
Inc. (the “Company”) hereby certifies, to such officer’s knowledge, that:
1.

The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 15, 2017

By:

/s/ BLAKE L. SARTINI
Blake L. Sartini
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive
Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Golden Entertainment,
Inc. (the “Company”) hereby certifies, to such officer’s knowledge, that:
1.

The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 15, 2017

By:

/s/ CHARLES H. PROTELL
Charles H. Protell
Executive Vice President,
Chief Strategy and Financial Officer

The foregoing certifications are being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, and will not be deemed “filed” for purposes
of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. The foregoing certifications are not to
be incorporated by reference into any filing of Golden Entertainment, Inc., whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general
incorporation language in such filing.

